Annual and Sustainability
Report 2021



Contents

CEO's comments
Strategy

DIRECTORS' REPORT
Sustainability report
Nederman's divisions

The Nederman share
Review of business operations
Five-year overview

Risks and risk management
Corporate governance
Guidelines for executive
remuneration...

Board of Directors.

Group management..

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated financial statements
Notes to the financial statements
Parent company's financial statement....
Signatures

Auditor's report

OTHER

Definitions

Articles of Association
Annual General Meeting
Dividend

Financial calendar

INFORMATION ONDATAIN THISREPORT
Figuresinbracketsrefertobusinessactivitiesin 2020
unless otherwise stated. The currency used through-
outis Swedish krona (SEK). Millions of Swedish kronor
isabbreviated to SEKmand thousands of Swedish
kronorto SEKt. Theinformation presentedinthe
Annual Report concerning markets, competition
andfuture growthare Nederman's assessments
based primarily on material compiledinternally
withinthe group.




World-leading
posltion for continued
value creation

More than 75 years ago, Nederman was already a pioneer within working

environments and clean air. Our determination to address the environmental
challenges of industry through innovative solutions and cost-effective
production has led to continuous expansion and a world-leading positionin
industrial air filtration. Today, expansion and value creationis achieved through
digitalisation and servicification, and we are still at the forefront of develop-
ment. This is how Nederman as an environmental technology company and
global leader, creates value - for our customers, for our operating environment
and for our owners.

We protect people, planet and production

BETTERAIRQUALITY BETTERWORKENVIRONMENT
Ensuringimproved and sustainable Enhancing product performance,
airquality formore people guaranteeing health and safety
BETTERUSE OF RESOURCES BETTER COMPANIES

Improving utilisation of resources, Creating sustainability and

achievingmore withless climate-neutral operations
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Important milestonesin 2021

OPERATING MARGINOVER10PERCENT AND RECORD CASH FLOW

More efficient operations and increased sales of, for example, the company'’s digital offerings,
led to anincrease to 10.7 percent for Nederman's adjusted operating margin in 2021. Improved
margins and advance payments from customers also generated a record-strong cash flow.
Nederman closed the year with strong finances and even better opportunities to accelerate its
growthinitiatives going forward.

RECOVERY IN ORDERS RECEIVED

Duringtheyear,many customersexperienced higherdemand, whichledto increasedinvestment
requirements. For Nederman, this lead to a gradual strengthening of orders received, including
forthevery largest of projects. For the full year, orders received increased currency neutrally by
38.9percentandtheorderbacklogwasatarecordlevelattheend of the year.

STRENGTHENED TECHNOLOGICALLEAD AND DIGITALISATION

During the year, the company’s technological lead and digitalisation were further strengthened.
New SmartFilterswerelaunched. Digitaltools were developed, with, forexample, anew planning
and design tool, which won the Visionary New Product Award. In addition, nanofilter technology
was launched and the acquisition of Energy Save System added leading technology inthe area of
energy savings.

BREAKTHROUGH FORCLEANAIRAS ASERVICE, SEVERALCONTRACTS SIGNED
During the year, the proportion of loT-ready systems increased from 23 to 40 percent. Addi-
tionally, several service agreements were signed with customers, under which Nederman
ensuresthe customer'sinstallation overalife cycle, oftenup totenyears, usingitsdigital tools.
Thisis fully aligned with the vision of offering clean airas a service.

Performance measures 2021

SEKm 2021 2020 2019
Ordersreceived 46229 3,480.2 4,168.4
Netsales 4,041.8 36748 4,307.7
AdjustedEBITA 4946 3523 394.0
Adjusted EBITAmargin 12.2% 9.6% 9.1%
AdjustedEBITDA 605.5 461.2 495.8
AdjustedEBITDAmargin 15.0% 12.6% 11.5%
Operatingprofit 4589 219.0 343.2
Operatingmargin 11.4% 6.0% 8.0%
Adjustedoperatingprofit 431.2 295.6 349.1
Adjusted operatingmargin 10.7% 8.0% 8.1%
Profitbeforetax 4171 148.5 307.3
Netprofit 3053 1104 2258
Earningspershare, SEK 8.70 3.15 6.43
Returnonequity 20.2% 8.2% 17.2%
Returnonoperatingcapital 15.6% 10.4% 14.0%
Netdebt 1,067.8 1,450.5 1,564.1
Netdebt/equityratio 62.2% 111.5% 113.2%
Netdebt/Adjusted EBITDA, multiple 18 3.1 3.2

Interest coverratio, multiple 9.6 4.1 8.1
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The need for safer production and lower emissions is becoming increasingly important through-

out the world. As a leading environmental technology company in industrial air filtration, Nederman

develops products, solutions and a range of services that protect people, planet and production from

the harmful effects of industrial processes. Itis up to us to shape the future for clean air, a position
we strengthened furtherin 2021. The fact is that Nederman is progressing toward a completely digi-
tally controlled air flow, with very high market potential.

After a strong decline in economic activity in 2020, an equally
strong upturn followed in 2021. We were prepared for a recovery,
but it was stronger than anticipated. | was pleased that we had a
highlevel of readiness throughout the organisation and were able
to meet and exceed our customers' expectations, both in terms
of the development of our offering and our delivery precision.
Accordingly, | am able to summarise a record year for Nederman,
with a high level of orders received and a strong improvement in
profitability. Three of four divisions delivered their highest ever
adjusted EBITA margins and order intake for the year was 19.6
percent higher, currency neutral, than in 2019, that is before
covid-19 changed the playing field. At the same time, the fourth
division, Process Technology, delivered a strong cash flow and
almostdoubleditsordersreceived.

In addition to meeting the strong demand, there was a high level
of activity within a number of different areas. Restructuring pro-
grammes were concluded. Activities to optimise the logistics and
manufacturing structure were accelerated. The standardisation
of existing technology offerings has made it possible toreach new
markets and segments, while new, and in some cases pioneer-
ing, products and technologies were launched. We continued to
develop digital tools, the digital offering and the digital presence
to drive efficiency and increase customer value. In addition, the
service business continued to be developed with more function-
ality for digital monitoring and control. Finally, we have placed

Market trend

REGIONS, externalsales

SEKm 2021 2020 2019 Growth
2020-2021

AMERICAS 1,220 1,129 1,380 8%

EMEA 2,020 1,916 2,191 5%

APAC 802 631 737 27%

MAINMARKETS, externalsales

SEKm 2021 2020 2019 Growth

2020-2021
USA 996 883 1,079 13%
China 378 307 458 23%
Germany 342 356 405 -4%
UK 207 184 215 13%
India 143 78 140 83%

Sweden 126 207 123 -39%

great emphasis on strengthening expertise and the debate on
the importance of clean air in industrial environments. This was
achieved through training, webinars with customers and part-
ners, and not least, through our Future Days initiative, through
which we held two conferences during the year on “Green Awak-
ening”, with attendees thatincluded decision-makers from indus-
trial and environmental technology companies, ESG financiers,
sustainability managers and chief economists. Combined, all of
ourinitiatives have led to a strengthening of our leading position.
As market leader, we inform and guide the market in a sustainable
and appropriatedirection forsociety.

The high level of activity in the market during the year also pre-
sented challenges, not least in the form of complicated supply
chains with longer lead times and rising prices for raw materials
and freight transport. In addition, new geopolitical circumstanc-
eshave emerged. We have placed great emphasis - centrally and
inourdivisions - onadapting the supplier and production organi-
sationtomeetthecustomers'needsforsecureandreliabledeliv-
eries. | can see that we succeeded well in this, and we were also
successfulin our efforts to manage our own pricing. Production
in close proximity to customers, increased insourcing and adapt-
edinventory levels, combined with a higher level of digitalisation
of the value chain, are key factors fora strong and secure supply
chain. We will continue to place high priority on these areas in
2022 - because the challengesremain and new ones may arise.

Sales by region
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Global divisions with clear customer focus

Nederman is organised in four divisions, based on differences in business logic, customer structure
and technology. The organisation is driven by simplicity and has the group'’s brands as its starting
point. This means that the divisions are global and have an explicit focus on the customer.

Nederman Extraction & Filtration Technology Nederman Process Technology

Nederman Extraction & Filtration Technology develops andsells a Nederman Process Technology offers services and advanced filter
broadrange of filtersand monitoring services, capturing devices, solutions thatareintegratedinto the customers'production

fans, high-vacuum productsandreels for the distribution of avariety processes where they catch harmful particles and gases.

of liquids and compressed air.

SEKm 2021 SEKm

External orders received 1,781 External orders received
Sales 1,763 Sales

Adjusted EBITA 309 Adjusted EBITA
Adjusted EBITA margin 17.5% Adjusted EBITA margin

Nederman Duct & Filter Technology Nederman Monitoring & Control Technology

Nederman Duct & Filter Technology markets different types of Nederman Monitoring & Control Technology's digital offeringincludes

ductingsystems, valves and filter elements to ensure good advanced measurement technology and anloT platform that consists

airqualityinanumber of industries. of hardware and software that provide customers with information
andinsightinto critical parameters and processes.

SEKm 2021 SEKm 2021 2020

External orders received 495 External orders received 562 496
Sales 541 Sales 537 507
Adjusted EBITA 104 Adjusted EBITA 121 395
Adjusted EBITA margin 19.2% Adjusted EBITA margin 22.5% 18.7%
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Platform for
profitable growth

Adjusted
operating margin

- >10%

Returnon
operating capital

>15%

Customer focus Efficiency focus

Develop profitable
and sustainable air
filtration applications for
professional environments

Increased efficiency
through
digitalisation and
automation

W Established trademarks
W Strong balance sheet

B Global presence
B | eading positions

Sustainability focus

neial objecti\'zeg are rLLeaSu:.ed overabusiness cycle

G

Sustainability goals 2023

Ouroverall sustainability goals are ambitious. Theroll-out of new
digital products and services, incombination with alarge number
of internal activities, means that we feel confidentin ourwork to
minimise the negative social, environmental and economic effects
of ourbusiness operationsand those of our customers. During
theyear, forexample, the proportion of stationary Nederman
filterssold thatfeature anloT solutionincreased to more than 40
percent.

Halve our direct climate impact
measured in carbon dioxide
equivalents

Materials and goods in production
come from suppliers who have
signed our Code of Conduct

Ourclimateimpact measuredin carbon dioxide equivalentsrelated
toenergy use andelectricity purchased has decreased by 47

percentsince thebase yearof 2014, whichis close to our goal of
cutting this by half. During 2022, we will continue to analyse goals
and measures thatneedtobeimplemented by 2023.

Stationary Nederman filters
sold to contain loT solution

Recyclability of
products launched
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> One reason for our success is that we have the best digital solu-

tions in all areas. As mentioned, we have invested a great deal of
energy in building up digital processes, tools and presence in the
market to be able to conduct effective sales and service work. The
area in which we excel is primarily our offering. | believe that 2021
wastheyearinwhichtheindustry understood thatdigital, future-
proof airfiltration solutions should be standard. As market leader,
our own sales confirm this. For example, the proportion of loT-
ready systems increased from 23 to 40 percent, nearly doubling
in only a year. With more digital filter systems, sales of our sub-
scription services, such as myAir and MicroPul-Assist, increased.
Thatwhichfeltlike a breakthroughin 2020, is now a market under
strong change, and we are at the forefront. It is difficult to see
anything thatcould slow down this trend. We are seeinga growing
market with an intensified focus on digital products and services
that are compatible with a high-tech production chain. This mar-
ket is the reason why we are making investments and conducting
developmentactivities.

ADJUSTED OPERATING MARGIN, %

CEO’S COMMENTS

Many of our digital products and services are organised with-
in the Monitoring & Control Technology division. The divi-
sion already noted an increase in sales during 2020, which
was so badly impacted by the pandemic, and grew a further
8.9 percent currency neutrally in 2021. The three other divi-
sions are also digitalising their offering to a greater degree
andfurtherproductsareontheway throughacquisitionand prod-
uctdevelopment.

Acquisitions have otherwise been a key aspect for us in driving
value creation in new markets and applications, but primarily in
new digital expertise.NEO Monitors, AFS and Gasmet - operations
acquired previously and which are included in the Monitoring &
Control Technology division - are world leaders in technologies

for measuring and controlling gases and particles. The data they »
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Annualsales growth overabusiness cycleis
toamount to10 percent.During 2021, sales
increased by 10.0 percent. Average annual
growthduring the pastfiveyearswas 6.4
percent.

DIVIDEND POLICY, %
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Dividends are toamount tobetween 30 and
50 percentof net profit forthe yearwith
consideration given to the capital structure
andacquisition plans.

Theadjusted operatingmarginistobeatleast10
percent.In 2021, the adjusted operating margin
was 10.7 percent. The average for the past

five yearswas 9.0 percent.

CLIMATEIMPACTINACCORDANCEWITH
SBT*, EMISSIONS TO AIR, TONNES/SEKM

0

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Withthe goal of halving the climateimpact
measuredin carbon dioxide equivalentsrelated to
energy use and electricity purchased for the group’s
manufacturingunits by 2023, inrelationto 2014
(baseyear), the outcome for 2021 was 47 percent.

*Scopel+2

Thereturnonoperating capitalistobeatleast
15percent.In2021, the returnwas 15.6 percent.
Average annual growth during the past five years
was15.0 percent.

EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT, %

100

2019 2020 2021

In2021, 83 percent of allgroup employees
responded tothe survey, whichishigherthanthe
correspondingindex for the comparative groups,
GlobalBenchmarkand Industry.

9
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> deliver forms the basis of the cluster of new digital products that

have emerged at Nederman in recent years. In November 2021,
we conducted the nextimportantacquisition, that of UK company
Energy Save System Ltd. It is a company that offers unique hard-
ware and software for monitoring and control of filter systems,
thereby lowering energy consumption and reducing the environ-
mental impact. Consequently, we are strengthening our offering
inthe environmentand climate area, whichisincredibly important
not least in view of the more stringent requlatory requirements
andrisingenergy prices. Although the company is part of the Mon-
itoring & Control Technology division organisationally, the acquisi-
tion strengthens all of the divisions’ offerings. This type of acqui-
sition will play a continued important role in establishing leading
positions within attractive markets and product segments. Our
sizeand market penetration give us ahead startin thisambition.

Digitalisation makes it possible to control and optimise industrial
airflows with a high level of efficiency. But it is also giving rise to
new business models. When we can fully measure and control the
customers' process, we can also package and offer operation, ser-
vice and maintenance as an integrated service. This also means
that the generation of revenue is shifted from the current focus
oninstalled products to subscription and aftermarket, fully in line
with our vision of being able to offer Clean Air as a Service. We are
only in the infancy of this development, but the market potential
is extensive and we are well-positioned with our current offering
and strategy. In 2021, we signed several agreements, in which we
ensure the customer'sinstallation overalife cycle, oftenup toten
years, supported by ourdigital tools.

As market leader, we currently have a comprehensive base of
installed filters and filter systems throughout the world. When
our customers need to develop or change, we thus have favour-
able possibilitiestosellnew productsand upgradedigital products
and services to a considerable degree. But we can also increase
our market share by addressing completely new segments with
ourinstallations.Inrapidly expandingindustrial segments, such as

battery production, renewable energy and recycling, completely
new facilities are often built, where it is self-evident to the cus-
tomer to have a fully digital process and outsourced operations
from the beginning. During the year, we recorded strong orders
received in many new exciting industries, in which we are helping
to future-proof production. Our complete product programme
and our high degree of digitalisation comprise a clear competitive
advantage forthis.

Future-proofing is also synonymous with sustainability. Today, it
is clear that sustainability has as much weight as financial aspects
when government agencies, investors and customers make
their decisions. For us, this is nothing new; our entire business is
based on a promise of long-term sustainability to ensure that, in
the best possible way, we protect people, planet and production,
while at the same time, contributing to a more efficient and prof-
itable production process. Our sustainability work is broad and
comprises the UN Sustainable Development Goals (Agenda 2030)
andreportinginaccordance with GRI. We are affiliated with the UN
Global Compactand comply withits ten principles, which comprise
humanrights, labour, theenvironmentandanti-corruption. During
the year, we accelerated activities to reduce our environmental
impact, for example, by launching a sustainability fund to support
local initiatives in the group that contribute to achieving the Sus-
tainable Development Goals, and we are working in an even more
focusedmannertosecureahighlevel of sustainability throughout
ourvaluechain.

Sustainability is an integral part of our business strategy and
development process, and we make our largest environmental
contribution when industry and customers use our products and
solutions. We also see that the development of services, so-called
servicification, is becoming increasingly important as the world's
industries transition to greener production. With the offering of
clean air as a service, we assume responsibility for our products
andtheireffectivenessfortheirentireservicelife. Thismeansthat
we are able to drive the development towards a circular economy,
in which we integrate long economic service life, re-use and recy-
cling into our product development. Once again, we have a com-
petitive edge with our strong offering, high quality and already
high sustainability demands in terms of recycling, traceability and
energy efficiency. We worktoincorporaterecycled materialin new
product platforms without sacrificing the products’ quality and
functionality.

Digital tools win
Visionary New Product Awards 2021

Nederman's digital offering shall contribute to simplifying all phases
inthe customer’s process, including the planningand design phase.
During 2021, Nederman's leading range of tools for the design of
installations of ducting systems was expanded toinclude aninnovative
online 3D design tool, Quick-Fit Visual® (QFV®). This helps customers to
visualise how duct systems for dust extraction willlook once they are
installed, and to quickly receive information onthe costandlead time
fortheinstallation work. The industry organisation, the Association of
Woodworking & Furnishings Suppliers®, named QFV® the winner of the
software categoryatanannual event that highlights key innovations for
thewoodindustry.




CEO’S COMMENTS

Digital showrooms
demonstrate the new normal

NEO Monitors’'and Gasmet's new digital showrooms demonstrate that Nedermanis ready
forthe new normal. The main objectiveis to come evencloser todistributorsand custom-
ers. The showrooms can be used for online meetings and product demonstrationsinreal
time, webinars, workshops, productlaunches and forinteractive productand service
training. They canalsobe used as astudio torecord instructional videos and presentations,
aswellas meetingrooms when we dowant to meet face-to-face. The rooms make it pos-
sible todemonstrate different functions and conduct gasanalysesinreal time, so that the
customer cansee exactly howananalyserworks and how itreacts tovarious gases.

Sales of digital filter systems continue to grow

Afterachievingabreakthrough fordigital solutionsin 2020, the positive trend continued
during 2021. Of the stationary filter systems that Nederman sold in 2021, 40 percent (23)
were |oT ready. Sales of ourlong-term subscription services for Insightand service agreements
alsoincreased. During the year, SmartFilters were also launched outside EMEA, startingin the

key marketin North America.

SoldNederman
stationary filters

STATIONARY
FILTERSYSTEMS
Themarket forfilter systems
isglobaland comprises sales
of new systemsandthe
replacementand upgrade

of existingfilter facilities. The
marketis growingin pace with
increasedindustrialisation
and more stringentenviron-
mentalrequirements. Ned-
erman hassignificant market
sharesinall of its markets.

Share thatisNederman
Insightready

10T READY
FILTERSYSTEMS

Demand fordigital filter
systemsisincreasing. Digital
filtersare the only possibility
tobenefitfully fromincreased
automationand Industry 4.0.
Nedermanisatthe forefront
of this developmentand most
of its competitors currently
have nodigitalfilter solutions
on the market.

Share with Nederman
Insight subscription

INSIGHT SUBSCRIPTION
Nederman Insightenables
process controland monitor-
ing for operational optimisa-
tionwithlowerenergy costs,
increased recyclingand guar-
anteed regulatory compli-
ance. Nederman's new Insight
ready filters are prepared for
customers'needsandthe
steptoconnectadigitalfilter
toNederman’sinsightloT
platformis simple. Now or
inthefuture.

Share with Insight
subscriptionand
serviceagreements

SERVICE AGREEMENTS
Serviceandspare partsare
often costly and time-con-
suming forfilter owners.
Nederman's myAirand
MikroPul-Assist subscription
offering guarantee the cus-
tomer maximum availability
andalowerlifecycle cost. The
marketisatanearlystage,
butthedigitalfilterbaseis
increasing, asistheinterest
inoutsourced solutions.

11
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million
people die prematurely
each year due to poor air

Free from the oil mist

Densoisoneof thelargestemployersin the Székesfehérvarregion

of Hungary and, among other items, manufactures components for
electricvehicle manufacturers worldwide. The raw materials required
forproduction as well as semi-finished and finished products are stored
inits17,000-square-metrelogistics centre. Anindustrial washing
machine was commissioned towash the boxes usedinthefacility, but
the machine generated contaminated steam and mist. To eliminate
these, Nederman's FibreDrain solution for the collection of oil mist

was selected. The washing machine was equipped with functions for
constantair flow controland stainless steel QFS ducts that eliminate oil
mist particles from the machine's exhaust gases. Theresultis clean air
that canbereleasedintotheatmosphere. Premisesand equipmentare
freed of hazardous particles and the machine’s operationisimproved
considerably due to new filterswith alongservicelife.

New WHO guidelines on air quality

Since the WHO's mostrecent global update in 2005, there hasbeena
notable increase in the evidence showing how air pollutionimpacts
people’s health. Data shows that nearly all of the global population (39
percent)is breathingair that exceeds the WHO Air Quality Guidelines,
with low-income countries beingworst affected. For this reason, and
afterasystematicreview of the collective evidence, the WHO halved its
guidelinelimits onair pollutioninits latest report on air quality, which
was presented inthe autumn of 2021. Today, the WHO regards air
pollutionas one of the largest environmental threats to people’s health,
alongside climate change. At the same time, these two aspects are con-
nected. Theimprovement of air quality mitigates climate change, and
reduced emissions of greenhouse gases lead to betterairquality.

"Air pollution is one of the biggest

environmental threats to human

health, alongside climate change”
(WHO, September2021)

Canada’s largest car dealer establishes
business in shopping centre and uses
Nederman’s clean air solutions

WestEdmonton Mall, whichislocatedin Edmonton, Alberta, Canada, is
the 23rdlargest shoppingcentreinthe world and the second largest
inNorth America. The mall hasalonghistory of innovation and new
approaches, aswell as numerous unigue stores, high-tech attractions
and complexarchitecture.

Known as the shopping centre thathas “everything”, Toyotaand West
Edmonton Mall collaborated to break new ground and promote that
reputation.In October 2021, anew Toyota dealership and carservice
centreopenedinthe shopping centre. Nederman was proud to provide
the 72 service bays with spring-loadedreels. Thisincluded everything
fromhosereels toexhaustextraction, creating operational efficiency
andsafety for Toyotaemployees, customers and shopping centre visi-
tors. Atthe same time, Nederman supports Toyota'sambition to create
amodern, stylish cardealership at the heart of one of North America's
largestshopping centres.
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WILLIAMPRATTY

From Charlotte, NC

Born Chapel Hill, NC

Education ClemsonUniversity, Bachelor'sdegreeinchemistryand
biomoleculartechnology, with afocus onenvironmental
technology and economics

Career Various positionsin process technology

T

Own sustainability fund

Nedermanis striving forasustainable futurein several ways. At the end of 2021, the
Nederman Sustainability Fund was launched, which will contribute to even more sustain-
ability-focused investmentsin the group. The Nederman Sustainability Fund amounts
to EUR1 millionannually, and provides funding forinternal initiatives and investments
that contribute toachieving the Sustainable Development Goals selected by Nederman.
By applying for funding forlocal initiatives, everyonein the group can participate in the
efforttoshape the future forabetterworld.

CEO’S COMMENTS

Passionate about
environmental issues

Nedermanisaleading environmental tech-
nology company with a need foryounger,
well-educated employees with, forexample,
environmental, dataand process expertise.
William Patty, process engineerinthe Process
Technology division, isagood example of a
talented employee, whoisdrivento find new
and sustainable solutions for his customers.

Whatisthe most fascinatingaspect of yourjob?
The opportunity to focus on the most central phase of
anindustrial process, theinitial design,andtodosoina
company thatisfocused on makingadifference. When
youdesignacomplete system from the foundation
up, youalsoimpact the choices made throughout the
process.

What challengesdoyouencounter?

lenjoy challenges. The needtoreally thinkitthough.
Atleastonceaweek, Ineedtoreturntomy courseliter-
atureorleaf throughtestreportsthatcanbeupto30
yearsoldtobeable tostudyvarious problems. One of the
largestchallengesis when the customers have problems
forwhichthereis currently noexisting solution.

Thatmeansthereisnoobviousway forward, butoncea
solutionhas been developed, the relationship with the
customeroftenbecomes more thanthatofatypical
equipmentsupplier. We quite simply become partners.

Doyouseeany othervaluesin yourwork?

It gives me the chance toworkonprojectsthatare
importanttome, alsoonapersonal level. Environmen-
taltechnology was one of the subjects|focused onat
Clemson University and environmental sustainability
issomethinglam passionate about. That'swhy it

is particularly excitingtohave projects that make a
differenceinthatfield. Forexample, lhave justbeen
involvedindesigningasystem thatrecoversusable
fuelfromdrilling waste, whichmetarecycling target
that the customeroriginally thought was unreachable.
Whensomething like thathappens, it givesme extra
energy inmy work.

GOOD HEALTH GENDER
AND WELL-BEING EQUALITY

e

DECENT WORK AND IllUSTKV INNOVATION 12 RESPONSIBLE
ECONOMIC GROWTH AIDIIIRAS'I'RUJTIE CONSUMPTION

m&cﬁ”‘”

PARTNERSHIPS
FUR THEGOALS

@

1 CLIMATE 16 PEAGE, JUSTICE

ACTION

L3 2

AND STRONG
INSTITUTIONS
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Nederman's sales model
- A good mix for increased value generation

Product sales
The basis of Nederman's business. A broad range of SACES SEK 41%
standard products that solve common problems. Sales 2021 1660

are made primarily via distributors and resellers. 2017 1,203
Annualgrowth(g) +8%
Share of the group's
sales 2021
Solutions SALES. SEK
Resolve complex tasks. Individual standard products -oEEm 41%
that are assembled together to form small and mid-sized 2021 L
systems, or large-scale system solutions with a high 2017 1L2@s
element of customisation. All sales through Nederman's U g ey 6%
own sales arganisation.
Share of the group's
sales 2021

Service and aftermarket

Qualified service with a high availability to ensure SALES SEK 18
continuous operation without costly interruptions 2021 717
in production. Sales through Nederman's own sales 2017 620
organisation or via authorised subcontractors. Annualgrowth (@) +4%

Share of the group's
sales 2021

Nederman ranks highly as a

sustainable investment in Sustainalytics
Sustainability ranking for investors.

Nederman works in a goal-oriented and consistent manner with activities and
follow-up of the company’s sustainability work. Accordingly, Nederman is high-
ly ranked by organisations including Sustainalytics (@ Morningstar Company),
which is an independent ESG and corporate governance research, ratings and
analytics firm, which supports investors around the world with responsible
investmentstrategies.

Sustainability rating
Weak: 0-25points
Medium: 25-50points
Strong: 50-100 points

sustainalytics.com
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In November, Nederman arraﬁed the well-attended Green Awakening eventin Stockholm, WhICh
addressed how Sweden will become market- leading in the green industrial wave. In addition to
Nederman'’s President and CEQ Sven Kristensson, some of the 20 speakefs who took part were
Harald Mix (Altor Equity Partners), Anna KindbergBatra (Svensk Solenergi), Roger Sedin (Swedish
Environmental Protection Agency),SasjaBeslik, (PFAPension)and Christian Danielsson (European
Commissionrepresentativein Sweden). Read more at www.nedermanfuturedays.com

Itis becoming increasingly apparent to people that clean air is not
something that we can take for granted, an awareness that has
increased during the years of covid-19. In addition, research into
measuring and evaluating the impact of various types of air pollu-
tionon people’shealth hasimproved. Some of the most hazardous
are those that are not visible or noticeable, particles so small that
they can easily enter the bloodstream and lungs, with the risk of
serious consequences for the people affected. The WHO takes a
very serious view of this. In its latest report on air quality, which
was published in September 2021, the thresholds for what is
regarded as healthy air were halved. This will promote the devel-
opment of methods to measure, control and minimise all kinds of
hazardousimpactsonairquality, including thoseinindustry.

On account of stricter regulatory requirements, combined with,
for example, industry initiatives, the emissions trend for polluted
airhasessentially stagnated, despiteincreasedproduction. Indus-
try’s energy consumption and climate impact are also, to a very
large extent, subject tostricterrequirements. Energy hasbecome
more expensive and more unreliable, and both energy production
and energy consumptionimpact the climate. But contrary to what

many believe, economic growth does not automatically mean a
greater environmental impact. Tougher sustainability require-
ments from authorities, investors and consumers, combined with
new solutions, create the prerequisites for investments in more
efficientproductionmethods. Inthisarea, wealso have the techni-
cal solutions needed to help our customers. The acquisition of the
UK company Energy Save System has contributed to accelerating
this development.

After the strong economic fluctuations of the past two years,
we expect a somewhat calmer, but nonetheless positive trend in
2022.We anticipate continued problemsin the global supply chain,
while it will take time before we can consign covid-19 and the
resulting restrictions to the history books. Additionaly we have
the difficult geopolitical situation. But what we offer - sustain-
able solutions for clean and safe airin industrial environments - is
becomingincreasingly important for growing numbers of custom-
ers and industries throughout the world. Short-term disruptions
do not affect the strong long-term trend for environmental tech-
nology solutions that contribute to a better work environment
and quality of life for so many. | can say that, in recent years, Ned-
erman has bolstered its market-leading position and we are now
continuingour progress towards a fully digitally controlled air flow.
Helpingme with this, |have an organisation with key leading-edge
expertise and great commitment, which will take Nederman
onward in The Clean Air Journey and continue to shape the future
of cleanair. =

SvenKristensson
Presidentand CEO
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ndustry leads
theway toa
sustainable future

Air pollution is today one of the most frequent causes of several common diseases. Diseases that are
estimated toresultin approximately seven million premature deaths each year. The entire planetis
affected and industry is one of the major sources of emissions. But it is also within industry that the
work to reduce the effects is most intensive, and where the technology already exists to makes it
possible to conduct full-scale industrial production without a negative impact on the environment.

Industry best at air filtration

The pursuit of a sustainable society dominates today's WHOISLEADINGTHETREND TOWARDBETTERAIRQUALITY?
social discourse. It is also one of the most important
questions on the agenda for continued industrial devel-

Initiatives for

opment. The road to clean air often goes through grad- Industry ,
) _ . clean production

ually tightened regulatory requirements. Industry is
one of the most strictly requlated sectors and the trend Transport Emissions standard
towards cleaner production and improved energy effi- Waste

i i inuing. Wasteincineration
ciencyiscontinuing management
In parallel with tighter requlatory requirements, indus- Households Household energy
try’s own initiatives to ensure environmentally sound ;

. . Sustainable

production, better use of resources and reduced energy Agriculture agriculture
use are driving developments forward. Today, it is gen- | |
erally accepted global practice to include sustainability 0 Number of countries 195
inacompany's business model. Contaminated emissions
also often incur a cost for the emitter, which provides @ Adoptedpolicy @ Policyunderimplementation @ Nopolicy @ Nodate
further incentives to make an active effort for cleaner Source: UNEP, Air Pollution Series, Actions on Air Quality, survey data, 2021
production.

On account of stricter regulatory requirements, com-
bined with, for example, industry initiatives, the emis-
sions trend for polluted air has essentially stagnated,
despiteincreasedproduction. Thisclearlydemonstrates
thatimproved air quality does not require areductionin
industrial production.

STAGNANT TREND DESPITEINCREASED INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTION**
Average annual population-weighted PM, . concentration (ug/m?),1990-2019

60
HIGHPROPORTION OF COUNTRIES WITH NATIONAL /\— .
STANDARD FORINDUSTRIAL EMISSIONS* 50 Asia
\/\/_/\/\——— Africa
15% ©
Nostandard 30
20 Europe
America
. 850/ 10 WHO limits
0 Sweden
Nationalstandardinplace 0

*Source: UNEP, Air Pollution Series, Actions on Air Quality, survey data, 2021
**Source: Health Effects Institute (HEI), State of Global Air, 2020
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The fight for clean air

Poor air comprises a combination of gases and particles and is often expressed in the form of PM, .. PM, . are particles that
aresosmall thatthey can pass through ahumanlungand thus have consequences that are damaging to health orare deadly.
During 2019, indoor and outdoor air pollution is estimated to have contributed to approximately seven million premature

deaths. This corresponds to nearly 12 percent of all deaths globally.

India and China worst affected

NUMBER OF DEATHSDUE TOAIR China

POLLUTION, 2019 SEdlE 1.8 million

758

Lo
®

e ™

India
1.7 million

50th anniversary of the Clean Air Act
- How the US cleaned the air

In 1970, the airin Los Angeles was so poor that it was impossible to see the moun-
tains that surround the city. The US then passed the Clean Air Act, a cross-party
environmental law, which was regarded as the most powerful health legislation to
be introduced in the country during the entire 20th century and which stood as an
example fortherest of the world.

Today, the mountains around Los Angeles are a clearly visible part of the city. In
the city and also in the rest of the US, the Clean Air Act has had a major impact. In
50 years, the air has become 77-percent cleaner despite a growing population,
increased industrial production and cars and freight transport on the country’s
roads having multiplied many times over.

The Clean Air Act was based on scientific insights and required, for example, car
manufacturers to cut exhaust emissions by 90 percent. Car traffic today is 99 per-
cent cleaner than in the 1970s. At the same time, the concentration of PM, _parti-
clesinthe airin the US on average decreased from an average of 24.0 to 7.5 micro-
grammes/m?. Areduction of nearly 70 percent.

The Clean Air Act demonstrates the importance of how science-based legislation
and technological progress can show the way to better quality of life and reduced

environmental cost.

ESTIMATED PM, . CONCENTRATION (MICROGRAMMES/M3)

Unhealthy for

Low Moderate sensitive groups
B #
0 12.1 5

1981 2016
24 75

Average USA

39

Los Angeles

12% of all deaths

NUMBEROF DEATHSDUETOPM,

6.5

milliondeaths

26%

fromPM,,

Stroke

Ischemicheart
disease

Chronic
obstructive
pulmonary disease
(COPD)

Lung cancer

Lowerrespiratory
tract
infections

Diabetes

Neonatal
deaths

Source: Health Effects Institute, State of Global Air 2020; National
GeographicQ4, 2021
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Leading positions in growing market segments

Since the start in 1944, Nederman has evolved into one
of the foremost environmental technology companies
within industrial air filtration. We have grown with new
products, applications, segments and markets. A grow-
ing population, consumption, globalisation and reg-
ulatory requirements have driven the market for the
segments we serve, the size of which is estimated at
approximately EUR 5 billion, with Nederman’s market
share estimated atapproximately 8 percent.

FRAGMENTED MARKET WITH FEW GLOBAL PLAYERS

The market for industrial air filtration is fragmented and its size
can be estimated on several different levels. For Nederman, it
is relevant to define the market on the basis of the product seg-
ments and geographical markets that are addressable and profit-
ably accessible with the currentrange.

The global market is growing in pace with more advanced needs
and a greater focus on environmental and health issues. A clear
political will to impose demands on the control and transition
towards a more streamlined and environmentally friendly produc-
tionindustryisimpacting the willingness and capacity of industry
to invest in new, effective environmental technology solutions.
Increased industrial production is also a key factor for market
growth.

It is our opinion that Nederman's relevant market amounts to
approximately EUR5billioninannualinvestments, butinadequate
statistics make this estimate uncertain. While we broaden our
product offering, developing new digital services and strengthen-
ingourinternational presence in new markets, and with extended
local collaboration, we have the possibility to cultivate new prod-
uctsegmentsand geographic markets, and thereby gainaccess to
alargermarket.

CLEARDEVELOPMENTAGENDA

Since the first major acquisition (Dantherm Filtration 2010), Ned-
erman has evolved from a company with a concentrated product
portfolio and regional focus to today's position with the market's
most advanced product and service offering, and representation
in all of the world's key industrial markets. Sales have increased

four-fold, with a healthy and sustainable profit level. Progress
goingforward willbeinaccordance with amarket-driven agenda:

Market-driven organisation

Nederman hasits ownsales companiesinapproximately

30 countries, anddistributorsin more than 30 others.
Astronglocal presenceisvitalwhenitcomestorespondingto
changesinthe marketanddelivering comprehensive solutions.
Distributors add further market coverage forindividual prod-
uctsandsmallsystems. The groupis organised infour divi-
sions. The organisationisdriven by simplicity and focus, and
hasthegroup'sbrandsasitsstarting point. This means that
thedivisionsare globaland have an explicit customer focus.

Global key customers

Ourstructure of competence centresin combination with local
presence enablesus, inaway thatisunique fortheindustry, to
serve multinational customersin, forexample, wind power and
batteryrecycling, with everything from centrally developed
technologiesand productstolocalinstallation, deployment,
trainingandservice.

Productdevelopmentwith digital focus

Animportant taskfor the organisationisto established
market-driven productdevelopmentand toutilise all the
possibilities, internal and external, offered by digitalisation.
Increaseddigitalisation and automation of products, process
solutions, service and monitoring creates anew market.
Digitalisationis also accompanied by new business maodels.

Active acquisitionstrategy

Acquisitions have beenakey partof the group’s development
and going forward, will continue to play animportantrolein
effectively establishingleading positions withinattractive
market or product segments. Our size and market penetration
giveusaheadstartinthe market thatmany smaller players
find difficult to challenge.

Market definitions and estimated sizes

Totalmarket Global market forproductsand
servicesinindustrial airfiltration.

Totaladdressable market Total market for products
andservicesinNederman's current segments.

Potential addressable market Product segments
and geographic markets adressed by Nederman
withitscurrent productsandservices, and through
existingsalesandservice channels.

Productsegment Geographic market

—_— .

EUR

Addressable Addressable

billion*

*Estimated marketvalue 2019, internal calculations
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Strong developmentin Asia and the US

Therate of growthin the manufacturing sector following covid-19 varies strongly between markets and sectors. At the end of the third quarter
2021, industry inthe US and Asia (represented by China and India) was clearly above the levels for the third quarter 2019 (pre-pandemic), while
the automotive industry in EMEA, for example, still has some way to go. Several of Nederman'’s large customer and market segments displayed
double-digitrecoveries.

USA France  Germany UK China India
Manufacturingindustry (total) 2% -6% -6% -3% 11% 6%
Textile industry -2% -4% -5% 2% -2% 4%
Heavy Base metals 3% -10% -4% -5% 2% n.a
industry Chemicals and chemical products 5% 2% 0% 10% n.a
Coke and refined petroleum products -1% -10% -20% -2%
Fabricated metal products, except machinery -2% -10% -4% -5% 21%

Food products -1% 0% 1% 0% 8%

Furniture manufacturing -2% -5% 0% 0% 8%
Mediumand  Machinery and machine equipment 8% 2%  -11% 17%
::?dh:stries Motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers 2% -30% -29% -31% 3%
Other transport equipment -4% -20% 1% -29% 7%
Pharmaceuticals and other medical products 12% -10% 4% 30%
Wood products, excluding furniture 1% 0% -2%

Source: UNIndustrialdevelopment Org.

Machine production index showstheway  index2015=100
160
The machine production index shows the demand for machines USA
and machine equipment, and is the most reliable indicator of 149
the trend in the metalworking industry, which is important to

120 SouthKorea

Japan
Nederman. After a sharp decline during covid-19, the index made 100 CECIMO8*
astrong recovery in all major markets and at the end of the third 80 Taiwan

quarter 2021, was in line with or surpassed the levels for the
fourth quarter 2019, thatis, immediately prior to the outbreak of
the pandemic. It is particularly noteworthy that the US strongly
exceeded earlierlevels. @”« & ,90 @N« We@’,@@,@@@@@@w&q W&q @NQW&Q»&Q@”QW&QW&N@”\'W&
*CECIMO8: Austria, Czech Republic, France, Germany, Italy, Spain, Switzerland, UK

Source: CECIMO (European Association of the Machine Tool Industries and related manu-
facturingtechnologies)andnational data

Strong positionsinallimportant markets

AMERICAS EMEA APAC

Number Number Top

2 1 5

30% of group sales 2021 50% of group sales 2021 20% of group sales 2021
Sweden
UK India
Us Germany China
Other AMERICAS Other EMEA Other APAC
0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200 0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200 0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200

Sales per main markets, SEKm Sales per main markets, SEKm Sales per main markets, SEKm
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Strategy for

continued expansion

Clean air was our business concept from the very begin-
ning. Today, the need for more efficient production and
reduced emissions are more relevant than ever. Neder-
man’s role is to develop products, solutions and various
types of service offerings to protect people, planet and
production from the harmful effects of industrial pro-
cesses. As a leading player in the world market, we are
therefore shaping the future for clean air.

For more than 75 years, we have contributed to a better society
by developing products and solutions that protect not only the
industrial production process itself, but also the people who par-
ticipateinitorare affected by it.Increased awareness and stricter
legislation are positive factors that are driving demand and new

Advance

Exploating the full potential of our current markets.
By continuing to optimise and develop our current
strengths, we can grow from the very core of who
we are and what we do, while gaininga stronger
footholdin the markets we know.

technologies make it possible for us to develop new solutions and
applications.

Thekeytothefutureisindigitalisationand automation. By develop-
ing our traditional product range with digital innovations, we capi-
talise oninvestments made earlierand continuously take new steps
towards our vision for 2025: to be able to deliver Clean Air as a Ser-
vice - an outcome-based offering that provides the customer with
acompleteairfiltrationsolutionacross the entire product life cycle.

Nederman’s Advance & Connectstrategy extendsoverthe 2022 -
2024 period and is based on five clear action areas combining new
opportunities and technologies that will allow us to take the next
stepinshapingthefutureforcleanair.

Connect

Integratingnew opportunities and digital technologies
with our current product offering. This allows us to extend
our core business, explore new markets and offer complete
solutions to our customers by delivering

CleanAirasaService.
Globalisation

. Expandin customer
Transformation :
segmentsand geographic

Marketleadi Develop Nederman marketswithgrowth
° e fromaproduct-based : g
. Strengthened market engineering company potenltlal. Develop tech-
Operational ositions with the objec- nologiesandsecure
fhici P , ] toanoutcome-based
Business focus S ' tiveofbecomingglobal . ironmental knowledgetrlansfer
Nederman's business Efficientand flexible market leader. Position as A — betweenregionsand
isindustrial airfiltration,  Production.Continuous  number1or2incultivated divisions, and optimise
The continuedfocusis  Processoptimisation segmentsand markets. oursupply chain.

withtheuse of econ-
omies of scale, secure
supply chainsand digital
platforms.

here, aswell asonadja-
centmarket segments.

Environmental, social and economic trends drive development

Greater prosperity, in every sense of the word, demands that
we weigh the environmental impact and use of society’s finite
resources into our economic models. A growing population will
give rise to more consumption and, consequently, demand for

higher production capacity. As adirectresult, the airin and around
the production environments risks being affected. Nederman's
solutions are adapted for Industry 4.0 and aim to minimise nega-
tive environmentalimpact.

Digitalisation Stricter Environmental threats

Increased consumer

Healthand

and technological environmental and

awareness

development legislation

safet
y resource shortages
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Theroute towards The Clean Air Company

GROWTHINITIATIVE

BASE BUSINESS

Manufacturing
and
Product assembly
andservice
development

Business SUSTAINABILITY

concept

Use
atcustomer

OURMISSION
We shape the future for cleanair

OURPROMISE
We protect people, planetand production fromthe
harmful effects of industrial processes.

OURVALUES

= Sustainable customerrelations

= Respectfortheenvironmentandeach other
= Thecouragetoact

BUSINESS MODEL
Customerand channel engagement
Product &Service
Salesmodel

Operation
Technology
& Customer
adaptation

FACILITATORS

Data &Analysis
Systems & Technology
Talent & Culture
Operational model and partnership

Trademarks

Financial objectives

= 10percentannual sales growth
overabusinesscycle

= 10percentadjusted operatingmargin

= 15percentreturnonoperating capital

= Dividend corresponding to 30-50
percent of net profitaftertax

Social and environmental goals

= Employeeengagementin
excess of benchmark

= Energy:Halve thegroup's
climateimpactby 2023

= Digitalisation: All stationary
filtersloT-ready by 2023

= Sourcing: Allsuppliers have signed
the Nederman Code of Conduct

= Recycling:100 percentrecyclability
of new products

Development goals

= Implementdigitalisationstrategy
throughoutthe group

= Integrateall sustainability activities
inthe business plan

= Implementglobalkey accountconcept

» Increasethecustomervaluein
our offering

= |mprove process efficiency
throughout the operations
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Increased servicification Is
accelerating a green transition

Servicification is one of the key words as the world’s
industry transitions to increasingly greener production.
The winners are those who understand and leverage
the potential in the digitalisation of products and pro-
cesses. This requires initial investments, and the expe-
riences gained from covid-19 and the increased pres-
sure on green investments from the capital market have
advancedthistrendatahighpace.Nedermaniswellonits
way tocompletelydigitally controlled air flow, withavery
highmarket potentialand newrevenue opportunities.

DIGITALISATIONGIVESUSDATA -DATAMAKES USBETTER
Digitalisationis the foundation stone of success with anindustrial
service offering. Measurement is a requirement for subsequently
being able to control and analyse data from a holistic perspective.
The more parts of the process that can be digitalised, the more
data we can collect. Data that enables us to successively develop
the product range and package and offer operations, service and
maintenance as anintegrated service, with the goal of being able
todelivercleanairasaresult-basedservice.

Nederman'’s digital offering today comprises products and ser-

vices for the full air filtration process and is based on the propri-
etaryInsightloT platform:

Servicification

Expansion potential
inexistinginstallations

Digital products

Service

Spare parts

Further products

Expansion potential
throughincreased
marketshares

process control
particle monitoring
filtrationand extraction
emission control

SIGNIFICANT MARKET POTENTIAL

As market leader, Nederman now has a significant installed base
of filters and filter systems in all core industrial markets. Existing
installations with established customer relationships give us a
naturaladvantage whenthecustomerneedstodeveloporchange
the air filtration process. The financial potential is limited in terms
of add-on sales of further “traditional” products, while the possi-
bility of new sales and upgrades of digital products and services
isconsiderable.

The other possibility for increased market shares is to grow the
addressable market and thus increase the installed base. Many
new, rapidly growing industrial branches, such as battery recy-
cling, wind power and waste incineration, largely involve com-
pletely new plants, where the customer sees a completely digital
processandoutsourced operation, as self-evident.In thisrespect,
our complete product programme and high degree of digitalisa-
tionareaclear competitive advantage.

More ways to
expand the business

Servicificationandincreased
servicesalesare apriority forthe
Nederman group. One possibility
isadd-onsalesto the existing
customerandinstallation base.
Thesecondway isincreased
market shares by growing the
addressable marketand thus

Focus on saving energy

InNovember 2021, Nederman acquired the UK company Energy Save System Ltd.
The company develops and sells unique hardware and software for monitoring and
control of filter systems, with afocus on reduced energy consumption.

Energy consumptionisanimportantareaasregulatory requirements tightenand
energy pricesrise. Energy Save Systems'solution, whichis based on data collected
from hundreds of systems over a period of nearly 20 years, means that airis only
distributed to the parts of the filter system thatare active ateach pointin time,
instead of the usual process of sending air to all of the fansin the system, regard-
less of whethertheyare active ornot. The DESA systemis patented and buildson
sensorsthat communicate the on/off status toacontrol unit that determines the
airdistribution. Typically, 50-70 percent of all fans are active simultaneously and
areductioninthe total airvolume of 20 percent could mean asaving of 50 percent
of theenergy requirement. DESAis applicable inallindustries and can either be
includedinanew installationorintegrated afterwardsinan existing plant.

\

Marketshare theinstalled base.




Clean Air as a Service

Smart
Aside from making it possible to control filters
and optimise industrial airflows with a Product-based
high level of efficiency, Digitalisation offering

alsogivesrise tonew business models
for Nederman. When we canfully
measure and control the customers’
process, we canalso package and offer
operation, service and maintenance as
anintegratedservice. Thisenables us
toofferourcustomers“cleanair”asa

subscription service.
Control
systems

STRATEGI - CLEAN AIR AS A SERVICE

Cleanair
asaservice

Smart Filtration
connected filter asaservice

Solution-based Function-based Results-based
offering offering offering

Connectivity &
Service commit-
ment

Uptime Compliance
commitment agreement

Future-proof air filtration: Nederman Clean Air Concept

Nederman Clean Air Concept is the market's first complete service
concept forindustrial air filtration. The model revolves around our
InsightloT platformandis based on the completely decisive option
of beingable to measure and collect datafrom the customer's pro-
cess.Based on the know-how we have and the possibility to:

optimise the process

cleanandextract particles

validate the processresults

reportaccording toregulatory requirements

]
E

REPORT

()

VALIDATE

(]
OPTIMISE

EXTRACT

Theconceptisbasedonexistingand well-proven products. Inprin-
ciple, the process is generic, but with decisive customer-specific
application built on initiated know-how of the customer’s individ-
ual process.

Hardware, combined with a large number of advanced software
services and significant applications expertise, gives us a unique
position in terms of benefitting from the opportunities offered by
increased servicification.

i

( Clean air

e myAir
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Digital solutions have
tightened their grip

If 2020 was the breakthrough year, 2021 was the year
when industry confirmed the need for digital future-
proof air filtration solutions as standard. As market
leader in several of the largest industrial markets, Ned-
erman’s sales performance is a good measure of the pre-
vailingindustry trends.

40 percent of the
filter systems are digital

Each year, Nederman sells and installs a four-figure
number of stationary filter systems. The share of
loT ready systems grew from 23 percent to 40 per-
cent, which is a doubling in only a year. With higher
numbers of digital filter systems, sales of loT sub-
scriptions and subscription services, such as myAir
and MicroPul-Assist, are also growing. The market
is thus undergoing significant change and Neder-
manisatthe forefront. The goalis100-percentdig-
ital filtersin 2023.

Strong growth in fully digital offering

Most of our digital products and services are contained within
the Monitoring & Control Technology division. During 2021, the
division grew currency neutrally by 8.9 percentand had SEK537m

NEDERMAN INSIGHT
loT platform

SMARTFILTERS
digital stationaryfilters

GASMET
emission control

MYAIR
serviceagreements

Increase on preceding year

SoldNederman
stationaryfilters

The group’s objective is for 100 percent of all stationary filters to
be loT ready for connection to Nederman'’s digital service in 2023.
During 2021, sales of loT-ready filters nearly doubled and the
sharenow amountstomore than 40 percent of all stationary filter
systems sold. This also led to a significant sales increase for other
digital productsandservices.

Sharethatare Share with Share withInsight
NedermanInsight Nederman subscriptionand
ready Insight service agreements

subscription

in sales. Other divisions are also digitalising their offering to a
greater degree and further products are on the way through
acquisitionand product development.

NEO MONITORS AFS
process control particlemonitoring

MICROPUL-ASSIST
serviceagreements

LUWADIGICONTROL?7
process control forthe
textile segment



Digital tools improve customer relationships

DIRECT SALES

Increased and streamlined salestoend
customersthrough developedand cen-
tralised quotationsystemsand system
configurators, whichensure quality,

efficiency and the best customersolution.

Examples:

Quotationtool, digitalised

quotation process, system configurator,
web optimisation, CRM.

INDIRECT SALES

Increasedsales, electronic order place-
mentandservice forresellers through
digitalised productinformation, product
configurators, orderingand training.

Examples:
PartnerwWebShop/EDI, productinforma-

tionsystem (PIM), nPower training portal,

on-linechat.
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PRODUCTION AND DELIVERY
Furtherdevelopedanddigitalisedtools
and processes for efficiency enhance-
mentand quality assurance fromordering
todelivery andinvoicing.

Examples:
Business systems, order placement using
EDI, e-invoices.

Stricter regulatory requirements increase
the need for online monitoring and reporting

Legislation and rules governing both environmental impact and
health and safety in the workplace are becoming increasingly rig-
orous. For industry, this means a greater need to be able to guar-
anteeregulatory compliance. The solutionisloT-based monitoring
andreporting.

More and more countries understand the health risks of emissions
to air from industrial production and are gradually introducing
demands for filtration measures and correct reporting forapprov-
al of continued operation. For the company, the work is both
extensive and costly, but the effects of having to close a produc-
tionfacility are often significantly more difficult tomanage.

The reporting work was previously managed manually, but digital
technology for monitoring, controland optimisation has made the
process both more reliable and more efficient. Instead of trying to
investigate past events, the work is now focused on forecasting
and preventingincidents.

Nederman'’s Clean Air Concept (see page 23) encompasses the full
airfiltration chainandbuilds onwell-proventechnology toextract,
optimise, validate and report. For the customer, this means prob-
lem-free operation and emissions that never exceed the applica-
blelimits.

EXAMPLES OF HEALTH AND SAFETY REGULATIONS
Global climate agreements

UN Paris Agreement

EUGreenDeal

WHO global air quality guidelines

National healthdirectives
UKHealthand Safetyat Work Act
Swedish Work Environment Act

Workplacedirective
U.S.Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA)
TheNational Fire Protection Association (NFPA)
European Explosives Atmospheres Directives (ATEX)
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10-year filter guarantee with myAir service package

Nederman MikroPulis focused on complexair filtration process for the most
extreme industrial environments, such as smelters, battery recyclingand
energy production. Process environments that never stand stilland have
extreme environmental requirements.

Lucky Star Alloysis afamily-owned group focused on aluminium production
andrecycling, withrecycling plants in Dubaiand Qatar, as wellas smeltersin
the United Arab Emirates. The company is regarded as market leaderin the
regioninterms of theintroduction of new and advanced process methods
forstrictquality and environmental requirements.

LONGPREPARATIONS

The new aluminium production plantin Qatar was openedin 2021, but was
preceded by arequirement specification and evaluation process, which
commenced backin2016.Changesin production equipmentandalong
permitapproval process meant thatit took time before Nederman MikroPul
ultimately won the tender.

However, the deciding factor was the customer’'s demand for a ten-year
guarantee onallairfiltration equipment.

Digital emissions monitoring
simplifies emissions control

Finnish company Ferroplan, a provider of conveyor solutions, launched a
mobile power plantafew yearsagointhe form of amodular power plant
built out of freight containersdriven by local energy sources. The power
plantburnswaste and a solution was therefore needed for continuous
monitoring of emissions, in order to comply with legislationand to
reduce therisk of hazardous emissions. Ferroplan selected Gasmet's
digital emissions monitoring system, CEMS |l e, whichis based on high
performance, rapid service andlocal productionand R&D. The system,
alongside the partnership with Gasmet, has more than met expecta-
tions.

Nederman's solution: myAir

MikroPuls'response to Lucky Starwas based on long experience of similar
processes and well-proven product range. We know the industry, we know
where therisks are and we have the latest digital technology to be able to
guarantee aproblem-free process. myAirisasubscription service, whichin
this case, contains:

myAir ASSIST includingmonitoring of energy consumption
myAir CHECK with annualinspections and evaluations onsite
myAir MAINTAIN with training and advisory services relating
to preventive maintenance

The myAir contract with Lucky Staris for tenyears, and also contain a sepa-
rate spare parts package. The contract means that the customerreceivesa
guaranteed process, at the same time as Nederman MikroPulis able to work
preventively andlong term, with guaranteed revenue. myAiris one of Ned-
erman’srecently introduced subscription services on the way to being able
toofferits customers Clean Airas a Service - aresults-based service offering
that guarantees the customer problem-free production and regulatory
compliance.

Gasmet's gas library
provides safer transport

Dutch VanTienen Group recently formed agas measurementdivision,
Customs Support Safety, with the purpose of measuringgasesin
containersand withafocusonthe Netherlands and therest of Europe.
Thedigital FTIR technology from Gasmet was already being used, and
provides arapidand complete overview of the occurrence of hazard-
ous gases.During 2021, the equipment was supplemented by three
GT5000 Terraanalysers from Gasmet. These can measure 50 gases
atthesame time andrecognise separate substances by comparing
samples with Gasmet's library, which contains the data for thousands
of gases. The measuring processis transparentand also leaves behind
nowaste materials. The awareness of gas-related safety issuesin
transport containersisincreasingand demandis growing for rapid and
reliable analysis technology.

Luwa guarantees the air quality in Alroubaia’s jeans manufacturing

Alroubaia Textile Co. Fourtex specialises in the manufacturing of jeans, and
Luwa hasbeentheirfirst choice as supplier of air filtering solutions for the
past 30 years. The new manufacturing unitin Egypt was officially opened
in 2021, featuring the very latest technology for monitoring, recyclingand
savingenergy.

Ring spinningis the mostdemanding method of spinning fibres such as cot-
ton. Theplantin Egyptcomprises 32,000 individual spindlesinaspace thatis

Luwais Nederman's world-leading brand within the textile industry and the
solution for Alroubaia comprises a complete system for:

Airconditioning

Management of fibre waste

Baler (included in management of fibre waste)
Texguard spark quencher

Process monitoring is conducted using Luwa-Assist and DigiControl 7 and
enables digital optimisation, with a minimum need for service personnel, but
also that Luwa has access to all process datain real time and can contribute a
number of process adjustments and maintenance measures.

largerthanafootball pitch. The process places highdemands on temperature
and moisture control, making air quality adecisive factor for high process
quality. Filtrationand air conditioning are central activities because the man-
ufacturing process generates large amounts of microparticles, at the same
times as the machines radiate heat, whichin turn, affects humidity.
Luwa's application know-how andlongindustry experience ensure
increased productivity for the customer, with reduced energy consumption,
ahigherrecyclingrate and better work environment, among other benefits.
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Energy and climate impact

Nederman's SmartFilter saves 33
percent energy and 1,485 kg CO, per
year compared with competitors

Matthias Grund and Dan Rousseau are two of Nederman's experts in advanced filtration. They have one thingin

common that drives them forward: the quest to reduce energy consumption and thereby mitigate the impact on the
climate by industry. They now have evidence that Nederman's filtration technology is clearly better for the climate.

MATTHIAS GRUND
Sales Manager, Solutions Sales
Germany

DANROUSSEAU
Director of Filtration Innovation
Nederman Filter Competence Centre

Clean air is firstly a matter of health and safety
for employees in industry. And ultimately every-
onearound the world who breathesairevery day.
For Nederman'’s customers, it is also a matter of
protecting and enhancing the efficiency of pro-
duction to meet increasingly strict environmen-
tal requirements, to ensure product quality and
increase availability inthe production process.

“In recent years, another dimension has also
been added: energy consumption and climate
impact. Energy has become both more expensive
and more unreliable, and energy production and
energy consumption both impact the climate. So
animportant guestionis how we, using our air fil-
tration solutions, can contribute in the best way
to a better future,” says Matthias Grund, Sales
Manager, Solution Sales, Germany.

The effectiveness and operating cost of a filter
system depends on many parameters. The tech-
nical design, pulse frequency for filter cleaning,
design and life expectancy for filter media are all
parameters that impact energy consumption,
whichrepresentsalarge partof thelifecycle cost.

"We have developed and refined our filter design
for many years. We have the industry’s largest
installed base, so access to application data and
experienceisnotinshortsupply,”says Dan Rous-
seau, Technical Director Cartridges & Collectors.
We build our filtration vertically, that is, with the
filter media "hanging” next to each other. This
increases the unit's effectiveness, extends ser-
vice life and makes filter cleaning more effective.
Most competitors use a horizontal design, which
isnot atall as effective, but mainly requires more
frequent pulses.

Nederman’s UniClean and IntelliPULSE system
are the key to low energy usage. A comparable
filter system from a major competitor pulses six
times aminute. Nederman's SmartFilter pulsates
three times a minute. Each pulse requires a large
amount of compressed air. The calculations also
need to be supplemented with the number of fil-
ters and filter surface area, and even operating
pressure plays a part. A general saving of 30-35
percentisachieved.

In the past, customer discussions often revolved
around operational safety, user-friendliness and
investment costs. Life cycle costs have mainly
addressed the need for service and replacement
of filter media. Today, the discussions are com-
pletely different.

"Previously, nobody thought about the energy
cost, as if it were free of charge and had no cli-
mate impact. Today, it is a top priority for many
buyers. And our design has also proved best in
this case. A SmartFilter reduces the energy cost
by 30-35 percent and the climate footprint by up
t0 1,485 kg CO, in one year alone. A typical large
customer plant can have approximately 30 filters
and with a service life of 20-30 years, the differ-
ence for the customer and the environment is
significant,” says Matthias Grund.

“And then we haven't even included the effects
of Nederman Insight & IntelliPulse™, which gen-
erate additional substantial savings and longer
lives for the filter media. A further saving for the
customer and environment is realised through
reduced travel, maintenance and improved opti-
misation of the systems through remote moni-
toring and control,” adds Dan Rousseau. There is
major sustainability potential and we have only
justbegun!
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Nederman LCP and MCP SmartFilters yield
reduced energy costs and lower environmental impact

The choice of filter solution clearly impacts the operation’s energy consumption, costs and environmental impact.
We based the example below on a filter application that is common throughout the world and compared Nederman'’s LCP

or MCP SmartFilter with a corresponding standard system from one of our major competitors. All data is based on publicly
availableinformation fromeach supplier.

Operatingdata Filterdata

Air flow 1,000 - 30,000 m3/h 15,000 Nederman Competitor
— Operating pres-
Work shift1-3 2 sure 6 bar 7 bar
Compressed air cost perm3/h EURCent2.5 Pulse frequency 3/min 6/min
9 Calculation
Nederman Competitor
Need for compressed air per filter and yearin Nm3/h 54,000 81,000
Cost of compressed air per filter and year EUR 1,350 EUR 2,025
e Cost of compressed air per filter and year
2500 € Costof compressedair
perfilterandyear
2000 €
1500 €
1000€ ; O/O
500 €
(F3

Nederman Competitor

Accumulated CO_saving per filter in tonnes

Saving
Tonnes CO, CO, perfilter
35
30
1,485 kg
25
20
15
0 30
tonnes
5
0

Years
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Operational efficiency in focus

Strengthened structure for
Increased delivery capacity

and reliability

Nederman is an international group characterised by
acquisitions, growth and product development. Our
presence in all major industrial markets places demands
on high efficiency and reliability in all production-re-
lated areas of operation. During 2021, we continued to
develop the organisation and work methods to meet the
increasedvolatility thatemergedinthe wake of covid-19.

CHALLENGESINAVOLATILEENVIRONMENT

The pandemicin 2020 showed clearly thatinternational trade and
production are dependent on a number of basic functions. We are
globally connected and need, for example, open borders and an
effective freight network to enable the world economy to func
tion. After a strong decline during 2020, an equally strong upturn
followedin 2021, but with new challenges as aresult: component
shortages, freight problems and price adjustments complicated
the supply chain, with longer delivery times and rising prices as
a result. New geopolitical conditions have arisen and as a result,
Nedermanhas adapted and developedits supplierand production
organisation to meet the customers' needs for secure andreliable
deliveries.

GROUP-WIDE STRATEGIES

Nederman's four divisions are active in markets with partly sepa-
rate businesslogicsand thereby differencesintheirsupply chains.
This requires that we manage the supply of materials and produc-
tion based on each division's profile, at the same time as we try to
developsynergieswhereverpossible. Theemphasisisonthe need
forastrongand reliable supply chain. Shared principlesinclude:

Finalassembly close to the customer - createsincreased
availability

Verticalintegrationandincreasedinsourcing - reduces the
dependence onexternal suppliersand shipmentsandincreas-
esNederman'svalue creationin the value chain

Classification of inventory and selectively adapted inventory
levels closertothe customer market - yields shorterand more
reliable customerdeliveries

Alternative supply chains - increasereliability and shorten
delivery times

Partnership with key suppliers for morereliable delivery

and more efficient product development
Increaseddigitalisation - increases reliability and efficiency

MOREEFFICIENT/CLEARER/STRONGER ORGANISATION
With operations in approximately 30 markets and production and
assembly units in 13 countries, there is already a need for clear
coordination. An improved supply chain and a manufacturing
process based on streamlined processes and economies of scale
reduce production costs and generate cost advantages. In sever-
al areas, we have started, for example, specialist functions that
serveallof thegroup'soperations.

One exampleis our Filter Competence Centerand during 2021, we
alsorestructured the organisationin combustible dust, tosupport
further skills development in this area, which is important for the
group and its customers. In the operations and logistics areas,
thereis astrong focus on continuous improvements and reinforc-
ingresourcesinalldivisions.

FOCUS AREAS

Sourcing

An overall goal is to secure supply chains on all continents where
we operate. Thefocusisonourmain materialsareas of steel (avail-
ability and price volatility), semi-conductors (dependent on small
number of manufacturers) as well as motors and unique compo-
nentsnecessary forour products.

Productionand Logistics

Optimise the group’s global industrial climate impact, while secur-
ing global availability and quality, as well as optimising cost, as
goals.

Such factors as increased volatility in the global freight market
impactsupply and cost. Nederman reviews and adapts the group’s
supply strategies to optimise costs and availability.

As part of developing a culture of customer focus and efficiency,
we have strengthened the work to measure, follow up and contin-
uouslyimprove activitiesin the Operations area of all units.

Sustainability

Nederman’'senvironmentalimpactisatits peakwhenourproducts
areusedinacustomerenvironment. Withinproductdevelopment,
thereis particularfocus on analysing the current product offering
to determine energy use in operation, at the same time as new
products are to be designed with the lowest possible energy con-
sumption as the goal. Increased modularisation and a reductionin
the number of components are other areas where projects are in
progressaimed at reducing the group’s environmentalimpact.
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Manufacturing and assembly units
in 20 locations and in 13 countries

Australia/Melbourne
Brazil / Sao Paulo
Denmark/Assens
Finland/Helsinki
India/Bangalore
China/Shanghai
China/Shanghai

Extraction &Filtration Technology
Extraction & Filtration Technology
Duct &Filter Technology
Monitoring & Control Technology
Process Technology

Extraction &Filtration Technology
Process Technology

STRATEGI - CLEAN AIR AS A SERVICE

Competence and product development
centresin 1l locations andin 8 countries

Denmark/Assens
Finland/Helsinki
China/Shanghai
Norway/Oslo
Poland/Marki
Sweden/Helsingborg
Switzerland / Uster

Duct &Filter Technology
Monitoring & Control Technology
Extraction &Filtration Technology
Monitoring & Control Technology
Extraction &Filtration Technology
Extraction &Filtration Technology
Process Technology

China/Suzhou Process Technology US/Boston Monitoring & Control Technology
Norway/Oslo Monitoring & Control Technology US/Charlotte Extraction & Filtration Technology
Poland / Marki Extraction & Filtration Technology US/Charlotte Process Technology

UK/Kettering

Monitoring & Control Technology

UK/ Leeds Duct &Filter Technology
Sweden/Helsingborg Extraction &Filtration Technology
Sweden/ Tdredal Extraction &Filtration Technology

Thailand/ Chonburi
Germany/ Friesenheim

Duct &Filter Technology
Process Technology

US/Thomasville

Duct &Filter Technology

31

US/Boston Monitoring & Control Technology I Extraction &Filtration Technology
US/Charlotte Extraction &Filtration Technology B Process Technology
US/Thomasville Duct &Filter Technology B Duct&Filter Technology
US/Trenton Duct &Filter Technology B Monitoring & Control Technology
O Competenceand productdevelopmentcentre
Key activities 2021

Nederman Process Technology

Optimisation of the supply chain for metal components for

the factory unitin Friesenheim, Germany.

Startof FSfilter productionin Germany for the AMERICAS market.
New supply structurein APAC for automation components for
filter production.

Nederman Extraction & Filtration Technology

Centralised production of MCPfiltersin Poland for optimised
efficiency.

Verticalintegration of component supply forfiltersin Poland.
Increased localisation of production and assembly of key
products close to our main markets.

Nederman Duct & Filter Technology

Implementationand deployment of new duct laserat the
productionplantin Denmark forimproved capacity, efficiency
and flow.

Implementation of new laser cuttersin Thailand strengthens
the manufacturing basein APAC.

Lean projects, with afocus onincreased quality and customer
satisfaction within Nordfab, USA.

Nederman Monitoring & Control Technology

Optimisation of the supply chainin close cooperation with all
internally affected units and successful dialogue with suppliers.
Reorganisation of the productions lines at manufacturing plants
foroptimised production, assembly and testing.
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Nederman launches
Nanofilter on the European market

Industrial workers are agroup particularly exposed toair pollution. A
typical welding application produces 35-75 kg of toxic welding fumes
peryear. Advanced weldingmachines protect the individual welder,
butthe fumesspread furtherinthe premisesand affect personnel
indirectly. Nederman’s solutionis based on fume collection directly at
the source of emission, and now the next stepis here - nanofilters.

Nanofiltersarealready standardin the US. But notin Europe, although
the UK, forexample, has highlighted the problem and now classifies
welding fumes as carcinogenic. Considering that the EMEA is Neder-
man'’s largest market, with more than 50 percent of the group’s sales,
thereismajor potential forupgradesand new sales.

Unlike classicfilters, nanofilters capture welding fumes directly onthe
surface and thus produce amore rapid effect. In addition, nanofilters
handle smaller particle sizes, increase air throughputand reduce the
needforcostly compressedair.

ADVANTAGE NANOFILTERS - ADVANTAGE NEDERMAN
collectsmore and smaller particles
full capacity immediately
reduced energy consumption
reduced maintenance requirement

Market leader
within combustible dust

Eachyear, alarge number of factory fires or explosions occur. Unfortu-
nately, humanlives and also significant values are lost. Nederman has
competence and solutions that meet allrequirementsaccordingto the
ATEXandNFPAdirectives and, together with mandatory preventive
work, provides afilter system that is essentially explosion-proof.

During 2021, Nederman upgraded its work withanew “Combustible
Dust Sales Process.” The purpose is to ensure competence throughout
the sales organisation to avoid commercialand legal risks, and guaran-
teeregulatory compliance for customerapplications.

Sixregional expertsarein place, together with acomprehensive train-
ing programme and digital approval process.

10T CONNECTION INCREASES SECURITY

Nederman's system contains special components, such asdust collec-
tors, pressure-resistant high-vacuum filters with explosionisolation
flaps, high-vacuum fans and safety valves. The offeringalsoincludes
advisory servicesand training to help the customers meet the ATEX
and NFPArequirementsin the EUand US, respectively,and which apply
inallsectorsinwhich Nedermanisactive.

By connecting the system toNederman's loT solution Insight, itis pos-
sibletomonitor the process and gatherreal-time datarelated to the
process that shows status, capacity and maintenance requirements,
andincreases safety and efficiency.
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A sustainable
business

Sustainability and initiatives in the area com-
prise an integrated and important part of Ned-

erman’s business activities. We work proactively
to improve our ownimpact, while our products
and solutions help our customers to reduce
their air pollution and environmental impact.

We make our largest positive environmental
contribution when industry and customers use
our products and solutions. Nederman's promise
- to protect people, planet and production -

is the foundation of our sustainability agenda.
The objective is to minimise negative social,
environmental and financial effects from indus-
trial production within our own business activi-
ties as well as those of our stakeholders.

We focus on

Reduced environmentalimpact, pages 36-38 (environmental sustainability)
Compliance with laws and regulations, pages 39-45 (financial sustainability)

Efficiency in manufacturing and operation, page 45-4/
(financial & environmental sustainability)

Health and safety, pages 47 (social sustainability)

There are measurable goalsinevery area.
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Nederman develops and offers solutions that enable the produc-
tion industry to reduce their emissions and their negative impact
on the air. We focus on digital solutions (such as the SmartFilter
family, myAirand digital measurementinstruments) thatenhance
the possibility of measurement and optimisation, thus enabling
the customer to take full control of the air filtration process. This
generatesastrongincreaseinthe effectiveness of resource man-
agement as well as compliance with legislation and regulations.
During 2021, we continued to develop our SmartFilter series and
launched the new LBR filter in addition to the LCP/LBP and MCP/
MEPfilterslaunchedearlier.

GOVERNANCE, AREAS OF RESPONSIBILITY

AND MEASURABLE TARGETS

The Board of Directors has ultimate responsibility for Nederman's
sustainability work, and decides on long-term goals as part of the
group’s strategic objectives. Group management is responsible
for follow-up and development based on the group’s governance
model. Supplementary internal controls are conducted to evalu-
ate the business operation’s processes and policies to check that
activitiesare conducted inaccordance with the guidelines.

The governance model is an integrated part of the group's strat-
egy and business processes. It provides a basis on which the
group’s strategies, sustainability objectives and plans can be
developed and established. These processes apply to all divisions
and customer offerings, and aim to create long-term values for all
of our stakeholders. Leadership with a focus on compliance, pro-
cess governance, communication and training, is a key factor in
enhancing know-how and achieving expected results in the area
of sustainability, both internally and externally. Long-term objec-
tives and performance measures are established for each division
and areincludedin the business plan foreach division.

During 2021, our governance model and our meeting structure
consisting of boards was further developed. This comprises the
basis for ensuring that operation is controlled and conducted cor-
rectly, efficiently and ethically. In addition, the process for crisis
readiness was revised and updated to help us to act effectively in
the event of acrisis. During the year, the Nederman Sustainability
Fundwasalsoestablished tofurtherencourage operations within
Nederman to make investments that support Nederman's sus-
tainability and the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

DATA COLLECTION, REPORTING AND AUDITING

Internal data collection is compulsory for all production units and
is mainly implemented through quarterly reports and audits. Sus-
tainability reporting based on systems for environmental man-
agement and certification (ISO 14001), and quality control and
certification (ISO 9001), is conducted in the same system as the
financial reporting. In 2021, sustainability reporting was expand-
ed to include additional performance measures and was thereby
clarified in accordance with the applicable Global Reporting Initia-
tive (GRI) standards.

In addition, methods and categories for Scope 3 emissions were
reorganisedinaccordance withthe Greenhouse Gas protocol (GHG
protocol) with boundaries and a focus on inbound and outbound
goods transport to better reflect actual conditions instead of the
formerstandard method. Inaddition, reportinginline with applica-
ble guidelines in the EU taxonomy was implemented and thereby
supplementedinthisreport.

External reports on sustainability activities are published on
nedermangroup.com. Summarising reportingis providedinternal-
lyquarterly.

An opinion regarding the statutory sustainability reportis provid-
edon page 131. The Sustainability Report was notreviewed by an
externalauditor.

Reduced
environmental impact

Nederman wants to contribute to reducing the world's climate
footprint, which is primarily achieved through our products. Our
productionisnotenergy-intensive, butweareworkingtoincrease
our energy efficiency even more and to transition our operations
to green energy in order to reduce our own climate footprint. We
strive to use all resources more efficiently by standardising and
optimising internal processes. We work actively to maximise pos-
itive effects and minimise the negative environmental impact
throughout the value chain. In order to implement changes where
they make the most difference, it is important to have meaning-
ful collaboration with business partners and other stakeholders.
These collaborations also make us better prepared for potentially
higher taxes and fees on activities that contribute to a greater cli-
mateimpact.

CLIMATEFOOTPRINT AND

REDUCED ENERGY CONSUMPTION

Inline with the Science Based Target initiative, Nedermanintends
to reduce the group’s climate footprint in terms of Scope 1 and 2
by 50 percent by 2023 compared with 2014. A general analysis of
Scope 3emissionsalongNederman'svalue chainindicates thatthe
sourcing of materials and components comprises the single larg-
estemissionscategory. Thisisfollowed by purchasedgoods trans-
portation, business traveland waste fromworn-out products.

Data on energy and related emissions of greenhouse gases are
reportedandfollowed up quarterly by Nederman's group manage-
ment. Summary reporting is also conducted in conjunction with
theannualreportandquarterly reportsand these are available on
the group's website. Our production units work with locally adapt-
ed, measurable target values and performance measurements.
All units must present activity plans, such as for reduced energy
consumption.

MATERIAL, MANAGEMENT

OFHAZARDOUS WASTE ANDRECYCLING

The energy efficiency of products, ecologically sustainable mate-
rials handling, circular economy and recycling are key areas for
Nederman. Use of materials means risks, such as containing unde-
sirable substances, and opportunities, such as innovative material
that has a positive effect on energy performance. In addition, the
focus among our stakeholdersisincreasingly on the importance of
traceability of materialsin the supply chainand knowledge of prod-
uctcontenttofacilitateamore circulareconomy on adaily basis.

The details can differ between different types of environmental
impact, butoverall, Nederman has a similar management strategy
for materials, water and waste. These areas are significant, pri-
marily forthe group’s production units.



Sustainability structure

Energy Digitalisation Sourcing Recycling
-50%  100% 100% 100%
Halve ourdirect climateimpact Stationary Materials and goods inour products to Recyclability
measuredincarbon Nedermanfilterssold come from suppliers who have of products
dioxide equivalents tocontainanloT solution signed our Code of Conduct launched

FINANCIAL SOCIAL ENVIRONMENT

Climate goalsinaccordance with Science Based Targets

SBT Scopel &2 SBT Scope 3
Reduce ourdirectclimateimpactrelated Reduceourindirectclimateimpactrelated
toenergy useand purchased electricity toemissions from suppliers, business travel

and customer solutions

The UN Sustainable Development Goals

GOODHEALTH
AND WELLBEING

'DECENT WORK AND INDUSTRY, INNOVATION

9 17 PARTNERSHIPS
ECONOMIC GROWTH ANDINFRASTRUCTURE

12 13 CLIMATE 16 PEAGE, JUSTICE
CONSUMPTION ACTION AND STRONG FORTHEGOALS
IPRODUCTION INSTITUTIONS

0| | ¥

2% @

The Clean Air Company

We protect people, planetand production
Mission, visionand values

The group has applied the UN Sustainable Development Goals and the ten

principles for sustainable development according to the UN Global Compact “’ .
initiative since 2015. The UN Agenda 2030 for sustainable development is .~ " GLOBALA MAI-EN
the framework for our initiatives in efforts to meet future social, environ- [ ] et -
mental and economic challenges. The results are presented in accordance ".‘~ for hallbar utveckling

with the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI).

SUSTAINABLEDEVELOPMENT GOALS - OURFRAMEWORKFOR SUSTAINABILITY ACTIVITIES

Agenda2030andthe Sustainable Development Goals comprise auniversalagenda toreduce poverty, injustice andinequality, aswellas to
resolve the climate crisis; itis the most ambitious agreement for sustainable development ever made by the world's leaders. This agenda
comprises 17 goals with their respective targets, which are aimed at establishing economic, social and environmental sustainable devel-
opment. Companies, large and smallandin all sectors, have a central role in the work on the goals and their achievement. Nederman'’s sus-
tainability work s organised on the basis of this agenda and our operations and various sustainability initiatives contribute to Nederman's
sustainability work, whichis adapted accordingly.
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The largest environmental impact from materials use is in the
value chain and is related to energy and waste. Nederman can
influence this mainly through improved materials effectivenessin
designand development, which,inturn, reduces energy consump-
tionand emissions, upstream and downstream.

Nederman's objective is for the amount of waste to continuously
declineinrelation to net sales, the share of recycled waste should
increase and the practice of sending waste to landfill should be
eliminated by 2023. This objectiveisincludedin the work onregu-
latory compliance and constantimprovements and has no “sell-by
date”. All of the group’s production units conduct measurement
and monitoring based on goals and plans for scrapping and the
management of waste, including hazardous waste.

Nederman'’s production is not of the type that generates large
amounts of hazardous waste. Hazardous waste comprises, for
example, used spray cans and electrical waste, as well as residual
materials from property maintenance work, such as the replace-
ment of fittings and lighting tubes. The amount of hazardous
waste is monitored regularly for the group’s production units and
thegoalisincludedinthe work to eliminate hazardous substances
fromtheloop.Materialrecovery fromhazardous wasteisachieved
byhazardoussubstancesbeingseparatedand theremainderthen
beingrecycled.

During 2021, Nederman began to measure the share of used
material derived from recycled sources for aluminium, steel and
plastic at its four largest production plants. This amounted to 12
percent of the purchasing spend. However, it must be noted that
afull-year estimate was made for one of the two plantsin the US,
which is based on actual figures for 2020. The estimate follows
the definition of GRI301-2.

WATER CONSUMPTION

Nederman has a general policy of enhancing the efficiency of use
of resources, which includes water. Direct water usage is of lit-
tle importance at Nederman's plants, since water is not used to
any large extent for production, but only for hygiene and kitch-
en purposes. Water consumption is checked regularly to ensure
thatinitiatives aimed at reducing the use of fresh water have the
desired effect. Indirect water usage is relevant due to the close

15

TOTALENERGY CONSUMPTION,
INCLUDINGHEATINGIN PRODUCTIONIN
RELATION TO SALES (KWH/KSEK)

relationship with energy productionand for this reason, the group
endeavourstousegreenelectricity.

The group does not use chemicals in its production, apart from
small amounts of lubricant and surface finishing for products, for
example, and accordingly, has no negative impact whatsoever on
waste water.

GREEN CONSTRUCTION

We own few of the buildings where we conduct our operations.
We work to exert influence on our landlords, but beyond their
operation, we have limited possibility to control or influence their
design and construction. Nederman has the objective of devel-
oping energy reduction programmes at all of its manufacturing
units. Energy efficiency is achieved through technology measures
and behavioural changes. The areas of improvement that have
emerged include insulation of buildings, optimising compressors
and more energy-efficient installations and equipment, such as
lighting, ventilation, heatingand cooling.

Other measures comprise transitioning to renewable energy
sources for the electricity that is purchased. The training of per-
sonnel is also important to ensure that equipment is used in an
energy-efficient manner. Reduced energy use means that less
energy needs to be added, resulting in lower emissions of, for
example, carbon dioxide, measured as carbon dioxide equivalents.
Improvementmeasuresalso contribute to betterindoor air quality
and greater satisfactionamongemployees.

SUSTAINABLE PRODUCTS

AND PRODUCTDEVELOPMENT

Nederman works actively to develop products and solutions that
are as efficient as possible, with a reduced environmental impact
and the lowest total ownership cost over the product’s entire ser-
vice life. Digitalisation and innovation represent a priority area.
Theenvironmentalimpactistobe assessed and minimised for 100
percentofallnew productsaccordingtothegroup's productstrat-
egy plan.During 2021, as described earlier, we continued to devel-
op our SmartFilter series and we also launched the new LBR filter
as an addition to last year's LCP/LBP filter. All launches were eval-
uated in line with this and checked against the goals for reduced

ELECTRICITY CONSUMPTION,
KWH/KSEK

10

12

9 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

The ambitionistoreduce total electricity
consumption overtime. The goalis to halve
ourdirectclimateimpact measuredincarbon
dioxide equivalents by 2023.

The 2021 outcome was a combination of
implemented measures for energy efficien-
cy, the transition togreen electricity and
increasedsales.

© 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
Theambitionis toreduce electricity consump-
tion overtime. The goalis to halve ourdirect
climateimpact measuredin carbon dioxide
equivalents by 2023.

Outcome 2021: Measures for energy
efficiencyandincreased sales generated
positiveresults.



WASTE GENERATED, TONS

environmental impact. More filters within the same series will be
launched nextyear.

With the circular economy as a growing necessity, the group is
investigating the possibilities for continuing to contribute to low
environmental impact through a high degree of recyclability in
products, one of the targetsfor2023.

Compliance with
laws and regulations

Ourbusiness principles are characterised by integrity, responsibil-
ity and sound ethics - fundamental principles that we share with
our employees, suppliers, customers and investors. We prioritise
the prevention of corruption. For many years now, the UN Global
Compactinitiative has served as our ethical compass. We became
amember of thisinitiative in 2020 and have continued towork and
develop our sustainability programme in accordance with it. Our
operations are encompassed by environmental legislation, regu-
lations and conditions governing such aspects as the handling of
hazardous orundesirable substancesinour products.

NEDERMAN GROUP'S CORPORATE
GOVERNANCEDOCUMENTS

Our corporate governance documents regulate the principles and
values that guide our operations in general and, in particular, our
sustainabilityinitiatives. During 2021, areview commenced of pol-
icies and plans related to work environment, including the equal-
ity and diversity plan, and this is expected to be concluded at the
beginningof 2022.

Code of Conduct

Our Code of Conduct sets out guidelines in matters that involve
the environment, social responsibility and business ethics. Free-
dom of association and zero tolerance of discrimination are also
included. The Code of Conduct is based on our core values and
organisesand summarisesour policiesand establishes the policies
that form the foundation of our daily work. It provides us guidance
inwhatisimportant for us and how we are to behave towards each

WASTERECYCLING, %
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other and our stakeholders, and it describes the directives and
principles that we follow at Nederman. Nederman requires that all
Board members and employees comply with this Code of Conduct,
policies and applicable legislation. Through our training system,
mylLearning, we ensure that our employees complete obligatory
trainingcourseseverysecondyear,includinginour Code of Conduct.

The Code of Conductis available at nedermangroup.com.

Code of ConductforSuppliers

Nederman supports and works actively to fulfil international
guidelines on the environment, human rights, working conditions,
anti-corruption and business ethics, including the ten principlesin
the UN Global Compact, the UN Guiding Principles on Business and
Human Rights, the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises,
the OECD Convention on Combating Bribery of Foreign Public Offi-
cials in International Business Transactions, and the UN Sustain-
ability Development Goals. Our Code of Conduct for Suppliers is
based on the above international guidelines and is harmonised in
line with ourinternal Code of Conduct. The Code applies to all per-
sonsorlegal entities that supply products and/or servicestooron
behalf of Nederman and its subsidiaries. Nederman requires that
allsuppliers meet the specificationsin the code, and have ensured
that their subcontractors are aware of and meet standards that
are at least as strict. Nederman urges all suppliers to establish
their own codes of conduct or written policy documents based on
the aboveinternational guidelines.

The Code includes support and respect for internationally estab-
lished humanrights and workers'rights, health, safe working con-
ditions, business ethicsrequirements, freedom of associationand
aclearstructureforreportingandauditing. Itisavailablefordown-
load from nedermangroup.com.

Nederman'’s goal for 2023 is to work only with suppliers who com-
plywiththerelevantsectionsof the Code. Atthe close of 2021, the
share of suppliers that had ascribed to the Code was 91 percent
(89). The suppliers’ compliance with this requirement is checked
by way of audits and other measures. 73 (39) supplier audits were
conducted during the year. Existing methods are under develop-
ment toassessthe suppliers'sustainability effortsinorderto pro-
moteresponsibility throughout the value chain.

WATER CONSUMPTION, M3
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The amount of wasteis to continuously decline
inrelationtonetsales. Inthe same way, the
amount of hazardous wasteis being contin-
uously reduced, with goalssetatalocal level.
The outcome for 2021 regarding the total
amount of waste generated was on approxi-
mately the same level as the preceding year.

The goalwas to achieve 95 percentrecycling
of wastein production by 2021 compared with
the average for2014. Recyclingis conducted
through external partners. At the end of 2021,
recyclingamountedto 95.0 percent.

Measurement of water consumption pertains
tofreshwater forkitchen, hygiene and sani-
tary purposes at our production units. Wateris
notusedforproduction purposes.
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Material sustainability areas
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More efficient use of resources. For quality
failure costsinproductioninrelation tosales,
thetargetis <0.3percentby 2023. At the end
of 2021, theresultwas 0.22 percent. Thisis

monitored thoroughly and during 2022, we will

continue toanalyse goals and measures that
needtobeimplemented by 2023.

REPORTED WHISTLEBLOWER CASES, 2021 %
During the close of the year, one case was reported via the whistleblower sys-
tem, related toacomplaintaboutlocal managementand/or challenges among
customersand suppliers. Investigations were conducted. Corrective measures
had beeninitiated at the time of publication of this Annual Report.

CODEOF CONDUCT IN THE SUPPLY
CHAIN, %
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The goalisfor100 percent of materialsand
goodsinproduction tocome fromsuppliers

who hadsigned our Code of Conduct for Sup-

pliersby 2023. At the end of 2021, theresult
was 91 percent, due to supplier challenges
and newly added units thathad notyet fully
implemented procedures.

TheEU's new legal requirements related to whistleblowing comprise the basis
forNederman's constantimprovements. In turn, this leads to furtheranalysis
and formation of opinions onrefining the existing systemand associated policy,
withthe purpose of protecting persons who reportirregularities.

1. Financialresult

2. Anti-corruptionand competitive
behaviour

3. Customers'sustainability work

4, Informationsecurityanduser
integrity

SOCIALSUSTAINABILITY

5. Employmentand
employeerelations

6. Healthandsafetyatwork
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8. Diversityand equal opportunities

9. Non-discrimination

. Humanrights

. Socialengagement
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Compliance with environmentallegislation

. Supplier evaluation
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Supplier audits through site visits are
conducted to monitor compliance with the
Code of Conduct for Suppliers. During 2021,
73 supplieraudits were conducted.

B Operations (100%)
Sustainability (0%)

DThereported whistleblower cases category
isdetermined on the basis of the most material
effectidentified by those responsible forinves-
tigations.



Stakeholder dialogue

As part of our daily work, and in particular, our sus-
tainability work, a continuous dialogue is conducted
with a large number of stakeholders - customers,
investors and analysts, employees, trade unions,
civil society (often represented by media and inde-
pendent organisations) and business partners. We
communicate with stakeholders in different ways
depending on the type of relationship.

Customers
Employees
Investors
Suppliers
Society

Stakeholders Definition
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Form of dialogue

Key subjects

Customers Existing and potential

Meetings, interaction through
market companies, joint projects,
customer surveys.

Product safety, life cycle perspective
and circularity, crisis readiness,
human rights, business ethics
including corruption, supply chain
management.

Employees Existing and potential

Workplace and management
meetings, employee surveys,
career appraisals, trade unions
and other cooperative councils.

Safety, human rights, carbon emis-
sions, diversity, employee welfare,
leadership, crisis readiness including
risks, business ethics, supply chain
management, waste, water.

Existing and potential
shareholders, investors
and analysts

Investors

Meetings with investors and
analysts, capital markets days,
website, annual and
sustainability report,
quarterly reports.

Product safety, security, life cycle
perspective and circularity, carbon
emissions from own operations, crisis
readiness including risks, business
ethics, supply chain management.

Business
partners

Suppliers, partners,
distributors and resellers

Evaluation and audit of business
partners, procurement, meet-
ings, joint projects.

Product safety, security, human
rights, crisis readiness including risks,
business ethics including corruption,
supply chain management.

Society Governments, local
communities, voluntary
organisations, academic
institutions

Meetings, collaboration/projects
with universities, colleges
and government agencies.

Human rights, diversity, carbon
emissions, business ethics, supply
chain management, taxes, life cycle
perspective and circularity.

a1
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Policy forsustainability and quality

Our sustainability and quality policy, which also includes our envi-
ronmentalpolicy, isourbenchmarkwhenwe develop productsand
systems solutions that are all designed to improve the work envi-
ronmentsandreduce the environmentalimpact of our customers.
New technology is the key to such a development. To be able to be
a reliable partner and supplier of sustainable solutions, we work
with high standards throughout our value chain.

During 2021, Nederman tightened its control by monitoring the
share of new suppliers that have undergone evaluation based on
environmental criteria according to the GRI 308-1 definition. The
sharewas 4.1 percent.

Policy foranti-corruption and fraud

One of Nederman's clear and guiding principles is to follow all
applicable legislation against corruption and to combat fraud in
all countries where our companies operate. At Nederman, all busi-
nessistobe conducted ethically. Our policy against corruptionand
fraud has the purpose of describing and improving the rules to be
applied at Nederman to prevent corruption and fraud in all activi-
tiesthatare under Nederman’s control.

All of Nederman's employees must comply with this policy and
detailed procedures in their respective local companies, as well
as all applicable legislation on bribery. We conduct interactive and
recurring trainingon the policy forallemployeesevery secondyear.

During 2021, Nederman began to monitor the number of compa-
nies audited for corruption in accordance with the GRI 205-1 defi-
nition. The audit was conducted by way of a self-assessment by
the companies. The number of audited companies was 66, repre-
senting a 100-percent share of the operating companies. No sig-
nificantrisks were uncovered.

Anti-trust policy

Competition legislation and anti-trust laws prevent activities that
can obstruct free trade or restrict competition. The Nederman
group endeavours to meet all competition legislation and anti-
trustlawsinthe countriesinwhich we conduct operations. Neder-
manwillonly seekcompetitiveadvantages throughlegalactivities
and means. Nederman’s anti-trust policy comprises all companies
and all employees of Nederman. No employee is permitted to act
in any way that suppresses the free market. Our policy also stip-
ulates that Nederman and its employees must not abuse a given
position in the market to exclude competitors or exploit custom-
ers. Employees are urged to report to their immediate manager
any suspected irregularities, illegal activity or failure to act, such
that they perceive as a breach of applicable legislation, Neder-
man’s internal palicies (such as the policy on export control and
sanctions, the anti-trust policy and the policy against corruption
and fraud, the Code of Conduct) or the group’s IT security policy.

Policy forexportcontrolandsanctions

Nederman strives and works proactively to conduct operations
according to applicable legislation and the export controls and
sanctions (Export laws) that are passed by countries throughout
theworld, including the US, the EUand the UN.

Nederman must comply with all relevant export legislation in the
jurisdictions in which we operate. We must always follow export
legislation, regardless of the origins of the rules or where the

operations are conducted. Compliance isimportant and to ensure
awareness, trainingis compulsory for the relevant personnel.

Whistleblower policy

Nederman has a clear reporting process for employees and oth-
er stakeholders in accordance with our whistleblower policy.
Employees are urged toreportany suspectedirregularities, illegal
activityorfailuretoact, whichthey perceiveasabreachof applica-
ble legislation or Nederman's internal policies (such as the policies
onexportcontrol and sanctions, the anti-trust policy and the poli-
cy against corruption and fraud, the Code of Conduct) and against
ourlIT security policy to theirimmediate manager.

Anemployee cansubmitareportintwoways:
Contacttheirimmediate superior or the manager of the
departmentinvolved. Dependingontheissue and the person
beingreported, the superiorwill decideif theissueistobe
passedontoNederman'smanagement.
Reportanonymously by e-mail/letter toathird party, headed
byanexternallawyer.

Persons other than employees, such as partners, contractors,
suppliers and distributors, who have commitments through Ned-
erman, can make a report by e-mail/letter to the same external
third-party lawyer.

Reports can be made anonymously, they are processed confiden-
tiallyand everythingis takenseriously. Appropriate actionis taken
for each report. Nederman’s whistleblower policy and associated
principles, including the reporting process, are in place to protect
the whistleblower.

The whistleblower policy is available to employees and other
stakeholders via nedermangroup.com, and via the intranet and
other channels. The policy is available on all websites and is trans-
latedintolocallanguages.

The EU's new legal requirements related to whistleblowing com-
prise the basis for Nederman’s constant improvements. In turn,
this leads to further analysis and formation of opinions on refin-
ing the existing system and associated policy, with the purpose of
protectingpersonswhoreportirregularities.

Diversity policy

We are convinced that diversity strengthens innovation and is a
source of competitiveness and profitability. Promoting diversity is
decisive for our business successes - and is fully in line with that
describedin Nederman’s core values and Code of Conduct.

We:
strive tofulfil all local diversity legislation and
regulations, proactively and responsibly.
tolerate nodiscrimination - not on the basis of gender,
race, religion, age, sexual orientation, nationality, political
views, trade union membership, disability, socially or ethnic
origin.
have zerotolerance of harassmentand bullying.
focusondiversity duringtherecruitment processand
endeavourtohave atleast one candidate of the under-
represented gender forevery three candidates.

Nederman conducts annual employee surveys to measure such
aspects as work environment and discrimination, with active fol-



CLIMATE REPORTINGIN ACCORDANCE

WITH SCIENCE BASED TARGETS

Nederman follows up CO.e in all Scope categories. CO,e is the
amount of a certain greenhouse gas expressed as the amount of
carbon dioxide that produces the same greenhouse effect. Scope
1,2arebasedonactual consumptiondata. The methodfor Scope 3
was changed from a standard value to now being based on actual
consumption data from the largest transport providersin our four
largest production plants. However, note that we do not have the
information on emission datafromair freight from our US plant.

Basis for calculation of Scopeland?2

To calculate Scope 1 and 2 emissions, a market-based method
(pursuant to the GHG Protocol, 2015) is used wherever possible.
The reported data for Scope 1 is based on energy use and related
emissionfactors.

Generally accepted country and region-specific emission factors
areusedin the calculation of Scope 2 emissiondata. These factors
reflect each country’s average energy mix: sun, wind, hydro and
nuclearpowergenerate loweremissions, while higheruse of fossil
fuel, suchas coal and oil, generates higher emissions.

Basis for calculation of Scope 3

A general analysis of Scope 3 emissions along Nederman's value
chain indicates that the sourcing of materials and components
is the single largest emissions category. This is followed by pur-
chased goods transportation, business travel and waste related
to worn-out products. The analysis is based on the group’s own
estimates and not on data from suppliers; the error margins are
considerable. The group has therefore decided on an initial step
tolimitreporting of Scope 3 emissions to actual consumption data
fromgoodstransport, and to develop the method from there.

Climateimpactaccording to Science Based Targets

Emissions to air,

tonnes 2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
CO,-e Scope 1* 1,197 908 810 571 560
CO,-e Scope 22 3761 4297 5023 5054 5106
CO,-e Scope 3° 1,020° 8907* 8,186* 6982* 6,667*
4958 5205 5833 5625 5666

Emissions, Scope
+2

1 Scopel:Totalgreenhouse gasemissions from fuel combustion
inmanufacturing, tonnes. All production unitsincludedin 2021.

2 Scope2: Total greenhouse gas emissions from purchasedelectricity in
manufacturing, tonnes. All production unitsincludedin 2021.

3 Scope 3:Greenhouse gas emissions from sources not owned or controlled
byNederman, tonnes

4 ForScope 3emissions, carbon dioxide emissions from goods transportation.
Thisisonly partof Nederman’s Scope 3 emissions. Asignificant share of the
emissions comes from materials. These emissions cannot currently be
reporteddue todifficultiesin collectingexactdata.

5 ThemethodforScope 3waschangedin 2021 fromastandard value to now
beingbasedonactual consumptiondata fromthelargesttransport providers
inourfourlargest production plants. Accordingly, itis not comparable with
earlieryears.

CLIMATEIMPACT ACCORDING TO SCIENCE BASED
TARGETS SCOPE 3- FORABPHNEDERMAN & CO
-EMISSIONS TOAIR, TONNES CO,e
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The methodfor Scope 3was changed from a standard value to
now beingbased onactual consumptiondatafrom the largest
transport providersinourfourlargest production plants. The
above example shows the climateimpact of ABPh Nederman &
Co's plantsforeach mode of transportduring 2021.

Energy intensity
MWh/SEKm
Total energy use (MWh)

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
16,228 13,794 14,870 14,694 14,948

Net sales 2381 2,021 1489 1438 1,398
(SEKm)

Energy intensity 682 683 999 1022 1069
(MWH/SEKm)

We will reduce energy consumption in production in relation to
sales and growth. Energy intensity is a measure of efficiency. The
outcome for 2021 confirms the positive trend. This is monitored
thoroughly and during 2022, we will continue to analyse goals and
measures that need to be implemented by 2023.

Fuel consumption from renewable energy was 0O (zero) in 2021.
Fuel consumption from non-renewable energy was 5,243 MWh
(18,876 @)) in 2021. Total fuel consumption comprised 67 MWh
(240 @J) from diesel, 288 MWh (1,037 GJ) from oil and 4,889 MWh
(17,599GJ)fromnaturalgas. Totalenergy consumptionwas 16,228
MWh (58,421 GJ). Consumption comprised 8,848 MWh (31,851 GJ)
of electricity (of which 1,716 MWh (6,176 GJ)) was renewable) and
7,230 MWh (26,026 @J) in heating (of which 1,513 MWh (5,448 CJ)
wasrenewable). No electricity was sold toa third party.

Datawas gathered from the companies’actual consumption.
The source of the conversion factors used to restate kilowatt

hours to joules and litres to cubic metres was Chemical Principles
6thedition (January1,2013).
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Affiliated with the UN Global Compact

The UN Global Compact strives to mobilise a global movement of companies
and stakeholders to create a sustainable world. To achieve this, the UN Global
Compact supportscompaniesin:

Conductingbusinessinaresponsible manner by adapting
theirstrategies and operations to the ten principles on
humanrights, work, the environment and anti-corruption.
Taking strategic action to promote broader

social goals, suchas the UN Sustainable Development Goals,
with the emphasis on cooperationandinnovation.

EU Taxonomy

The establishment of a classification system for environmentally sustainable
activities, agreen taxonomy, is a centralmeasure within the framework of the
EUaction plan for the financing of sustainable growth. Asof 1]January 2022,
companies such as Nederman willcommence the application of this taxonomy
andthe classification of sales and expenditure. Inaninitial phase, reporting
willbe made for the climate-related objectivesin the taxonomy, which are the
firsttwo objectives: Climate change mitigation and Climate change adap-
tation. Already in 2021, Nederman chose toreport the amount of sales and
expenditurethatarenotonly subjectto, butalsomeettherequirements tobe
considered sustainable based onthese two objectives.

Regarding Climate change mitigation, we include sales and associated CAPEX
and OPEXinsolutions: 1) that have the primary purpose of complying with
the requirements on greenhouse gas emissions at the customer, and 2) that

Nedermanis affiliated with the UN Global Compact
and supports and works actively inaccordance withits goals.

save energy at the customer. The solutions are supplied by the Nederman
Monitoring & Control Technology division. Nederman'sinvestments that lead
toenergy savingsarealsoincluded inthe definition.

Regarding Climate change adaptation, we include sales and associated CAPEX
and OPEXin the solutions that enable our customers to alleviate the effect of
increased and stronger heatwaves. Such solutions are supplied by the Neder-
man Process Technology divisionin the form of air conditioning systems and
similar cooling systems.

Regardingmethodology, if sales cannot be identified with precision, we use
aconservative estimate. When OPEX and CAPEX cannot be identified with
precision, we allocate these inrelationto salesasapercentage.

TotalinSEKm  Shareof economicoperationssubjectto Share of economicoperations notsub-

thetaxonomy (%) jecttothetaxonomy (%)

Netsales 4,042 15% 85%
OPEX 91 37% 63%
CAPEX 185 31% 69%

Economic responsibility

The economic activities recognised below include the economic value generated, such asrevenue, and distributed by the businessin the form of salaries to

employees, financial obligations and investments.

Indicator/Category Definition 2021 2020
SEKm
a)Revenue Totalsales 4,042 3,675
Financialincome 3 1
Profitfromsaleofassets 5 2
Otherincome 40 11
Directeconomicvaluegenerated 4,090 3,689
b) Operational costs Operational costs -2,403 -2,286
Investmentsfortheyear, excludingacquisitions -109 -108
c)Directsalariestoemployeesandotherbenefits* -1,226 -1,183
d)Paymenttoinvestors Financingexpenses -45 -72
Repaymentofloans -248 -8
Dividend -35 0
e) Paymenttogovernmentagencies -110 -54
Economicvaluedistributed -4,176 -3,711
Economicvalueretained Generated- Distributed -86 -22

*Includingemployeerelatedrestructuring costs



low-up of the results at management level, in employee groups
andinothernetworks.

OurUnderstanding Diversity training programme is available to all
employees.

Health and safety policy

Providing a safe and healthy environment is decisive for our com-
pany'ssuccesses. Wework proactively tocreate physicalandmen-
talhealthamongouremployees.

Thedaily work onissues thataffecthealthandsafety and employ-
eesisdecentralised. Every single company and unit has a respon-
sibility to conducttraininginand address theseissuessothatthey
comply with the group’s policy and with each country’s legislation
andregulations.

Efficiency in manu-
facturing and operation

Reduction and more efficient use of resources is a key objective
forus. We work actively to maximise positive effects and minimise
the negative impact throughout the value chain. To implement
changes where they make the most impact, we collaborate with
business partnersand otherstakeholders.

QUALITY IMPROVEMENT

We strive to reduce the costs and environmental impact that are
connected with quality problemsin production. The goal for quali-
tyfailure costsinproduction, inrelationtosales, was <0.3 percent
up until2021. Theresult was 0.22 percent (0.37). Focus during the
year: Goals that are not achieved have a negative effect on other
sustainability objectives due to such factorsasincreased electric-
ity consumptionasaresultof reworking, increased carbon dioxide
emissions from air transport to correct the error and longer deliv-
ery times. We focus on efficiency of operations and on resolving
problemswhere they arise.

GLOBALMANAGEMENTSYSTEM
The parentcompany andall production units musthave amanage-
mentsystemthatiscertifiedinaccordance withISOS001 (interna-
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tional standard for quality management systems) and ISO 14001
(international standard forenvironmental management systems).
Acquiredcompaniesaretobe certified withintwoyears. Attheend
of 2021, 17 out of 20 production units were certified according to
IS0 9001 and 16 of 20 units were certified according to ISO 14001.
Certification of the remaining unitsis planned during 2022.

Nederman'’s global management system, GuideUs, is a framework
of rules and requirements for Nederman's operations and is based
on ISO 9001 and ISO 14001. The management system is used to
create customersatisfaction, supportthe corporate cultureandto
ensure thatthe operationsare managedinaway thatmeansthat:

Themostimportantstakeholders’ (customers, employees,
suppliersandshareholders) goals are fulfilled.

The operations are conducted within established frameworks
forrisk takingand withreliableinternal control.

Applicable legislation, listingrequirementsand corporate
governance codes are followed and that the company fulfilsits
socialresponsibility.

Therevitalisation of Nederman's global management system with
anew platformwasinitiated during 2021.

CYBERANDINFORMATION RISKS

Cyber and information risks are increasing in our operating envi-
ronmentand are becomingincreasingly advanced in pace with the
rapid technological development and the increasing use of data.
These risks are not only related to technology, but also to people
and the company's processes. To ensure continued sustainable
operations, Nedermaninvests continuouslyinsecurityinthe form
of technology and processes. In addition, our employees take part
in compulsory training - all to strengthen our IT security. The IT
security policyis part of Nederman's framework for security man-
agement. This framework is to protect Nederman's information
assetsand to secure access toinformation, confidentiality, integ-
rity, authenticity and non-repudiation. During 2021, the approach
was to further strengthen governance and processes in connec-
tion with the management of risksin the areas of cyber and infor-
mation security. Allemployees complete compulsory training in IT
security tosecure andstrengthen theirknowledge of IT security.

GRIIndex
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Engagement and know-
how for a better future

All successful companies are based on the same founda-
tion - talented and engaged employees. Nederman is no
exception. The rapid development the group is experi-
encing through digitalisation, globalisation and acquisi-
tions places demands on attracting, retaining and devel-
opingtherightpeople.

Nedermannow has 2,154 employees throughout the world. Being
part of building a future characterised by a vision of clean air
requires conscientious and consistent work based on shared val-
ues. Focus on sustainability in relation to customers, respect for
the environment and each other, as well as courage and purpose
to act - these core values form the foundation as we build The
Clean Air Company. The global presence and the company's ambi-
tiousgoalsinanimportantandgrowing marketalso offer fantastic
opportunities foremployeestodevelop.

To ensure that we have an organisation that is on the right path,
we carefully monitor the results from the questions in our annual
employeesurvey,nGage, and that the activitiesthatarerelatedto
improvements really are carried out. nGage is now an established
process within the group and encourages all teams to develop
action plans that improve and develop cooperation, leadership
and health and safety. In nGage 2021, inclusion was one of the
questions where employees got to learn more about the area and
describe how they themselves can contribute to better inclusion
in the company. At the end of the year, group management con-
ducted a workshop on diversity and inclusion aimed at creating
evenbetter parameters for thisworkinthe organisation.

nGage has been conducted since 2013. During 2021, 83 percent
of allemployees responded to the survey, whichis higherthan the
corresponding index for the comparative groups, Global Bench-
markand Industry.

CONTINOUS DIALOGUE AND TRAINING

Internal communications are mainly conducted using the intranet
communication platform, Tellus. During the year, thiswas restruc-
tured, for example, to better connect the various parts of the
organisation to make an entirety that works in unison toward the
goal of creating clean air, customer value and achieving Neder-
man'svision.

myLearning, our platform for training and continuous develop-
ment in the group, contains manager support, plus role-based
training. myLearning supports all digital environments and pro-
vides, for example, the opportunity for rapid onboarding of new
employees and integration of corporate acquisitions. The con-
tent is continuously developed. During the year, we conducted
onboarding programmes digitally and provided training in new
products and further training for our managers. In addition, a new
training courseindigital salesmethods waslaunched, whichis tar-
getedatsalesmanagersinallregions.

We have five compulsory courses that are to be conducted every
secondyear-ontheCodeof Conduct,onthe policyagainst corrup-
tion and fraud, on GDPR (for Europe), on the policy for export con-
trolsandsanctions, and on T security. Coursesinaccordance with
legalrequirements are also conducted through myLearning. More
than 90 percent of all employees completed all of these courses.
The compulsory courses are included as part of the onboarding of
new employees, whichalsoincludes trainingin our core valuesand
on Nederman, You@Nederman. Sustainability@Nederman, a new
training course launched in 2021, is aimed at all employees and
addresses sustainability at Nederman.

Since 2020, we have offered our training portal, nPower, to part-
nersandresellers,withaccesstoelearningcoursesandwebinars.
Inaddition to strengthening knowledge, this contributes to facili-



tating contact with partners and customers when physical meet-
ings are difficult toimplement.

Health and safety

The actual number of reported accidents in 2021 was 24 (nine),
none of which had a fatal outcome or resulted in lifelong injuries,
but there was one with a recovery time of more than six months.
The increase from the preceding year was attributable to lower
activityin 2020 due to the pandemic.

Theestimated values (based on 1,000,000 hours worked) accord-
ing to the GRI definition of 403-9 are as follows: Accidents total =
12.95. Accidents with more than six months recovery time = 0.54
andfatalaccidents =0.

The most frequently recurring injuries comprise crush injuries,
cut injuries and fall injuries. Significant risks identified in produc-
tion that can lead to serious injury comprise work at height, crush
and cutinjuries, electric shocks and forklift transport. There is an
action planfor eachrisk. For example, for work at height, a special
platform is used with a forklift truck, combined with a person-
al safety harness. Even if the accident frequency is low from an
industrial perspective, Nederman is convinced that all work-relat-
ed accidents and diseases can be prevented. Accordingly, the goal
of eliminating all accidents stands firm. Achieving a “zero vision”
requires continued technical and organisational initiatives, such
assystemsforidentification, riskassessmentandinvestigation of
incidents, risk observations, in order to prevent accidents and ill-
health, as well as regular follow-up to ensure that measures have
theintended effect, and, naturally, trainingin general.

To prevent accidents and disease, tools, processes and training
programmes are used that are aligned with each local manage-
ment system and general legislation. Follow-up and reporting of
measures to evaluate whether they have the intended effect are
conducted regularly at management level. Risk assessments are
conducted regularly at all levels of the organisation and the per-
sonnelwhoimplement theseare trained.

Each year, audits and rounds are conducted to assess the quality
of risk management and take corrective and preventive action.
The measures are to reduce or prevent the identified risks. Risk
assessments are reviewed and updated regularly or after aninci-
denthasoccurred.

ABSENCEDUETOILLNESS

During 2021, the rate of absence due to iliness averaged 2.6 per-
cent(2.8), anumber that continues to beimpacted by the covid-19
situation. Initiatives are focused on giving our employees theright
conditionsintheirrespective roles,and to ensure that they have a
high sense of well-beingand are motivated and satisfied.

LOCALENGAGEMENT

Our most important and long-term contribution to local commu-
nity development and the environment are our products that
enhance the environment and reduce the risk of diseases related
topoorairinworkandthelocal environment.

DIRECTORS' REPORT - SUSTAINABILITY

Training for
important sales process

Nederman is both the market and knowledge leader in
its industry and conducts both product development
andtrainingthatis taking the entire marketinasustain-
abledirection.Agoodexample of thisis the training pro-
gramme for the Combustable Dust Sales Process, which
was launched in 2021. This will contribute to strength-
ening the group’s sales activities and position as a reli-
able and knowledgeable partner in the area. The aim is
toincrease thelevel of knowledge and awarenessinthe
sales organisation to minimise the commercial and legal
risks related to applications for combustible dust.

The programme comprises:

» new GuideUsdocumentation

® revised manualfor combustible dust

® elearningcourses, live training courses/webinars
m certification tests

= digitalapproval process

Depending on the level of responsibility in the organ-
isation, various stages of the training are conducted,
withthefirstinvolving certificationtogainaccesstothe
approval process, which is necessary for offering and
implementingsolutions forcustomers. The subsequent
coursesare morein-depth and are aimed at training the
people who approve the proposals for solutions to cus-
tomer problemsthatentertheapproval process.

The virtual training structure that has been developed
for the sales process for combustible dust will now be
applied to othercritical sales processes at Nederman.

Combustible dust can be defined as all atomised materi-
al that could catchfire and explode when mixed with air.
All companies that handle combustible dust must com-
ply with workplace safety regulations and legislation
aimed at preventing risks related to this: in the US, the
Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA),
andin the EU, the ATEX directive, which compel compa-
nies to invest in safety solutions to protect personnel,
buildings, equipment and their surroundings.

47



48 DIRECTORS' REPORT - SUSTAINABILITY
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Thegoalforabsenceduetoillnessissetat
<2.5percent. Absence statistics generally take
acquisitions made over time into consider-
ation. During the past two years, covid-19 had
anegativeimpactonabsenceduetoillness.In

2021, absenceamountedto 2.6 percent.
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The number of workplace accidentsis to be minimised
andwe have a'zerovision”in thisarea. Allunitsare to
have functioning systems forreportingand addressing
accidentsandincidents.n 2021, 24 accidents occurred,
none of which had a fatal outcome orresultedinlifelong
injuries, but there was one with arecovery time of more
thansixmonths. Fromanindustrial perspective, the
accidentfrequency rateislow.



Innovation through art
- mural at Nederman

[tisimportanttobeinspired and to have free thoughtsand newideas to
develop andchange for the better. Art providesinspiration, newideasand
strengthens creative thinking. By changing a small section of our facade
during the year, we aredemonstrating that we are changing the world.

Like theficus plantinthe mural,and other plants, Nederman'employees
createcleanair.

DIRECTORS' REPORT - SUSTAINABILITY
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Artist: Fabio Petani
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INTERNATIONAL DAY OF CLEAN AIR FOR BLUE SKIES

“Everyone is entitled to healthy
air and a healthy planet”

cleanairblueskies.org

“How clean is the air
where you live and breathe?"

igair.com/unep




Organisations and media

Aktuell Hallbarhet

Environment, sustainability and CRS for professionals
anddecision-makers.

aktuellhallbarhet.se

DagensPS

News site with focus on business and entrepreneurship
with environmentaland sustainability reporting.
dagensps.se

EEA European EnvironmentAgency
Independentenvironmental information and statistics.
eea.europa.eu

EU Taxonomy

Measures and sustainability reporting to guide investments
towardssustainable operations.
ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner

GHGProtocol

Establishes global frameworks to measure and manage emissions
of greenhouse gases (GHG).

ghgprotocol.org

GRIStandards

Independentinternational organisationthat provides

the world's mostused standards for sustainability reporting.
globalreporting.org

HEIHealth Effects Institute
Independentorganisationforresearchonairpollution
andhealth effects.

healtheffects.org

IVL SvenskaMiljéinstitutet
Independentresearchinstituteinenvironmentand sustainability.
ivl.se

Swedish Environmental Protection Agency
Supportsand collates the work toimplement
the government’s environment policy
naturvardsverket.se

UNEnvironmentProgramme
UNbodywithinformationand reportson
environmentaldevelopmentatlarge
unep.org

UNGlobal Compact

UNinitiativeand 17 sustainable development goals (SDGs)
tomobilise aglobalmovement of sustainable companies
and stakeholders.

unglobalcompact.org
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Reports

Actionson AirQuality

Aglobalsummary of policies and programmes for
the reduction of air pollution
wedocs.unep.org/bitstream/handle/
20.500.11822/36695/AAQ_ESG_EN.pdf

EEA Air Quality in Europe 2021
eea.europa.eu//publications/air-quality-in-europe-2021

State of Global Air

Annual report with globaldataandfacts on thesituation
forairand howitimpacts our health
stateofglobalair.org

Data / Statistics

AirQuality Life Index
Convertsairpollutionlevels tolife expectancy
aqli.epic.uchicago.edu/the-index

Diclimateindex
Listed companies'reportinginaccordance with Scope 1-3
di.se/bors/klimatindex

European Air Quality Index
Real-time graphics that show currentair quality in your particular
area

eea.europa.eu/themes/air/air-quality-index

Hallbarabolag

DagensIndustri's/Lund University's annual sustainability ranking
of listed companies
di.se/hallbart-naringsliv/hela-listan-har-ar-borsens-mest-
hallbara-bolag-alla-kategorier

1Q Air Visual
Real-timeinformation forair quality
iqair.com

State of Global Air DataSet
Interactive database forair quality and health effects
stateofglobalair.org

Sustainalytics

Independent calculation of companies’ ESGrisks and sustainabil-
ity profiles

sustainalytics.com

World Environment Situation Room
Visualdata, information and knowledge of the environment
wesr.unep.org
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. Nederman's
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1 | | |
Nederman is organisedin four divisions, based on differences in business logic, customer
structure and technology. The organisation is driven by simplicity and has the group’s

brands as its starting point. This means that the operating segments are global and

have an explicit focus on the customer. The year was characterised by a solid recovery
in demand and strengthened profitability, but also by disruptions to the supply chain

and rising freight and materials costs.

Nederman Extraction
& Filtration Technology

Developsandsellsabroadrange
of filtersand monitoring ser-
vices, capturingdevices, fans,
high-vacuum productsandreels
forthedistribution of avariety
of liquidsand compressed air.

Nederman Process
Technology

Offers process equipment, as
wellasservicesandfilter solu-
tionsthatare oftenintegrated
into the customers’production
processeswherethey capture
harmful particles and gases.

Nederman Duct
& Filter Technology

Markets and sells different
typesof ducting systems, valves
and filterelementstoensure
goodairqualityinanumber of
industries.

Nederman Monitoring
& Control Technology

Offersadvanced measuring
technology forgasesand
dust,andanloT platformthat
provides customers withinfor-
mationandinsightintocritical
parametersand processes.
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-
Division

Market position Customers

Sales are conducted globally through our own Customers compriseindustries and operations
sales companies and through an extensive with air contamination that must be managed
network of partners. Thedivision has signif- effectively and safely, including metal working,
icantaftermarketsalesinthe formof spare fibre-basedindustry (wood and composites),
partsandservice. The sales organisationand vehicle workshops andindustries exposed to
offerings are gradually being expandedinto dust particlesthat - if nothandled correctly -
new markets, segqmentsand applicationsin are liable to cause explosions.

ordertostrengthen competitiveness. Tougher
regulatory requirements and increased envi-
ronmentalawarenessdrive thedemand for
new products and solutions.

EXTRACTION &FFILTRATION TECHNOLOGY IN BRIEF

Head of Division: Hans Dahlén
Brands: Nederman
Average numberof employees: 307

SEKm 2021 2020 2019 AMERICAS
Externalordersreceived 1,781 1,589 1,962

21%
Sales 1,763 1,649 1,940
Adjusted EBITA 309 222 263

Adjusted EBITAmargin 17.5% 13.4% 13.6%

Offering

The productrange consistsof abroad assort-
ment of capturingdevices, ducting systems,
fans, high-vacuumand low-vacuum filters,
andreels forthedistribution of avariety of
liquids or compressed air. Continued product
development, with afocus ondigitalfilters, is
centraltoretaining strong market positions.
Digitalisation also provides the opportunity
foranadvanced service offeringandincreased
aftermarketsales.

Externalsalesbyregion

EMEA APAC

66% 13%
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A strong and profitable recovery

Nederman Extraction & Filtration Technology divi-
sion can summarise a year in which strong recovery in
demand, combined with new, important product launch-
es, led toits highest ever profitability. The restructuring
programme launched in 2020 enhanced the efficiency
of the division, at the same time as the organisation suc-
cessfully addressed the significant price increases for
materials.

At an early stage during the pandemic, the division was restruc-
tured to adapt the organisation to the new conditions, and the
final adjustments were made during 2021. The result was better
utilisation of the available resources for sales, service and produc-
tion. Combined withinvestmentsinrecentyearsinincreased digi-
talisation of sales, deliveryand support, thisenabled thedegree of
servicetocustomerstobefurtherstrengthened.

Thedivisionis Nederman's largest, with approximately 45 percent
ofthe group's sales. The stronggrowth during the year wasdriven
by higher demand in all markets. The component shortages and
supply chain disruptions that have arisen in the wake of the pan-
demic dampened demand in several industries, mainly towards
theendof theyearand particularlyinthe automotive industry and
its subcontractors, which areimportant for the division.

Efforts tostrengthen market positionsare
basedonastrategy withsixguidelines:
Optimised logisticsand manufacturing structure
Geographicgrowthinitiatives
Segmentdevelopment
Globaltechnology offering
Globalkey customers
Digitalisation

Activities to optimise the logistics and manufacturing structure
have accelerated in recent years. There has been a standardisa-
tion of the global technology offering that has increased the avail-
ability of the division's leading-edge technologies in all regions.
The development of digital tools, digital offerings and online pres-
ence is carried out on a continuous basis to drive efficiency and
increase customer value under the motto, “easy to do business
with". Digital order management and other tools to calculate and
configure customised solutions generate significant gains for all
parties.

The competence centre for automation that was established in
Polandin2020strengthenedthe organisation’s continueddigital-
isation journey and increased the scalability in product launches.
Work has commenced to establish a similar competence centre
in the US, which will provide support, for example, in connection
with launches of new filters in North and South America. During
theyear, the World Clean Air Tourwaslaunched, anonline eventfor
new and existing customersand partnersonnew, smartsolutions
forcleanandbreathablefactoryair.Here, forexample, itisdemon-
strated how Industrial Internet of Things (lloT) technology can
reshapeindustrial processesand create asaferwork environment.

Thedigitalisationinthe product developmentarea continued, at
the sametime asthelaunchof digital filters with complementary

loT hardware and subscription services, such as myAir, is central
to retaining strong market positions in EMEA and to be able to
grow more rapidly in the US, among other countries. During the
year, new SmartFilters were launched, giving the customer the
possibility to improve their production efficiency and reduce
their environmental impact. The objective is for all stationary fil-
tersdelivered as of 2023 to be digital. For the welding industryin
EMEA, for example, a new solution was launched based on nan-
otechnology that enables the filtration of small and often highly
hazardous particles.

Within the division's main customer segments, there is consider-
able growth potential in expanding tried and tested solutions to
new geographic markets. For example, leading positions in the
wind power industry have been built upinallregions. In the emer-
gency services segment, the division strengthened its positions
during the year through the launch of several new products that
were well received. In parallel with strengthening the division's
positions in existing industries, existing products and air filtra-
tion expertise are utilised in new market segments. Dental care is
one good example, in which the division’s extraction solutions can
eliminate the spread of aerosols that could be carryingvirusesand
bacteria. During the year, Nederman's leading dental care solution
was awarded the Dentistry Today Top 50 Technology Product
Reader's Choice Award 2021, which highlights some of the indus-
try'smostinnovative technologies.

Hans Dahlén, Head of Division

SALES OCHMARKET TREND

The division's orders received increased currency neutrally by
16.0 percentto SEK1,781m (1,589). Allregions and sales areas dis-
playedgrowthduringtheyear.INnEMEA, whichis thedivision'slarg-
estmarket, there wasastrongrecovery forsolutions forlarge and
medium-sized systems. Americasdisplayed solid growth driven by
several major orders from, for example, the wood products indus-
try and successful product launches for the rescue services seg-
ment. Within APAC, therewas growthinordersreceived andsales,
mainly as a result of successes in Australia. The division's sales in
Service and aftermarket was strongerin all regions. Digitalisation
is becoming increasingly important for the division's sales. Sales
of SmartFilters displayed a continued high rate of growth. Sales
of Nederman Insight subscriptions also increased substantially,
more than half of which with service agreements.

MILESTONESIN 2021
Robuststrengthening of profitability
Launch of loT-ready and connectible digital filter solutions for
increased control of the customer's air filtration process with
positive marketresponse.
World Clean Air Tour, anonline event for trainingin new, smart
and future-proof connectedfilter solutions.
Launchof new products, forexample, forthe weldingindustry
andtherescueservicessegment.
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Division
Nederman

&rocess Technologyu

' ﬂig%%mﬂ.

Market position

The customer base mainly comprises large
multinational companies that are integrating
and optimising the efficiency of theirglobal
productionoperations, whichincreases the
need forsuppliers that can provide services for
the entirelife cycle of the productinall parts
of theworld. All of the division's systems can
be delivered with the option of remote control
and monitoring which, in combination with our
service offering, enables us to establishalong-
termrelationship with our customers.

—

==

e

PROCESS TECHNOLOGY INBRIEF

Head of Division: Tomas Hagstrom
Brands: MikroPul, Luwa, Pneumafil, LCI
Average number of employees: 703

Customers

The customers comprise companiesinalarge
number of industries, of which the textile
industryisthelargest. Thedivisionalso offers
airfiltration solutions used in metal recycling
toleading companies activein therecycling of
lead, aluminium, tinand other metals, aswellas
forincinerationandheatrecovery. Foundries
and smelters, with the automotive industry as
theengine, are anotherkey segment, as well as
the chemicalsindustry.

SEKm 2021 2020 2019 AMERICAS
Externalordersreceived 1,785 993 1,462

25%
Sales 1,292 1,137 1,633
Adjusted EBITA 51 58 102
Adjusted EBITAmargin 3.9% 51% 6.2%

Offering

Thedivision’s solutions comprise anintegrated
partof the customer’'s manufacturing process
and are decisivein creating safe work environ-
ments, stable production conditions and man-
agingemissions to the local environment. The
offering comprises advanced filter solutions
thatalsoinclude hardware and software for
digitalmonitoringand control.

i

External salesbyregion

EMEA

46%

APAC

29%
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Strong ordersreceived and a growing service business

Nederman Process Technology benefits from the grow-
ing awareness surrounding climate and environmental
issues. Thisdrivesthedemandforsolutionsforsafe work
environments, energy savings and emissions control.
Development was negatively impacted by lockdowns
related to covid-19, which, mainly during 2020, affect-
ed several of the division's most important market seg-
ments, such as the textileand automotiveindustries.

Arecovery commencedinallsegmentsin 2021. Since thedivision's
solutions are often integrated into large and complex investment
projects with long lead times from decision to implementation, it
often takes time before the division’s orders are converted into
sales. This means that the higher orders received in 2021 did not
resultinanequally highincreaseinsales, particularly for thelarger
andmore profitable systems. Profitability was dampened by lower
volumes of more profitable systems, butalso by sharpincreasesin
materials and logistics costs. However, cash flow developed posi-
tively asaresultof advance payments forbooked projectsand the
division's systematic work to reduce working capital.

The important textile industry has long been characterised by
surplus capacity. A large number of producers were at a standstill
foraconsiderable partof 2020, which reduced theinterestin new
investments. In pace with the global recovery driven by increased
consumption,amongotherfactors, thesituationchangedentirely
in 2021. India displayed a particularly positive trend and returned
to levels higher than in 2019 driven by, for instance, internation-
al buyers seeking new yarn suppliers, while activity in China also
graduallyincreasedduringtheyear.

Foundries and smelters were also badly hit by lockdowns, mainly
related to the downturn in the automotive industry. The recov-
ery was strong in the recycling segment, supported by such fac-
tors as a strong sustainability trend. During the year, the division
increasedits focusoncustomersin metalrecycling, including lead,
tin, steeland metalscrap. The service business continuedtodevel-
op positively, with a steady increase in interest among customers
fordigital monitoringand control. The division's Digi7 digital after-
marketinitiative andloT contributed to theincreaseinactivity.

Thedivision's strategy rests onfour cornerstones:
Globalisation
Serviceanddigitalisation
Strengthened productivity
Focusonrapidly expanding segments

All of the division's products and solutions are Insight Ready,
meaning systems that can be connected to digital monitoring. In
combination with an extended service and aftermarket offering,
this enables us to help the customer throughout the entire prod-
uct life cycle. With digital solutions and proven technology as a
base, the project portfoliois being broadened to include new seg-
ments and markets. Non woven (for example, hygiene products)
is based on application know-how from the textile industry, and

waste incineration is riding the recycling wave, which is also driv-
ing the need for solutions for the recycling of lead and aluminium.
During the year, the division won several projects in new markets
and continued to work across regional boundaries, including a
collaboration between Luwa and MikroPul that resulted in a new
solutioninenergy recovery for the foundry industry. In the found-
ry segment, the divisionis market-leadingin Europe with its FS-fil-
ter,atechnology thathasnowalso beenintroducedin the US.

Tomas Hagstrom, Head of Division

Already prior to the pandemic, the division had a sharp focus on
strengthening productivity through programmes to reduce costs
and to enhance quality. This systematic work continued during
2021. A global purchasing organisation was established for more
efficient purchasing and in India, a global engineers' hub was built
up, which will provide support for the division’s businesses across
the globe. In addition, there was the launch of MikroPul PE, a mod-
ular and cost-effective solution for standardised applicationsin a
number of customer segments.

During the year, MikroPul® Solutions Lab was launched. This is
a global initiative which, in a unique digital cooperative environ-
ment, helps customers to resolve their most difficult challenges
when establishing effective filter systems for materials recycling
andair pollution.

SALES OCHMARKET TREND

The division's orders received increased currency neutrally by
89.9 percent to SEK1,785m (993). In APAC, which is dominated by
the textile segment, orders received almost doubled which was in
line with the growth rate seen in EMEA. In Americas, which man-
ages thelargest projects, orderintake growth was approximately
70 percent. Both systems and service sales performed well, with
increased interest in digital equipment for monitoring. During the
year, a ten-year service contract was signed for monitoring in the
recyclingindustry.

MILESTONESIN 2021
Strongorder growth andimproved cash flow
Strongrecoveryinthe textile sector
Growingshare of Insight Ready systems
Continuedhigherinterestindigital solutions
Launch of MikroPul PE, a pre-engineered solution for standard
applications
Launch of MikroPul® Solutions Lab
Orderwithten-yearservice contract for digital monitoring
Increased sale of solutionsin new geographic markets
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Division

ederman Duct
lter Technolo

Market position

Thedivisionis marketleader forducting
systemsunder the Nordfab brand. Market
sharesinEurope grewin the past year, but

the USremains the dominant market. Infilter
elements, under the Menardibrand, the USiis
alsothe mostimportant market. The division's
strong positionisbased on the continuous
development of products, design and configu-
rationtools, and logistics solutions paired with

in-depth applicationand engineering expertise.

DUCT &FILTERTECHNOLOGY INBRIEF

Head of Division: Jeppe Rasmussen
Brands: Nordfab, Menardi
Average number of employees: 259

Customers

Customersare foundinawiderange of indus-
tries, suchas woodworking, metalworking,
cementand concrete production, recycling,
energy production, the automotive industry,
plastics manufacturingand the chemicals
industry. Sales are made throughdistributors
and OEM customers, but there
arealsosignificantintra-group sales.

SEKm 2021 2020 2019 AMERICAS
Externalordersreceived 495 403 474

86%
Sales 541 458 555
Adjusted EBITA 104 64 70
Adjusted EBITAmargin 19.2% 14.0% 12.5%

Offering

Thedivision’s concept forducting systems
includes product programmes, design, dimen-
sioning andinstallation support fordust, fume,
gas and smoke extractionas well asindustrial
ventilation, headed by its proprietary Quick-Fit
system. Thedivision's filter solutions are based
on technology solutions that generate docu-
mented longer lifetimes and reduced mainte-
nance requirements compared with competing
products, resultingin the best possible life
cyclecost.

Externalsalesbyregion

EMEA

11%

APAC

3%
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Strong recovery and higher profitability

Nederman Duct & Filter Technology is highly dependent
on the US market. Adaptation and efficiency enhance-
mentoftheorganisationatanearlystage of the pandem-
ic laid a stable foundation for addressing the increased
demand in 2021. The adjusted EBITA margin rose to its
highest ever level for a single year, a result of factors
including the successful management of high raw mate-
rials costs.

Orders received improved considerably for both Nordfab and
Menardi. Covid-19 meant that many medium-sized projects were
postponed, but also that travel restrictions and extensive lock-
downs obstructed installation and service work. This situation
brightened rapidly during the year, with the result that volumes
increasedinallmarketsandallsegments. Since the operations are
volume-sensitive, profitability was also positively impacted.

Ducting systems and filter elements are important components
for achieving the best air filtration and play a decisive role in Ned-
erman'’s Clean Air concept. Ducting and filters, as individual com-
ponents or parts of a system, are otherwise often considered to
be standard products, with price pressure and high demands for
availability and service as a result. To be able to develop sales and
retain healthy margins, the division works with the concept of
"Fast, Friendly and Reliable,” with afocus ondigitalising processes
forahigherdegree of service and efficiency.

Jeppe Rasmussen, Head of Division

Overall, the strategy comprises fourareas:
Focusonselected segments
Drive customer engagement through digitalinitiatives
Deliverincreased operational efficiency through
digital processes
Geographicexpansion

In addition, the division has a major focus on strengthening inter-
nal sales within Nederman. All duct and filter solutions must be
availableinallof Nederman's established markets, with fulltechni-
cal support, logistics and service. The division runs the Nederman
Filter Competence Centre to support other divisions with product
development and expertise in filter elements and filter media.
During the year, a comprehensive training programme in virtual
sales was also conducted for all personnel with a connection to
sales. Thetrainingwas subsequentlylaunchedin Nederman's oth-
erdivisions.

Updated versions of the division's customer portal and the QTO
digital order management tool were launched for the ducting
operation in Europe. In both business areas, priority is otherwise
assigned to digital design, configuration and installation tools.
During the year, Quick-Fit-Visual® QFV was launched, an interac-
tive 3D tool that optimizes the design and installation of ducting
systems, for example, by automatically creating purchase orders,
which results in shorter lead times. At the largest woodworking
trade fair in the US, AWFS, QFV® was named the most visionary
new software product in the industry. QFV® was launched in the
USinMayandinEuropeandAsiaattheendof theyear.

The production unitin Assens, Denmark, was equipped with aful-
ly automated duct production line, which will help to broaden the
range and increase availability, safety and delivery precision. The
divisionisnowalsoreviewingthe possibility of increasing the level
of automationat the productionunitin Thomasville, NC, USA.

Sales in APAC are focused on South East Asia and are run from a
shared group regional officein Bangkok. Thailandand Australiaare
the mostimportant markets. The long-term trend in the region is
positive and the division’s position was strengthened in 2021. In
Europe, the upgrade of production and a stronger focus on digi-
tal order management entail an opportunity to increase market
shares, with the food and automotive industries being priori-
tised segments. During the year, Menardi received a strategically
important order for a large cleanroom project for a new battery
plantin Estonia.

SALES OCHMARKET TREND

The division's orders received increased currency neutrally by
31.4 percent to SEK 495m (403). In North America and EMEA,
order intake was strong and regions grew by 30 and 40 percent
respectively. Ducting systems, which account for approximately
80 percent of the division's sales, recorded strong order growth
inallregions.Inthe US, ordersreceived for medium-sized systems
displayedanearly completerecovery, partly due to earlier projects
now being activated. Sales of filter solutions, which is largely a
service business, showed significant variation during the year.

MILESTONESIN 2021
Significantstrengthening of profitability.
Launchoftheinteractive 3D tool Quick-Fit-Visual (QF V).
Proactive and successfulmanagement of rising
raw materials prices, primarily steel.
Investmentinand fine-tuning of afully automatic
ducting production linein Assens, Denmark.
Strategicorder for Menardifor cleanroom projectin Estonia.
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Division
Nederman
Monitoring & Control Technology

Market position

Withits solid applicationand technology know-
how, the division has gained a market-leading
positioninthe transformation that has com-
menced intheindustry. Sales are conducted
through the division's own companies, their
networks of distributors and otherdivisions
within Nederman. Product development,
increased integration with otherdivisions and
furtheracquisitions are priorities for continued
expansion.

Customers

Thedivision works with abroad spectrum of
industries that need to continuously monitor
and control their production, processes and
emissions. Waste incineration, power produc-
tionand oil/gas extraction, as wellas steel,
aluminiumand chemicals areindustries with
major needs and potential. The product pro-
grammeis being continuously developed, and
togetherwithInsight, now coversalarge part
of thegroup'soverall customerandindustry
segments.

MONITORING & CONTROL TECHNOLOGY IN BRIEF

Head of Division: Ketil Gorm Paulsen

Brands: NEO Monitors, Auburn FilterSense, Gasmet

Average numberof employees: 222

SEKm 2021 2020 2019 AMERICAS
Externalordersreceived 562 496 271

22%
Sales 537 507 280
Adjusted EBITA 121 S5 45
Adjusted EBITAmargin 22.5% 18.7% 15.9%

Offering

Thedivision develops andsells productsand
systems forlaser-based measurement of gases
(NEO Monitors), products and systems for
emissions analysis based oninfrared measuring
technology (Gasmet) and continuous particle
monitoring systems (Auburn FilterSense). The
digital offeringis based onaproprietary loT
platform (Nederman Insight), which provides
customerswithinformation oncritical parame-
tersand processes.

Externalsalesbyregion

EMEA

45%

APAC

33%
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Stable profitability on a high level
and continued technology advances

Havingexperiencedsomethingofatrendreversalduring
2020, which was so strongly impacted by the pandem-
ic, the positive development for the division continued
in the past year. Activity levels in the markets have nor-
malised and, at the same time, were increasingly adapt-
ed to digital channels, which benefits the division’s digi-
talofferinginthelongterm.

Although the shortage of components and disruptions in the
supply chain had a negative impact, profitability improved fur-
ther compared with the already high level in the preceding year.
The strong development in the Chinese market continued and its
potentialis considerable. Towards the end of the year, the UK com-
pany Energy Save System Ltd (ESS) was acquired, which strength-
ens the market position through access to unigue technology for
energy savingsinvariousindustries.

With the vision of providing the digital structure that supports
CleanAirasaService, thedivisionisworkingtooffercustomersthe
option of optimising the cleaning process, better production effi-
ciency, reduced maintenance costs and compliance with regulato-
ry requirements. The offering comprises individual products and
systems for advanced measurement, control and analysis of air
flows, as well as the IoT platform, Insight, which makes it possible
to optimise various processes. The products are key components
inNederman's Clean Air Concept.

The demand for solutions for emissions monitoring was gener-
ally healthy during the year, but particularly pronounced in Asia,
primarily in China. Both Gasmet and Auburn FilterSense (AFS)
have strong positions in the segment. Process control is the most
important segment for NEO Monitors, with a good presence, pri-
marilyin APACand EMEA, and a successively stronger positionalso
in the US. Since the start of the covid-19 pandemic at the begin-
ning of 2020, demand has shifted geographically. To address this,
the division adapted and focused its market initiatives in a corre-
spondingmanner.

Increased focus on sustainability, stricter legislation for emission
volumes, workplace health and safety, as well as an increasing
need for production efficiency to reduce, for example, energy
requirements, are driving demand. Interest in investing in solu-
tions that reduce the need for manual service and on-site inspec-
tions also continued after the removal of restrictions related to
the pandemic. Digital products with remote monitoring provide
the possibility of online service and consultation without impact-
ing production andjeopardisingemployee health.

Thedivision's strategy follows three mainlines:
Initiatives to develop the group's clean air concept
Increasedigitalisation of processesand tools
Broaden the market for basic operations

To keep the division's three offerings together and conduct effec-
tive sales and service work, a major effort has been putinto build-
ingupdigital processes, tools and market presence. The pandemic
accelerated the development of shared systems and procedures,
including online product demonstrations and sales meetings
when a personal presence has been impossible. In 2021, Gasmet
and Neo Monitors launched digital showrooms, which contribute

to improved customer meetings and effective sales and service
training.

Gasmet, which was acquired in 20189, displayed continued signifi-
cant growth during the year and currently holds a strong position
with an good product mix and technological lead. Through the
establishment of an office for sales and service in Houston, Texas,
Neo Monitors has captured market shares on the industry-heavy
Gulf coast. One of Neo Monitors' most important products, Laser-
Gas I, was certified by Exida at the beginning of the year, opening
up new possibilities for process control in the international mar-
ket.NeoMonitorsalsolaunchedtwonew productsduringtheyear,
T-flange and Laserinspect, which further facilitate installation
and monitoring.

Ketil Gorm Paulsen, Head of Division

Nederman'’s Clean Air Concept, in which the Insight loT platformis
the core, is continuing its development. During the year, the divi-
sion delivered Insight integration for filters in the wood products
industry, whichimproves the other divisions'digital product offer-
ingsand enables the connection of more filters.

AFS delivered 42 of its most advanced particle measuring instru-
ments to one of the largest foundries in the US. At the same time,
the company also secured a contract for the delivery of 250 parti-
cle emissions monitors for one of the world's leading food produc-
ers. The sensors control particle emissions to the atmosphere and
practically nomaintenanceisrequired.

SALES OCHMARKET TREND
Thedivision'sordersreceivedincreased currency neutrally by 16.5
percentto SEK562m (496). This trend was primarily headed up by
Americasand APAC. In Americas, there was arapid recovery in the
market, while in APAC, China continues to drive demand. Orders
received were also positive in EMEA, but were dampened for cer-
tain periods by various restrictions that limited the division's sales
activities.

MILESTONESIN 2021
Continuedstrengthening of profitability.
Acquisition of Energy Save System Ltd, which has developed
leading technology for energy reductioninindustrial air filtra-
tionsystems.
Launchof digital showroomsfor Gasmetand Neo Monitors.
Key ordersinadvanced measurementinstruments
Launch of two newimportant products foremissions monitor-
ing: T-flange and Laserlnspect.
Delivery of Insightintegration forfiltersin the wood products
industry.
Third-party certification from Exida of Neo Monitors'LaserGaslll.
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The Nederman share

Nederman’sambitionis to continuously provide the financial markets, shareholders and other stakeholders with accu-
rate, consistentandrelevantinformationinorder toincrease understanding of the group and comply with the regula-
tions for listed companies. The Nederman share has been listed on Nasdaq Stockholm under the NMAN ticker since 16
May 2007. Since January 2014, the share has been listed on Nasdaq Stockholm Mid Cap. A brief history of the company

anditsshareisshownonthe nextpage.

MARKET COMMUNICATION

Nederman's representatives meet regularly with analysts, cred-
it providers and shareholders to give a continuous picture of
developments during the financial year. Interim reports, year-end
reportsandannualreportsaredistributed toshareholders whoso
wish. These reports, together with the company's press releases,
arealsoavailable on the website in Swedish and English.

OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE

The number of shareholders at year-end was 4,089 (3,620). Each
share in Nederman entitles the holder to one vote. The share
of Swedish ownership was 92.7 percent (34.1). The ten largest
shareholders accounted for 79.4 percent (77.3) of the total num-
berof shares. The largestindividual shareholderis Investment AB
Latour. The table on the next page shows Nederman's ownership
structureat 31 December2021.

PRICEAND VOLUME TREND 2021
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DIVIDEND AND DIVIDEND POLICY

Nederman'’s dividend policy is to pay a dividend amounting to
30-50 percent of net profit for the year, taking into account the
capital structure and acquisition plans. The Board of Directors
proposes adividend of SEK 3.50 per share (-) for the 2021 financial
year.

At an Extraordinary General Meeting of shareholders on August
25, 2021, it was resolved that a dividend of SEK 1.00 per share
would be paid, corresponding to SEK 35.1m. Payment was madein
the third quarter of 2021. Based on the group's financial stability
and healthy capital structure, the Board's assessment was that a
dividend was justified. The dividend corresponded to 31.8 percent
of netprofitforthe 2020 financial year, meaning that the dividend
wasin line with the company's dividend policy.

ANALYSTS WHO FOLLOW NEDERMAN
MarcelaKlangfromHandelsbanken,
mazi02@handelsbanken.se

PRICEAND VOLUMETREND 2017-2021
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Datapershare 2021 2020 2019 2018* 2017*
Earningspershareaftertax, SEK** 8.70 3.15 6.43 5.78 531
Share priceasat 31 December, SEK** 218.0 141.0 1344 90.0 833
Market capitalisation, SEKm 7,661.8 4,954.1 4,7219 3,163.1 2,928.8
Cashflow, SEKm 421 67.0 -20.2 87.7 793
Proposeddividendpershare, SEK 3.50 - 2.30 2.00
DividendresolvedatanExtraordinary General Meetingof shareholders, SEK - 1.00 - - -
Dividendgrowth, % 250.0 - - 15.0 91
Yield, % 161 - 2.56 2.40
P/Eratio 25.1 44.8 209 15.6 15.7
Profitdistributedasdividend, % 40 - - 40 38
Equity, SEKm 1,717.4 1,300.8 1,382.0 1,2349 1,075.8
Issuednumber of shares, 31 Dec 35,146,020 35,146,020 35,146,020 35,146,020 11,715,340
Proposeddividendasapercentage of equity, % 7.2 - 6.5 6.5
Nederman’smajorshareholders Shareholding Votes, % History
Investment ABLatour 10,538,487 29.98 1944  CompanyfoundedbyPhillipNederman.
ErnstrémKapitalpartner AB 3,525,000 10.03 1983  Listingonthe StockholmStockExchange.
IF Skadefdrsakring AB (publ) 3,481,200 9.90 1985  Activebecomesthenewmajority shareholder. Thecompanyisdelisted.
SwedbankRoburFonder 2,538,494 7.22 1991 NedermansoldtoEsab.
Fjdrde AP-fonden 2,513,763 7.15 1994  CharteracquiresEsabandbecomesthe new majority shareholder.
Lannebofonder 1,635,918 4.65 1999  Venturecapitalcompany EQT acquiresNederman.
CliensFonder 1,256,186 3.57 2007  ListingonNasdaq Stockholm.
Tredje AP-fonden 1,100,000 3.13 2010  Acquisitionof DanthermFiltration.
Forsakringsaktiebolaget, AvanzaPension 858,968 244 2012  Acquisitionof EnvironmentalFiltration Technologies.
HandelsbankenFonder 470,561 134 2013  Nedermanqualifies forNasdag Stockholm Mid Cap.
Othershareholders 7,227,443 20.59 2014  Nedermanismoved toNasdag StockholmMid Cap.
Total 35,146,020 100.00 2017 Acquisitionof NEOMonitors AS
2018  Acquisitionsof AuburnFilterSense LLCandLuwaAirEngineering AG.
2019  Acquisitionof Gasmet Technologies Oy
2021  Acquisitionof Energy Save SystemLtd
Shareholdersby category, % Shareholderspercountry, %
Financial companies 5333 Sweden 92.65
OtherSwedishlegalentities 11.06 USA 1.85
Socialsecurity funds 10.58 Finland 138
Otherlegalentities 9.97 Switzerland 1.28
Private Swedishindividuals 7.35 UK 1.23
Foreigndomiciledowners 7.35 Luxembourg 0.84
Non profitorganisations 0.35 Malta 0.31
Government 0.01 France 0.25
Total 100.00 Other 0.21
Total 100.00
DIVIDEND PERSHARE, SEK EARNINGS PERSHARE, SEK MARKET CAPITALISATION, SEKM
The 2021 dividend refers to the Board's
proposed dividend
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*Theretrospective approachwasappliedinrelationtoIFRS16 Leasesand figures for 2018 are therefore restated pursuant tothe new standard. For earlier financial
years, IAS17 Leaseswasappliedinaccordance with the accounting policies thatapplied through 2017.

**Asaresultof the share split (3:1) approved by the 2018 Annual General Meeting, earnings per share and share price for 2017 wererestated and are based on the number

of sharesoutstandingafterthesharesplit.
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Review of business operations

The Board and CEO of Nederman Holding AB (publ), corporate
registration number 556576-4205, hereby submit their annual
reportforthe 2021 financial year.

BUSINESS

Nederman is an environmental technology company and one
of the world's leading suppliers of products and solutions for
advancedairfiltrationindemandingindustrialenvironments.Ned-
erman'’s business concept is clean air. Our offering comprises indi-
vidual products, complete solutions, project design, installation,
commissioning and service. The company’s products contribute
toreducing the environmental impact from industrial production,
creating clean and safe working environments, and increasing
production efficiency. Nederman's customers operate within such
industries as metal, wood and composite processing, food produc-
tion, pharmaceutical production, waste management, agriculture,
the textile industry, the chemicals industry, the process industry,
energy production and the automotive industry aftermarket. To
realise its financial targets, Nederman works in accordance with
a market-driven agenda: market-driven organisation, global key
costumers, product development with digital focus and active
acquisitionagenda.

Nederman has a strong global presence in sales and manufac-
turing. Sales are conducted through our own sales companies
and distributors in over 50 countries. Most sales take place in
Europe and North America, although Nederman is also active
in a number of markets in Asia and South America. Manufactur-
ing is carried out on five continents. Units for production and
assembly are located in Australia, Brazil, Denmark, Finland,
India, China, Norway, Poland, the UK, Sweden, Thailand, Germa-
ny and the US. At the end of 2021, 17 out of 20 production units
were certified according to ISO 9001 and 16 of 20 units were
certified according to ISO 14001. Certification of the remain-
ing units is planned during 2022. The parent company and three
sale companies are also certified according to ISO 9001 and ISO
14001. The manufacturing and assembly units are responsible
for manufacturing, distribution, product care, logistics, purchas-
ingand quality systems.

GROUPSTRUCTURE

Nederman Holding AB (publ) is the parent company of Nederman
group with its registered office in Helsingborg, Sweden. Neder-
man Holding AB's directly or indirectly wholly owned subsidiaries
are presentedin the parent company’s Note 14, Shares and partic-
ipations.

TheNedermangroup'soperationsare conductedin fouroperating
segments: Nederman Extraction & Filtration Technology, Neder-
man Process Technology, Nederman Duct & Filter Technology and
Nederman Monitoring & Control Technology. This organisation is
based on technology, customer structure and business logic with
its starting point in the groups trademarks. This means that the
operating segments are global. Nederman Extraction & Filtration
Technology develops and sells a broad range of filters and moni-

toring services, capturing devices, fans, high-vacuum products
andreelsforthedistribution of avariety of liquidsand compressed
air. Nederman Process Technology offers services and advanced
filter solutions that areintegrated into the customers’ production
processes where they catch harmful particles and gases. Neder-
man Duct & Filter Technology markets different types of ducting
systems, valves and filter elements to ensure good air quality in
a number of industries. Nederman Monitoring & Control Technol-
ogy's digital offering includes advanced measurement technol-
ogy and an loT platform that consists of hardware and software
that provide customers with information and insight into critical
parameters and processes. On a secondary level, the operations
aremonitored based onthe followingregions: EMEA (Europe, Mid-
dle EastandAfrica), Americas (Northand South America) and APAC
(Asia-Pacific).

Finance, IT, Human Resources and Strategy & Business Develop-
ment are group functions with the task of supporting operation-
al activities and being responsible for global coordination within
eachfunction.

STOCKEXCHANGELISTING

The Nederman share has been listed on Nasdag Stock-
holm under the NMAN ticker since 16 May 2007 Since Jan-
uary 2014, the share has been listed on Nasdag Stockholm
Mid Cap. The Mid Cap segment includes companies that have
a market capitalisation between EUR 150 million and EUR 1
billion. As of 31 December 2021, there were 4,089 (3,620)
shareholders.

ACQUISITIONS DURINGTHEYEAR

On 16 November 2021, Nederman acquired 100 percent of the
sharesin the UK company Energy Save System Ltd. The purchase
priceamountedto SEK 31.5m, of which SEK17.6m comprisedacon-
ditional earn-out payment based on the performance of the oper-
ations in the 24 months dating from the time of acquisition. The
conditional earn-out payment can amount to @ maximum of GBP
1.5m, corresponding to SEK 17.6m at the acquisition date. Energy
Save System develops and sells unique hardware and software
for monitoring and control of filter systems, which lower energy
consumption, reduce environmental impact and improve filter
performance.Energy Save Systemhasdevelopedleadingtechnol-
ogy forenergy savings inindustrial air filtration processes and the
company'’s product DESA is addressed to businesses that want to
improve their air quality and decrease their environmental impact
in industrial operations, for example in the wood, plastic, metal-
working, food processing, pharmaceutical, welding and casting
industries. The company is based in Kettering, in the UK. Energy
Save System's sales and profitability were not material for the
group. Energy Save Systemis included in the Nederman Monitor-
ing & Control Technology operatingsegment.

ORDERS RECEIVED AND SALES
Orders received amounted to SEK 4,622.9m (3,480.2), which cur-
rency-neutral corresponds to growth of 38.9 percent compared
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with 2020. Net sales amounted to SEK 4,041.8m (3,674.8), which
currency-neutral corresponds to growth of 14.9 percent com-
paredwith 2020.

INCOME

Consolidated operating profit for 2021 totalled SEK 458.9m
(219.0), corresponding to an operating margin of 11.4 percent
(6.0). Adjusted operating profit amounted to SEK 431.2m (295.6).
Adjustedoperatingmarginwas10.7 percent(8.0). Profitbefore tax
amounted to SEK 417.1m (148.5). Net profit totalled SEK 305.3m
(110.4), corresponding to earnings per share of SEK8.70 (3.15).

PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

The group's total research and development expenses amounted
to SEK'98.0m (106.9), of which SEK 41.0m (37.6) was capitalised in
the statementof financial position, and primarily related toinvest-
mentsinNederman group'sdigital product offering.

INVESTMENTS AND DEPRECIATION/AMORTISATION

The group's capital investments in intangible assets for the year
amounted to SEK69.8m (73.9). Investments for the year were pri-
marily related toinvestmentsin Nederman group's digital product
offering and global business systems. Amortisation of intangible
assets for the year totalled SEK 63.4m (56.7). The group's invest-
ments in tangible assets for the year amounted to SEK 39.2m
(35.0). Depreciation of tangible assets for the year was SEK 37.9m
(38.2).

CASHFLOW

Cash flow forthe yearamountedto SEK42.1m (67.0) and cash flow
from operating activities to SEK 519.8m (327.5). Inventory levels
increasedin 2021, partly due to anintentional build up of invento-
ry and also on account of higher raw materials prices, which had a
negative impact on cash flow. Despite this, cash flow from operat-
ing activities remained very strong. The foremost reason for this
is continued healthy orders received for projects with resulting
advanced payments received. Other adjustments of SEK 42.6m
were primarily attributable to the discontinuation of the group's
Norwegian defined-benefit pension plan, which had no effect on
cashflow, refertoNote 24.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIALPOSITION

At the end of the period, the group had SEK 541.6m in cash and
cash equivalents, as well as SEK 105.7m in unutilised overdraft
facilities. Thegrouphasafinancingagreementwith Skandinaviska
Enskilda Banken (SEB) and Svenska Handelsbanken (SHB) for SEK
1,500m and a financing agreement with Svenska Handelsbank-
en (SHB) for SEK 200m. In addition, the group has a bilateral loan
agreement with Svensk Export Kredit (SEK) for SEK 300m. The
agreementshaveathreeyearmaturity with extension options for
one additional year. The agreements mature in May 2023 on exer-
cise of the option. At the end of the period, the group had unuti-
lised credit facilities of SEK 492m within Nederman'’s loan agree-
ment with SEB and SHB, as well as SEK 200m within Nederman’s
loan agreement with SHB. At the end of the year, the scope within
theagreementwith SEK had been fully utilised.

Net debt amounted to SEK 1,067.8m (1,450.5). Equity amounted
toSEK1,717.4m (1,300.8), corresponding to an equity/assetsratio

of 36.3 percent (30.6) and a net debt/equity ratio of 62.2 percent
(111.5). Thelower net debt/equityratioisaresult of astrengthen-
ingof equity andalower level of netdebt. Due to therestructuring
programme implemented during 2020, the group made significant
cost savings, which led to an improved profitability and, accord-
ingly, equity was strengthened. In addition, equity was strong-
ly impacted by the weakened SEK, which led to the translation
reserve, attributable to the translation of foreign subsidiaries,
amounting to SEK131m. The lower level of net debtis both attrib-
utabletoastrongercashbalanceandlowerinterest-bearingliabil-
ities. The foremost reason for the stronger cash balance is contin-
ued healthy orders received for projects with resulting advanced
payments received. Interest-bearing liabilities decreased by SEK
232m compared with the preceding year, which was primarily
attributable to repayments on the group'’s loans. In comparison
with the preceding year, the pension liability decreased by SEK
49m, which was primarily a result of the transition of the Norwe-
gian defined-benefit pension plan to a defined-contribution pen-
sion plan. The lease liability also declined as a result of terminated
andrenegotiated contracts for premises.

EMPLOYEES

The group had 2,246 (2,124) employees at year-end. The average
number of employees during the year was 2,154 (2,097). Other
personneldataisshowninNote 8, Employees.

IMPACT OF THE COVID-19 PANDEMICON NEDERMAN

The consequences of lockdowns and restrictions related to
covid-19 brought continued challenges during 2021. Covid-19 has
led to a strained supply chain and difficulties in making customer
visits, as well as conducting installation and service work at cus-
tomersites. Thelargeamountof uncertaintyand cautionthatpre-
vailed in the markets, mainly in 2020, led to several projects being
postponed. However, during 2021, a strong recovery commenced
in all operating segments, resulting in an increase in orders
received. During these years of covid-19, people have become
increasingly aware thatcleanairisnotsomethingthat we can take
forgranted. Thisdrives the demand for Nederman's offering - sus-
tainable solutionsforcleanandsafeairinindustrialenvironments.
In recent years, Nederman has strengthened its market-leading
position. Orders received in 2021 exceeded orders received in
2019, which was when our markets most recently were in a “nor-
mal” state. Sales in 2021 did not quite match the levels of 2019.
However, the year concluded with record-strong orders received,
which provides the possibility for continued strong development
of salesinthe comingquarters.

In 2021, government grants amounting to SEK 5.7m (27.3) were
received, mainly from individual European government bodies,
where lockdowns and restrictions were implemented, and primar-
ily pertainedtogrants for short-time workrelating to covid-19.

PARENT COMPANY

The activities of the parent company comprise group functions.
The parent company also owns and manages sharesin the subsid-
jaries.



PROPOSED APPROPRIATION OF PROFIT
The following is at the disposal of the Annual General Meeting of
NedermanHolding AB (publ):

Share premiumreserve 5,866,700
Retained earnings 441,226,753
Net profitforthe year 210,455,783
Total SEK 657,549,236
TheBoard of Directors propose

thatadividend of SEK3.50 pershare

be paid toshareholders* 122,825,836
tobetransferredtotheshare premiumreserve 5,866,700
tobetransferredtoretainedearnings 528,856,700
Total SEK 657,549,236

*Basedonthenumberof sharesoutstandingat 31 December, 2021. The dividend
amount could be changed as treasury shares could be converted by therecord
dateof13April2022.

Based on the group’s financial stability and healthy capital struc-
ture, the Board's assessment is that a dividend can be justified.
After payment of the dividend, the group’s equity ratioamount to
34.6 percent and is therefore good in relation to the industry sec-
toringeneral. Thedividend corresponds to 40 percentof net profit
for the financial year, meaning that the dividend is in line with the
company'sdividend policy.

NOTICEOF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The notice to attend the Annual General Meeting is to be issued
no earlier than six weeks and no later than four weeks prior to the
Meeting.

EVENTSAFTERTHEEND OF THEREPORTING PERIOD
Nosignificant events have occurred after the end of the reporting
period.
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OUTLOOK

Therecoveryindemand continued duringthe fourthquarter 2021.
Our base business and a strongdigital offering enable us to assert
ourselves well in the current market and we are now seeing that
demand for more major projectsis starting up. However, although
the development in our divisions remains positive, there is a risk
that the problems in our supply chain and the high prices of mate-
rials and logistics will impact customers' investment decisions
and the possibility of conducting business, as well as our own pro-
duction and ability to deliver. In addition, there is also the difficult
geopolitical situation. In general, however, we are cautiously opti-
mistic about the next few quarters, but can see that uncertainty
has increased in our markets. Although this uncertainty is con-
tributing to dampen the short-term outlook in our industry, Ned-
erman’s long-term potential continues to strengthen. In a world
in which the insight into the damage that poor air does to people
is increasing, Nederman, with its leading offering within industri-
al air filtration, has a key role to play and possibilities for growth.
What is needed and missing is even more political will throughout
the world, to use regulations and incentives to work to reduce the
risk that millions of people need to die prematurely each year from
breathingindirty andhazardousair.
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Five-year overview

SEKm 2021 2020 2019 2018* 2017*
Operatingrevenueandearnings

Netsales 4,041.8 3,674.8 4,307.7 3,553.9 3,148.5
EBITDA 633.2 384.6 489.9 426.9 3308
AdjustedEBITDA 605.5 461.2 495.8 440.1 338.5
Operatingprofit 458.9 219.0 343.2 305.7 278.1
Adjusted operatingprofit 431.2 295.6 349.1 3189 2858
Profitbeforetax 417.1 148.5 307.3 267.5 260.1
Net profit 3053 1104 225.8 202.8 186.3
Assets, equityandliabilities

Fixedassets 2,645.6 2,480.8 2,647.7 2,000.2 14713
Currentassets 2,0834 1,768.7 2,102.6 2,020.3 1,499.6
Cashandcashequivalents 5416 466.8 4453 4639 360.9
Equity 1,7174 1,300.8 1,382.0 1,2349 1,0758
Interest-bearingliabilities 1,6094 19173 2,009.4 1,2515 946.2
Non-interest-bearing liabilitiesand provisions 1,402.2 1,0314 1,3589 1,534.1 9489
Balancesheettotal 4,729.0 4,249.5 4,750.3 4,020.5 2,970.9
Profitability

EBITDAmargin 15.7% 10.5% 11.4% 12.0% 10.5%
Adjusted EBITDA-margin 15.0% 12.6% 11.5% 12.4% 10.8%
Operatingmargin 11.4% 6.0% 8.0% 8.6% 8.8%
Adjustedoperatingmargin 10.7% 8.0% 8.1% 9.0% 9.1%
Returnonequity 20.2% 8.2% 17.2% 17.7% 18.1%
Returnonoperatingcapital 156% 10.4% 14.0% 16.5% 18.0%
Capitalturnoverrate, multiple 15 13 1.7 18 2.0
Capitalstructure

Netdebt 1,067.8 1,450.5 1,564.1 787.6 585.3
Netdebt/equityratio 62.2% 111.5% 113.2% 63.8% 54.4%
Netdebt/adjusted EBITDA, multiple 18 3.1 3.2 18 1.7
Adjusted EBITDA/net financialitems, multiple 145 6.5 138 115 18.8
Interestcoverratio, multiple 9.6 4.1 8.1 7.5 11.8
Equity/assetsratio 36.3% 30.6% 29.0% 30.7% 36.2%
Operatingcapital 2,785.2 2,751.3 2,946.1 2,022.5 1,661.1
Sharedata

Numberof sharesonclosingdate 35,146,020 35,146,020 35,146,020 35,146,020 11,715,340
Average no.of sharesduring theyear, beforedilution 35,093,096 35,093,096 35,093,096 35,088,753 11,696,251
Average no.of sharesduringthe year, afterdilution 35,093,096 35,093,096 35,093,096 35,088,753 11,696,251
Equity pershare, beforedilution, SEK 4894 37.07 39.38 35.19 30.66
Equity pershare, afterdilution, SEK 48.94 37.07 39.38 35.19 30.66
Earningspershare, beforedilution, SEK 8.70 3.15 6.43 5.78 531
Earningspershare, afterdilution, SEK 8.70 3.15 6.43 5.78 531
Proposeddividend pershare, SEK 3.50 - - 2.30 2.00
Emplyees

Averagenumbersof emplyees 2,154 2,097 2,195 1,852 1,757

*TheretrospectiveapproachwasappliedinrelationtolFRS 16 Leasesandfiguresfor2018are thereforerestated pursuanttothe newstandard. For earlier financial
years,|AS17Leaseswasappliedinaccordance with theaccounting policies thatapplied through 2017.
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Risks and risk management

RISKS THAT COULD SIGNIFICANTLY IMPACT THE GROUP
Nederman is exposed to a number of risks that could significant-
ly impact the group's operations, earnings and financial position.
Nederman conducts continuous risk assessments that include
identifyingtherisks thatimpactthe group and takingmeasuresto
manage theserisks.

Nederman does not calculate the economic value of all risks
because many of them are highly complex and interrelated. How-
ever, the practical management of these risks is facilitated in sev-
eral different ways, including through group-wide policies, busi-
ness processes, training, internal controls, and processes for the
auditand approval of reports, which are all coordinated and moni-
tored by each group function. Therisks are summarised below.

STRATEGICRISKS
Customer offerings, succession planning, official or sector regula-
tions, fluctuationsin the global market.

OPERATINGRISKS
Demandsontheproducts'functionorquality, competitionortech-
nology shifts, IT systems, and production or delivery disruptions.

COMPLIANCERISKS

Compliance with laws, regulations and group policies relating to,
for example, data confidentiality, competition legislation, corrup-
tion, healthand safety and sustainability.

FINANCIALRISKS
Currency, interest, creditand liguidity risks.

MANAGING THE MAIN RISKS

Themainrisks described in this reportare managed inaccordance
with Nederman's framework for risk management, which is inte-
grated with the company's business processes. The Board of
Directorsalsoreviewsthe company’sriskmanagement.
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Strategicrisks

Management

Lossofkeyindividuals

Continued succession planning. Managementandemployee developmentin
ordertoproactively securethe correctcompetenceand capacity forthe future.

Acquisition-relatedrisks

Professional duediligence. Acleardivisional structure toclarify theacquired
company's positioninthegroup, standard onboarding proceduresforITand
finance.

Operatingrisks

Management

Disruptionstocritical IT systems

Security upgradesandbackups.

Productionrisksatkeysites

Globalmanagementsystem, standardisation of processes - condition for ERP
roll-out, update of productdocumentation, update of IThardware/software.

Deliveryriskforkey components

Productionrationalisation project, audits of critical suppliers, increased
inventory ofkey components.

IT projectsinprogress

Systematic planning, securedinternalcompetence (ERP project), update of
outdatedhardwareandsoftware,

Inferiorandinappropriateagreements

ConfirmNederman’s contract termsand conditions, trainingin contractissues,
legalreviewandevaluation of contracts.

Externalfactors, suchasfire, extreme weather conditions, natural disasters,
warorpandemics

Thisismanaged throughreadiness planningandensuring thatvitalmaterials
arenotpurchasedfromonlyonesupplier.

Compliancerisks

Management

Corruptionandfraud

« Established policiesandinternal control.

« Acceptanceletterissued by the CEO, whereby theemployeeinquestion
confirmsinwriting,onanannual basis, theirknowledge of the Code of Conduct
and compliance withthegroup'sinternal controlinstruments.

»Nederman'swhistleblower system, whichmeansthateachemployeeis
entitledtoreportany suspicionsof legal orregulatory breaches without
reprisal.

* Reviewandevaluation of partneranddistributionagreements.

Non-compliance withlegislationand permits

« Trainingin policiesandregulations.

« Formalisationandexpansionof the group’sinternal control, withafocuson
compliance (seeabove).

« Exportcontrolprocess, withafocusonembargoesandtraderestrictions.

Healthandsafetyrisksrelatingto, forexample, technicaldefectsordeficiencies
inNederman'sproducts

Nederman'soverallcommitmenttoquality assurance ensures productquality
andfunction.Ensuringthatlegalrequirementsregardingsafety, suchasthe
Machinery Directiveand the ATEX Directive, are compliedwithinfull.

Financialrisks

Management

Underlyingweakeningof theeconomy

Readinessplanning.

Pricepressure

Differentiation, includingdigitalisation, logisticsrationalisation project.

Currencystatus

Continuedregionalbalancingofincome and expenses, assetsandliabilities,
currency hedgingformajorprojects.
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Corporate Governance

Nederman Holding AB (publ) is a Swedish public limited company
with its registered office in Helsingborg, Sweden. Nederman was
listed onthe Nasdag Stockholm Small Caplistin 2007 and has been
registered on the Nasdag Stockholm Mid Cap list since 1 January
2014,

Asalistedcompany,Nedermanappliesthe SwedishCorporate Gov-
ernance Code (the Code). The Corporate Governance Report has
been prepared in accordance with the Swedish Annual Accounts
Act and the Swedish Companies Act, Nasdaq Stockholm's Rule
Book forlIssuers, the Code, and other applicable Swedish laws and
regulations. In addition to rules pursuant to laws or other legisla-
tion,Nedermanusesinternal controlinstrumentsthatarealsothe
basis for the group's corporate governance, including the Articles
of Association, rules of procedure for the Board of Directors, the
terms of reference for the CEQ, policy documents and the group's
Code of Conduct. The Articles of Association and the group’s Code
of Conduct are available at nedermangroup.com and policy docu-
mentsare available at the group’sintranet.

Governance of the Nederman group takes place through the
shareholders via the General Meeting of Shareholders, the Board
of Directors, the CEO and Group management of Nederman in
accordance with, among other things, the Swedish Companies
Act, other laws and regulations, the Articles of Association and
the rules of procedure for the Board of Directors. Considering
Nederman's group structure, the composition of the boards of its
operating subsidiaries, which ofteninclude representatives from
Group management, constitute another element of governance
forthegroup.

SHAREHOLDERS

At the end of 2021, the company had 4,089 shareholders. Invest-
ment AB Latour was the largest shareholder with 29.98 percent
of the shares, while Ernstrom Kapitalpartner AB owned 10.03
percent, IF Skadefdrsdakring AB (publ) owned 9.90 percent and
Swedbank Robur Fonder owned 7.22 percent. The ten largest
shareholdershadatotalholdingcorrespondingto 79.41 percent of
the shares. Foreign investors held 7.35 percent of the shares. For
furtherinformation about the share and shareholders, see pages
62-63.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The General Meeting of Shareholdersis the highest decision-mak-
ing body, in which the shareholders can exercise their influence
by votingon key issues, such as the adoption of the income state-
ment and balance sheet, appropriation of the company’s profit,
discharge from liability of Board members and the CEO, the elec-
tion of Board members, the Chairman of the Board and auditors,
and remuneration to the Board of Directors and auditors. The
Annual General Meeting was held on 26 April 2021. The Annual
General Meeting was conducted in accordance with the Act on
Temporary Exemptions to Facilitate the Execution of General
Meetings in Companies and other Associations, meaning that the
shareholders could only exercise their voting rights by voting in
advance, using so-called postal voting. A total of 20 shareholders
exercised postal votes, representing 76.44 percent of the total
number of sharesand votesinthe company.

The Meeting adopted the income statement and balance sheet,
and the consolidated income statement and balance sheet, and
granted discharge from liability for the Board members and CEQO.
The Board decided to distribute the profit in accordance with the
proposal on the allocation of profits, meaning that the funds atits
disposal were carried forward.

The Meeting also authorised the Board to decide that the compa-
nymayissuenewsharesorrepurchase thecompany’sownshares.

The Meeting decided in accordance with the proposal in the
notification of the Meeting to elect six Board members. In accor-
dance with the proposal of the Nomination Committee, Johan
Hjertonsson, Ylva op den Velde Hammargren, Gunilla Fransson,
Johan Menckel, Sam Strémerstén and Sven Kristensson were
re-elected to the Board. Johan Hjertonsson was elected Chairman
of the Board.

EXTRAORDINAY GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
At an Extraordinary General Meeting of shareholders on August
25, 2021, it was resolved that a dividend of SEK 1.00 per share
would be paid, corresponding to SEK 35.1m. Based on the group's
financial stability and healthy capital structure, the Board's
assessmentwas thatadividend was justified. The dividend corre-
sponded to 31.8 percent of net profit for the 2020 financial year,
meaningthatthedividend wasinline with the company's dividend

policy.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The 2019 Annual General Meeting decided to establish instruc-
tions for the Nomination Committee concerning the composition
of the committee and its assignments. According to the instruc-
tions, the Nomination Committee is to consist of one representa-
tive from each of the four largest shareholders and the Chairman
of the Board. If any of the four largest shareholders waives their
right to appoint a representative to the Nomination Committee,
theright will pass tothe nextlargest shareholder. The Nomination
Committee's tasks are to prepare proposals, ahead of the next
Annual General Meeting, concerning the election of the Chairman
of the Board and other Board members, the election of the Chair-
man of the Meeting, remuneration issues and related issues, and,
where applicable, the election of auditors.

Accordingtothe guidelines approved by the Annual General Meet-
ing concerning the work of the Nomination Committee, the fol-
lowing individuals have been appointed to the Nomination Com-
mittee ahead of the 2022 Annual General Meeting: Anders Morck
(Investment ABLatour), Chairman, Henrik Forsberg Schoultz (Ern-
strom Kapital AB), Fredrik Ahlin (IF Skadeforsdkring AB) and Ulrik
Gronvall (Swedbank Robur). Johan Hjertonsson, Chairman of Ned-
erman'’s Board of Directors, is a co-opted member of the Nomina-
tion Committee. For questions concerning the work of the Nomi-
nation Committee, contactanders.morck@latour.se.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors is the second highest decision-making
body after the General Meeting of Shareholders. The overall
assignment of the Board is to decide on the company's business
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direction, its resources and capital structure as well as its organ-
isation and management. The Board's general obligations also
include continuously evaluating the company’s financial situation
and approving the company's business plan. In its general under-
taking, the Board addresses overall issues such as the company's
strategy, acquisitions, majorinvestments, divestments, the publi-
cationofannualreportsandinterimreports, and the appointment
of the CEO.

The Board of Directors follows written rules of procedure that
are adopted annually at the first Board meeting following elec-
tion. The rules of procedure stipulate how work is to be divided
between Board members, how often the Board is to meet and to
what extent deputies are to participate in the work of the Board
and attend meetings. The rules of procedure also regulate the
Board's obligations, the establishment of a quorum, the division
of responsibilities between the Board and the CEO, etc. The Board
meets according to an annual schedule thatis decided in advance.
Extraordinary meetings may be called to address events of unusu-
alimportance. In addition to Board meetings, the Chairman of the
Board and the CEO conduct an ongoing dialogue with respect to
the management of the company.

Once ayear, the entire Board conducts a systematic evaluation of
the company’s senior executives. In this context, “senior execu-
tives”includes certaindeputy managers, meaningabroadergroup
of employees.

Inrecentfinancial years, the Board has made decisions concerning
severalmattersofstrategicimportance.In2021, special focus was
devoted to adaptation of the group’s capacity, the group’s strate-
gy for continued expansion and the group’s financial framework
and objectives. In 2021, the Board held six minuted meetings. To
date,one minuted meetinghasbeenheldin2022. The 2021 Annu-
alGeneralMeetingresolvedthatatotal of SEK1,885,000 would be
paid in directors’ fees, with SEK 725,000 paid to the Chairman of
the Board and SEK 290,000 to each of the other members elected
by the Annual General Meeting, with the exception of the CEO. It
wasfurthermoreresolvedthatafee of SEK100,000 would be paid
to the Chairman of the Audit Committee and SEK 65,000 to the
committee member, and thatafee of SEK50,000 would be paid to

the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and SEK 25,000 to
the othermember.

As stated in the Articles of Association, the General Meeting of
shareholders has full decision-making power in election of Board
members and there are no other regulations concerning appoint-
ment and dismissal of Board members. The Annual General Meet-
ing elects Board members annually for the period until the next
Annual General Meeting is held. The Board of Directors is to con-
sist of at least three and no more than eight ordinary members
and may be supplemented with a maximum of three deputies. In
addition, there may be employee representatives. The members
elected by the Annual General Meeting are all, with the exception
of onemember, independentinrelation to the major shareholders
and, with the exception of the CEQ, inrelation to the company and
company management. The Board meets the requirements of the
Code with respect to independent members. The members are
presentedonpage 78andatnedermangroup.com.

The main shareholders and Board members carry out a detailed
annual evaluation of the Board. Among other things, the evalua-
tion includes the Board's composition, individual Board members
andthe Board's workand procedures. The Nomination Committee
has reviewed the written evaluation of the work of the Board and
hasreceived areport on the work of the Board from the Chairman
of the Board.

Nederman'’s Board of Directors consists of six members elected
by the 2021 Annual General Meeting. The CEO is a member of the
Board. The CFOis notamember of the Board but, asarule, partici-
patesinBoard meetings by presentinginformation. The Chairman
of the Board does not participate in the operational management
of the company.

Attendance at Board meetings

= JohanHjertonsson 60f6
m GunillaFransson 60f6
m Ylvaopden Velde Hammargren 50f6
m SvenKristensson 6ofb
= JohanMenckel 50f6
B SamStromerstén 60f6
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CEO

The division of activities between the Board and the CEQ is reg-
ulated by the rules of procedure for the Board and in the terms of
reference for the CEO. The CEO is responsible for implementing
the business plan as well as the day-to-day management of the
company'’s affairs and the daily operations of the company. This
means that the CEO makes decisions on those issues that can be
considered to fall under the day-to-day management of the com-
pany. The CEO may also take action without the authorisation of
the Board in matters which, considering the scope and nature of
the company’sbusiness, are unusual orof greatimportance, which
cannot await a decision by the Board without seriously compro-
mising the company's business activities. The terms of reference
for the CEO also regulate the CEQ's responsibility for reporting to
the Board. The Board receives a monthly written report contain-
ing a follow-up of the company’s order statistics, sales, operating
results, working capital developments, income statement, finan-
cial position and cash flow statement. The report also contains
comments from the CEO and CFO, for example, regarding the var-
ious markets.

Every year, the senior executives formulate a strategy proposal,
which is discussed and adopted at the Board meeting held about
halfway throughtheyear.Work on the businessplan (including the
budget forthe comingyear)is usually carried out from the bottom
up and based on the strategy adopted by the Board of Directors.
The CEO and the CFO present the business plan proposal to the
Board of Directors. After the Board discusses the business plan,
itisusually adopted at the last meeting during the autumn. More-
over,thecompany usuallyissuesanupdatedforecastattheendof
each quarterin conjunction with the quarterly reports.

COMMITTEES

Remuneration Committee: Questionsaboutsalary and benefits
for the CEO and senior executives are addressed and approved by
the Remuneration Committee. This committee consists of Johan
Hjertonsson and Johan Menckel. The committee is a body with-
in the company’s Board assigned to draft matters for the Board
related to remuneration and other terms of employment for com-
pany management. The committee is also tasked with preparing
guidelines regarding remuneration for senior executives, which
theBoardthen presentsasaproposaltothe Annual General Meet-
ing. The Remuneration Committee held one minuted meeting in
2021.

The prevailing guidelines for remuneration of senior executives
were adopted by the Annual General Meeting in 2020. The guide-
lines are presented in the section, “Remuneration to senior exec-
utives.”

Audit Committee: The main purpose of the Audit Committee is
to supervise the group’s financial accounting and reporting and
the audit of the annual accounts. The Audit Committee’s tasks
include, among other things, responsibility for the preparation of
the Board's work to ensure the quality of the financial reporting
by reviewing the interim reports, annual report and consolidated
financialstatements. The Audit Committeeisalsotasked with pre-
paring matters regarding the procurement of audit services and
other services from the auditor and preparing certain accounting

and audit matters to be dealt with by the Board. The work of the
Audit Committeeisgovernedbyrulesof procedure adoptedby the
Board of Directors. The Committee convened on five occasions
in 2021 and has led one minuted meeting to date in 2022. The
company'’s auditor participated on these occasions. At the board
meeting on February 14, 2022, the company'’s auditor informed
the Board of the results of its work and presented report on the
year's auditand its view of the company's internal control system
without the presence of any members of Company management.
In 2021, the Audit Committee consisted of Board members Ylvaop
denVeldeHammargrenand Sam Strémerstén.

AUDITOR

The auditor audits the company's annual report and account-
ing as well as the management of the Board of Directors and the
CEOQ. The auditor submits an audit report to the General Meeting
of Shareholders after each financial year. From 2011, the Annual
GeneralMeetingappointsanauditorforaperiod of oneyear. Atthe
Annual General Meeting on 26 April 2021, Ernst & Young AB was
elected until the close of the 2022 Annual General Meeting, with
Staffan Landén as lead auditor. Staffan Landén is an Authorised
Public Accountant and member of FAR, the Swedish Institute of
Authorised Public Accountants. Staffan Landén has many years
of experienceinauditinglisted companies and majorinternational
assignments. Heis currently lead auditor for AlfaLaval AB, Ambea
AB, Investment AB Latour and Thomas Concrete Group AB,among
others. Staffan Landén is an appointed Listing Auditor by Nasdag
Stockholm. The company's auditor audits the annualaccounts and
financial statements and the company's ongoing operations and
procedures to provide an opinion on the accounting and manage-
ment of the Board of Directorsand the CEO. The 2021 Annual Gen-
eralMeetingresolved thatthe auditors should be paid onacurrent
account basis. Fees to Ernst & Young AB for assignments other
thanauditingamounted to SEK0.9min 2021 and pertain mainly to
auditing of the six-month report and other auditing-related ser-
vices.

REMUNERATION TO SENIOREXECUTIVES

The 2020 Annual General Meetingadopted the Board of Directors'’
proposal for guidelines for executive remuneration. Nederman's
Group management fall within the provisions of these guidelines.
The remuneration shall be on market terms and may consist of
the following components: fixed salary, variable remuneration,
pension benefits and other benefits. Fixed salary is paid for sat-
isfactory work. The variable remuneration shall be linked to pre-
determined, well-defined and measurable financial criteria. The
satisfaction of criteria for awarding variable remuneration shall
be measured over a period of one year. The variable remuneration
may amount to not more than 50 percent of the total fixed salary
under the measurement period for the CEO and not more than 30
percent of the total fixed salary under the measurement period
forother senior executives. The criteria for variable remuneration
shall mainly relate to the group’s profitability and working capi-
tal development. Variable remuneration may also be related to
individual criteria. The criteria shall be designed so as to contrib-
ute to the company's business strategy and long-term interests,
including its sustainability. Further variable remuneration may
be awarded in extraordinary circumstances, provided that such
extraordinary arrangements are limited in time and only made on



anindividualbasis, either forthe purpose of recruiting orretaining
executives, or as remuneration for extraordinary performance
beyond the individual's ordinary tasks. Such remuneration may
not exceed an amount corresponding to 50 percent of the fixed
annual salary and may not be paid more than once each year per
individual.

For the CEOQ, pension benefits shall be premium-based. The pen-
sion premiums for premium-based pension shall amount to not
more than 35 percent of the pension based salary. For other exec-
utives, pension benefits shall be based on a contractual ITP plan
orbe premium-based, unlesstheindividual concernedissubjectto
defined-benefit pension under mandatory collective agreement
provisions. Variable cash remuneration shall qualify for pension
benefits. Pension premiums that follow from the contractual ITP
plan or are premium-based, shall amount to not more than 35
percent of the pension based salary, unless other premium levels
apply accordingtoapplicable TP plan.

Otherbenefitsmayinclude, forexample, lifeinsurance, healthand
medical insurance and company cars. Such benefits may amount
tonotmorethan 20 percent of the fixed annual salary.

The notice period may not exceed 24 months if notice of termi-
nation of employment is made by the company for the CEO and
twelve months for other executives. Fixed salary during the
period of notice and severance pay may together not exceed an
amountequivalenttothe CEO's fixed salary for twoyears, and one
year for other executives. When termination is made by the exec-
utive, the notice period may not exceed six months, without any
righttoseverance pay.

The Annual General Meeting held on 26 April 2021 approved the
Board's proposal that the annual programmes for variable remu-
neration should be supplemented with along-termincentive (LTI)
programme. The LTI programme comprises the two financial years
2021 and 2022 and is targeted in a way that makes it particularly
favourable for the company's shareholders. The outcome of the
LTI programme for senior executives of the Nederman group may
amount to a maximum of 35 percent of annual salary for the CEO
and 14-20 percent of annual salary for other senior executives.
An outcome requires that a minimum level of accumulated earn-
ings per share established for the 2021 and 2022 financial years
is achieved or exceeded. The remuneration for the senior execu-
tive according to the terms and conditions (net after tax) is to be
investedin Nederman shares. The shareholding must be retained
by the senior executive for aminimum of three years. Investment
in shares can be made via the exchange or through the transfer
of treasury shares, with the Board of Directors intending in the
case of the latter to submit a proposal for resolution on the trans-
fer of treasury shares at the 2022 Annual General Meeting. In the
event of afull outcome, the cost for LTI 2021-2022is estimated to
amount toapproximately SEK5.2m.

INTERNALCONTROL

Control environment. Operational decisions are made at the
company or business area level, while decisions about strategy,
aims, acquisitions and comprehensive financial issues are made
by the parent company's Board and Group management. The
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internal controls within the group are designed to function in this
organisation. The group has clear rules and regulations for dele-
gating responsibility and authority in accordance with the group’s
structure. The platform forinternal controls of financial reporting
consists of the comprehensive control environment and organ-
isation, decision processes, authorisations and responsibilities
which have been documented and communicated. In the group,
the most significant components are documented in the form
of instructions and policies in finance, ethics (Code of Conduct),
communication, IT security, integrity, sustainability and quality,
whistleblowing, export and sanctions, anti-corruption and fraud,
anti-trust, diversity, health and safety, risk management, remu-
neration and authorisation instructions. Nederman has a simple
legaland operational structure and established management and
internal control systems. The Board of Directors follows up on the
assessment of the internal control, including through manage-
mentreportingtothe Audit Committeeand through contactswith
theNederman’sauditors. The Board of Directors haschosennotto
have a specialinternal audit.

Control activities. To safeguard the internal contrals, there are
both automated controls, such as authorisation controls in the IT
system and approval controls, as well as manual controls such as
reconciliations and stock-taking. Financial analyses of the results
aswellas follow-up of plansandforecastsare used to supplement
the controls and give a comprehensive confirmation of the quality
of thereporting.

Information and communication. Documentation of governing
policies and instructions are continuously updated and commu-
nicated in electronic or printed format. For communications with
external parties, there is a communication policy that contains
guidelines for ensuring that the company’s information obliga-
tionsareappliedfullyand correctly.

Follow-up. The CEO is responsible for ensuring that the internal
controlsare organised and followed up according to the guidelines
decided on by the Board. Financial management and controlis car-
ried out by the group’s finance function. Financial reportingisana-
lysedmonthly andatadetailed level. The Board has addressed the
Company's financial position atits meetings and has also received
reportsandobservations from the Company’s auditor.

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

The Articles of Association stipulate the company’s activities, the
number of Board members and auditors, how notification of the
AnnualGeneralMeetingistobemade, thematterstobeaddressed
atthe Annual GeneralMeetingandwhere the Meetingistobeheld.
The General meeting of shareholders has full decision-making
power concerningamendmentsinthe Articles of Association. The
current Articles of Assaociation were adopted at the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting on 27 April 2020, and can be found on the company's
website at www.nedermangroup.comandin the annual report for
2021onpagel33.
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The board of directors’ proposal
for guidelines for executive

remuneration

The board of directors of Nederman Holding AB (“Nederman” or
the “company”) proposes that the annual general meeting 2022
resolves on the following guidelines for executive remuneration.
In relation to the current guidelines, the proposal means that the
company has added sustainability goals linked to the business
with regard to criteria for variable remuneration. Otherwise, the
guidelinesare unchanged.

Nederman's group management fallwithinthe provisions of these
guidelines. The guidelines are forward-looking and as such are
applicable to remuneration agreed, and amendments to remu-
neration already agreed, after adoption of the guidelines by the
annual general meeting 2022. These guidelines do not apply to
anyremuneration decided orapproved by the general meeting.

THE GUIDELINES' PROMOTION OF NEDERMAN'S
BUSINESS STRATEGY, LONG-TERMINTERESTS AND
SUSTAINABILITY

In short, the company'’s business strategy is to be “the Clean Air
Company”,andtouse Nederman'sindustrial airfiltration expertise
and solutions and services to protect people, planet and produc-
tion from the harmful effects of industrial processes. In this way,
Nederman helps to create safer workplaces, efficient production
and provide significant environmental benefits. A prerequisite
for the successful implementation of the company’'s business
strategy and safeguarding of its long-term interests, including its
sustainability,isthatthe companyisabletorecruitandretaingual-
ified personnel. The objective of Nederman’'s guidelines forexecu-
tive remuneration is therefore to offer competitive remuneration
on market terms, so that competent and skillful personnel can be
attracted, motivated and retained. These guidelines enable the
company to offer the executive management competitive total
remuneration. For more information regarding the company’s
businessstrategy, please see www.nedermangroup.com.

A long-term share-related incentive plan has been implemented
in the company. The plan has been proposed to and resolved by
the general meeting every other year, and was last resolved by
the 2021 general meeting and is therefore excluded from these
guidelines. The plan incorporates group management members.
The performance criteria used to assess the outcome of the plan
is total earnings per share and is thereby distinctly linked to the
business strategy and the company’s long-term value creation,
including its sustainability. The plan is further conditional upon a
holding period of atleast three years.

TYPES OF REMUNERATION
Theremuneration shall be on market terms and may consist of the
following components: fixed

salary, variable remuneration, pension benefits and other bene-
fits. Additionally, the general meeting may - irrespective of these
guidelines - resolve on, among other things, share-related or
share price-related remuneration. The remuneration committee
shall monitor and evaluate remuneration for the executive man-
agement however allremuneration for the CEQis approved by the
board of directors.

Fixedsalary
Fixed salary is paid for satisfactory work.

Variableremuneration

The variable remuneration shall be linked to predetermined,
well-defined and measurable financial criteria. The satisfaction
of criteria for awarding variable remuneration shall be measured
over a period of one year. The variable remuneration may amount
to not more than 50 per cent of the total fixed salary under the
measurement period for the CEO and not more than 30 per cent
of the total fixed salary under the measurement period for oth-
er senior executives. The criteria for variable remuneration shall
mainly relate to the group'’s profitability, working capital develop-
ment and sustainability goals that are linked to the business. In
addition, individual criteria may be established. The criteria shall
be designed so as to contribute to the company’s business strat-
egy and long-term interests, including its sustainability and since
Nederman'’s business strategy is to be “the Clean Air Company" by
protectingpeople, planetandproductionfromthe harmfuleffects
of industrial processes, the criteria for variable remuneration,
which are connected to the sale of the company's solutions and
services withinindustrial air filtration, willinevitably contribute to
the company'slong-terminterestand sustainability.

Othervariableremuneration

Further variable remuneration may be awarded in extraordinary
circumstances, provided that such extraordinary arrangements
are limited in time and only made on an individual basis, either for
the purpose of recruiting or retaining executives, or as remuner-
ation for extraordinary performance beyond the individual's ordi-
nary tasks. Remuneration for extraordinary circumstances is not
measurable, but the possibility forthe board of directors todecide
on such remuneration is considered important by the board of
directors for the purpose of recruiting or retaining executives, or
as remuneration for extraordinary work. Such remuneration may
not exceed an amount corresponding to 50 per cent of the fixed
annual salary and may not be paid more than once each year per
individual. Any resolution on such remuneration shall be made by
the board of directors based on a proposal from the remuneration
committee.



Pension benefits

For the CEQ, pension benefits shall be premium defined. The pen-
sion premiums for premium defined pension shall amount to not
more than 35 per cent of the pension based salary. For other exec-
utives, pension benefits shall be based on a contractual ITP plan
or be premium defined, unless the individual concerned is subject
todefinedbenefit pensionunder mandatory collective agreement
provisions. Variable cash remuneration shall qualify for pension
benefits. Pension premiums that follow from the contractual ITP
plan or are premium defined, shall amount to not more than 35
per cent of the pension based salary, unless other premium levels
apply accordingtoapplicable TP plan.

For employment governed by rules other than Swedish, pension
benefits and other benefits may be duly adjusted for compliance
with mandatory rules or established local practice, taking into
account, to the extent possible, the overall purpose of these
guidelines.

Otherbenefits

Otherbenefitsmayinclude, forexample, lifeinsurance, healthand
medical insurance and company cars. Such benefits may amount
tonotmore than 20 per centof the fixed annual salary.

CRITERIAFORAWARDING VARIABLE REMUNERATION
The remuneration committee shall monitor and evaluate pro-
grams for variable remuneration for the executive management.
To which extent the criteria for awarding variable remuneration
hasbeensatisfied shallbe evaluated when the measurementperi-
od has ended. The remuneration committee is responsible for the
evaluation so far as it concerns variable remuneration to the CEQO.
Forvariable remuneration to other executives, the CEQis respon-
sible for the evaluation. For financial criteria, the evaluation shall
be based on the latest financial information made public by the
company. Variable cash remuneration can be paid after the com-
pletion of a measurement period or be subject to deferred pay-
ment. The board of directors shallhave the possibility, under appli-
cable law or contractual provisions, to in whole or in part reclaim
variableremuneration paid onincorrect grounds (claw-back).

TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT

The notice period may not exceed twenty four months if notice of
termination of employment is made by the company for the CEO
and twelve months for other executives. Fixed salary during the
period of notice and severance pay may together not exceed an
amountequivalentto the CEO's fixed salary for two years, and one
year for other executives. When termination is made by the exec-
utive, the notice period may not exceed six months, without any
righttoseverance pay.
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SALARY ANDEMPLOYMENT

CONDITIONS FOREMPLOYEES

In the preparation of the board of directors' proposal for these
remuneration guidelines, salary and employment conditions
for employees of the company have been taken into account by
including information on the employees' total income, the com-
ponents of the remuneration and increase and growth rate over
time, in the remuneration committee’s and the board of directors'’
basis of decision when evaluating whether the guidelines and the
limitationssetouthereinarereasonable.

THE DECISION-MAKING PROCESS TO DETERMINE,
REVIEW AND IMPLEMENT THE GUIDELINES

The board of directors has previously established a remuneration
committee. The committee’s tasks include preparing the board
of directors’ decision to propose guidelines for executive remu-
neration. The board of directors shall prepare a proposal for new
guidelines at least every fourth year and submit it to the general
meeting. The guidelines shall be in force until new guidelines are
adopted by the general meeting. The remuneration committee
shall also monitor and evaluate programs for variable remunera-
tion for the executive management, the application of the guide-
lines for executive remuneration as well as the current remuner-
ation structures and compensation levels in the company. The
members of the remuneration committee are independent of the
company andits executive management. The CEOand other mem-
bers of the executive management do not participate in the board
of directors’ processing of and resolutions regarding remunera-
tion-related mattersinsofarastheyareaffected by suchmatters.

DEROGATION FROM THE GUIDELINES

The board of directors may temporarily resolve to derogate from
the guidelines, in whole orin part, if in a specific case there is spe-
cial cause for the derogation and a derogation is necessary to
servethecompany'slong-terminterests, includingits sustainabil-
ity, orto ensure the company's financial viability. As set out above,
the remuneration committee’s tasks include preparing the board
of directors’ resolutions in remuneration-related matters. This
includesany resolutions toderogate from the guidelines.

Shareholder’s views
The board of directors has not received any views from the share-
holdersonthe guidelines forexecutive remuneration.
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Board of Directors

JOHANHJERTONSSON (1968)

Chairman of the Board since 2019. Elected 2018.

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

GUNILLAFRANSSON (1960)
Elected by the Annual General Meeting.
Elected 2016.

YLVAOPDEN VELDEHAMMARGREN (1966)
Elected by the Annual General Meeting. Elected
2011. Chairman of the Audit Committee.

Education: M.Sc.in Business Administration
Swedishcitizen

Currentactivities: Presidentand CEO and
member of the Board of Investment AB Latour.
Chairmanof Alimak Group AB.Member of the
Board of ASSAABLOY ABand Sweco AB.
Previouskeyroles: Presidentand CEO of AB
Fagerhultand Lammhults Design Group AB.
Senior positionsinproduct developmentand
marketingin the Electrolux Group.
Shareholding: 5,000 shares

Dependency: Dependentinrelationtothe
company's major shareholders.

SVENKRISTENSSON (1962)
Elected by the Annual General Meeting.
Elected 2008.

Education:M.Sc.Eng.andLicentiate Technology
Swedishcitizen

Currentactivities: Chairman of Netinsight AB.
Member of the Board of Dunkerintressena, Eltel
AB, Securitas AB, Trelleborg ABand Weibel
ScientificA/S.

Previouskeyroles: Various management
positionswithin SaabABand Ericsson AB.
Shareholding: 800 shares
Dependency:Independent

JOHAN MENCKEL (1971)
Elected by the Annual General Meeting. Elected
2016. Member of the Remuneration Committee.

Education:M.Sc.Eng. Mining Engineering
Swedishcitizen

Currentactivities:Manager ProductLine
ManagementEngine, Vehicle Aftermarketat AB
SKF.Member of the Board of S6drasince 2017.
Previouskeyroles: -

Shareholding:-

Dependency:Independent

SAMSTROMERSTEN (1955)
Elected by the Annual General Meeting. Elected
2019. Member of the Audit Committee.

Education: The Swedish Air Force. University of
Linkdping.

Swedishcitizen

Currentactivities: Presidentand CEO of
NedermanHolding AB.Chairman of the Board of
BKPacAB, Diedenporten ABandKristensson
Holding AB. Vice Chairman of the Board of DrP
Hakonssonsstiftelser.

Member of the Board of Swegon AB.
Previouskeyroles: Various positionsin medical
technology (Group managementof Getinge AB),
and packaging (Group management of AB
Akerlund & Rausing),amongothers.
Shareholding: 332,158 shares
Dependency:Dependentinrelationtothe
company.

Education: M.Sc.Industrial Economics, Royal
Institute of Technology (KTH)

Swedishcitizen

Currentactivities: EVP, Chief Investment Officer,
Investment AB Latour, Member of the Board

of SaabAB, Securitas AB,and member of the
Steering Committee of the World Materials
Forum.

Previouskeyroles: Presidentand CEO of Granges
AB.Member of the Board of the Swedish Chamber
of CommerceinChina.CEO of SapaHeat Transfer
and SapaHeat Transfer Shanghai.Management
consultantatAccentureand founderof
addnature.com.

Shareholding: 4,000 shares

Dependency: Dependentinrelationtothe
company'smajorshareholders

Education:M.Sc.Eng. Mechanical Engineering
LTH80

Swedishcitizen

Currentactivities: -

Previouskeyroles: CEO & President of Sidel, EVP
Supply Chainat TetraPakand EVP Processing
Systemsat Tetra Pak

Shareholding: 500 shares
Dependency:Independent
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SVENKRISTENSSON (1962)
Presidentand CEO

MATTHEW CUSICK (1377)
SVP,CFO

HANS DAHLEN (1968)
SVP, Head of Division Extraction &
Filtration Technology
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TOMASHAGSTROM (1976)
SVP, Head of Division Process
Technology

Employed 2001

Swedishcitizen

Education: The Swedish AirForce.
University of Linkdping.
Currentactivities: Chairman of the
Board of BKPac AB, Diedenporten AB
andKristenssonHolding AB. Vice
Chairmanof the Board of DrP
Hakonssons stiftelser. Member of the
Board of Swegon AB.

Shareholding: 332,158 shares

Employed 2011

Swedish/UK citizen
Education:B.A. Accountingand
Finance
Currentactivities:Noother
activities

Shareholding: 1,506 shares

Employed2013

Swedishcitizen
Education:M.Sc.Eng. Chemical
Engineering
Currentactivities:Nootheractivities
Shareholding: 4,860 shares.

Employed2017
Swedish/UScitizen
Education:M.Sc.Electrical
Engineering, B.Sc.inBusiness
Economicsand MBA
Currentactivities:Noother
activities

Shareholding: 540shares

KETILGORMPAULSEN (1961)

THOMAS NIKLASSON (1970)

JEPPERASMUSSEN (1962)

JOAKIMRYRSTEDT (1974)

SVP, Head of Division Monitoring&  SVP, Marketing & Communications SVP, Head of Division Duct & Filter ~ SVP,CIO
Control Technology Technology
Employed 2017 Employed 2014 Employed 2019 Employed 2021

Norwegian citizen

Education: M.Sc. Physics/Civil
Engineer, Master of Management
Currentactivities: Noother
activities

Shareholding: -

EVA CARIN SVENSSON (1964)
SVP, Human Resources

Swedishcitizen

Education: M.ScBusiness & Economics
Currentactivities:Nootheractivities

Shareholding:1,000 shares

ERIKWAHN (1980)

SVP, Corporate Strategy & Business

Development

Employed 2009

Swedishcitizen

Education: B.Sc.inHuman Resources
Management & LabourRelations
Currentactivities:Nootheractivities
Shareholding: 4,975 shares

Employed 2019
Swedishcitizen

Education:M.ScBusiness & Economics
Currentactivities: Chairmanof the
Board of pejAB,Member of the Board

of PolynomInvestment AB
Shareholding: -

Danishcitizen
Education:M.Sc.Ph.D.Marine
Engineering

Currentactivities:

Member of the Board of New Nordic
EngineeringA/S

Shareholding: -

Swedishcitizen
Education:M.ScBusiness
Administration
Currentactivities:Nootheractivities
Shareholding:125shares
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Consolidated income statement

1January-31December

SEKm Note 2021 2020
Netsales 5.6 4,041.8 3,674.8
Costofgoodssold 9 -2,518.5 -2,282.0
Gross profit 1,523.3 1,392.8
Sellingexpenses 9 -702.1 -691.1
Administrativeexpenses 9 -335.1 -306.0
Researchanddevelopementexpenses 9 -57.0 -69.3
Acquisitioncosts 4,9 -13 -16
Restructuringcosts 9 - -75.0
Otheroperatingincomeandexpenses 7.9 311 -30.8
Operatingprofit 5,8,10,15,24,27 458.9 219.0
Financialincome 34 1.2
Financialexpenses -45.2 -71.7
Netfinancialitems 1 -41.8 -70.5
Profitbeforetax 417.1 148.5
Taxes 12 -111.8 -38.1
Netprofitfortheyear 305.3 110.4
Netprofitattributable to

Parentcompany'sshareholders 305.3 1104
Earningspershare 20 8.70 3.15

Consolidated statement of comprehensiveincome

1January-31December
SEKm Note 2021 2020

Netprofitfortheyear 305.3 110.4
Othercomprehensiveincome
Itemsthatcannotbereclassified totheincomestatement

Revaluation of defined-benefit pension plans 24 19.0 -6.4
Taxattributable torevaluation of defined-benefit pension plans -3.8 15
15.2 -4.9

Itemsthathavebeenorcanbereclassifiedtonetprofit
Exchangedifferencesarisingontranslation of foreign operations 131.2 -186.7
131.2 -186.7
Othercomprehensiveincomefortheyear, netaftertax 146.4 -191.6
Total comprehensiveincomefortheyear 451.7 -81.2

Totalcomprehensiveincomeattributable to
Parentcompany'sshareholders 451.7 -81.2
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Consolidated statement of financial position

31December
SEKm Note 2021 2020
Assets
Intangiblefixedassets 13 2,062.4 19333
Tangiblefixedassets 14 316.8 299.2
Right-of-useassets 15 1923 2144
Long-termreceivables 56 56
Deferredtaxassets 12 68.5 283
Totalfixedassets 2,645.6 2,480.8
Inventory 16 6131 483.9
Taxassets 12 511 613
Accountsreceivable 17,26 623.0 477.0
Otherreceivables 18,26 209.2 238.7
Prepaidexpensesandaccruedincome 19 45.4 41.0
Cashandcashequivalents 26,30 5416 466.8
Totalcurrentassets 2,083.4 1,768.7
Totalassets 5 4,729.0 4,249.5
Equity 20
Sharecapital 1.2 1.2
Othercapital contributed 3459 3459
Reserves 773 -539
Retainedearningsincluding net profit 1,293.0 1,007.6
Equityattributable tothe parentcompany’sshareholders 1,717.4 1,300.8
Totalequity 1,717.4 1,300.8
Liabilities
Long-terminterest-bearingliabilities 3,21,26 1,304.6 1,536.7
Long-termleaseliabilities 3,21,26 1331 166.4
Otherlong-termliabilities 22,26 236 2.1
Pensionprovisions 24 102.2 151.1
Otherprovisions 25 19.2 16.5
Deferredtaxliabilities 12 715 214
Totallong-termliabilities 1,654.2 1,894.2
Currentleaseliabilities 3,21,26 69.5 63.1
Accountspayable 3,26 4119 334.5
Currenttaxliabilities 12 94.7 70.1
Otherliabilities 22,26 5194 355.2
Accruedexpensesand prepaidincome 23,26 2209 179.7
Provisions 25 41.0 519
Totalcurrentliabilities 1,357.4 1,054.5
Totalliabilities 5 3,011.6 2,948.7

Totalequityandliabilities 4,729.0 4,249.5
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Consolidated statement of changesin equity

Equityattributable tothe parentcompany'sshareholders

Retained
Other earnings

Share contributed Translation Hedging includingthis Total
SEKm capital capital reserve reserve  year'sprofit equity
Openingequity 2020-01-01 1.2 345.9 1328 1.2 900.9 1,382.0
Adjustedhedgingreserve (seenote 20) - - - -1.2 1.2 -
Adjustedequityatthe beginningof the period 1.2 3459 132.8 - 902.1 1,382.0
Netprofitfortheyear - - - - 1104 1104
Othercomprehensiveincome
Changeintranslationreservefortheyear - - -186.7 - - -186.7
Revaluation of defined- benefit pension plans, netaftertax - - - - -4.9 -49
Totalothercomprehensiveincome - - -186.7 - -4.9 -191.6
Total comprehensiveincomefortheyear - - -186.7 - 105.5 -81.2
Closingequity 2020-12-31 1.2 345.9 -53.9 - 1,007.6 1,300.8
Openingequity 2021-01-01 1.2 345.9 -539 - 1,007.6 1,3008
Netprofitfortheyear - - - - 305.3 305.3
Othercomprehensiveincome
Changeintranslationreserveforthe year - - 131.2 - - 131.2
Revaluation of defined- benefit pensionplans, netaftertax - - - - 15.2 15.2
Total othercomprehensiveincome - - 131.2 - 15.2 146.4
Totalcomprehensiveincomefortheyear - - 131.2 - 320.5 451.7
Transactionswith Group'sowners
Dividend paid - - -35.1 -35.1

Closingequity2021-12-31 1.2 345.9 77.3 - 1,293.0 1,717.4
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Consolidated cash flow statement

1January-31December

SEKm Note 2021 2020
Operatingactivities
Operating profit 4589 219.0
Adjustmentfor:

Depreciationandamortisation of fixedassets 1743 165.6

Otheradjustmentsfornoncashitems 30 -42.6 231
Interestreceived 2.1 1.2
Interestpaid -42.2 -58.6
Income tax paid -76.1 -67.1
Cashflowfromoperatingactivitiesbefore changesinworking capital 474.4 283.2
Cashflowfromchangesinworkingcapital
Increase (-)/Decrease (+)ininventories -92.8 83.8
Increase (-)/Decrease (+)inoperating receivables -86.1 126.0
Increase (-)/Decrease (+)inoperating liabilities 224.3 -165.5

45.4 44.3

Cashflowfromoperatingactivities 519.8 327.5
Investingactivities
Capitalexpenditureontangible fixedassets -39.2 -34.3
Salesof tangible fixedassets 1.7 0.6
Capitalexpenditure on capitalised development costs -41.0 -37.6
Capitalexpenditureonotherintangible fixed assets -28.8 -36.3
Acquisitionof subsidies/business, netof cash 4 -138 -74.0
Saleoffinancialassets 0.2 0.1
Cashflowfrominvestingactivities -120.9 -181.5
Financialactivities
Newloans 120.0 197.4
Changeininterest-bearingliabilities - -08
Amortisationof loans -367.7 -205.2
Amortisationof leaseliabilities -74.0 -70.4
Dividend paid to parentcompany shareholders -35.1 -
Cashflowfromfinancingactivities -356.8 -79.0
Cashflowfortheyear 42.1 67.0
Cashandcashequivalentsatthebeginningof theyear 466.8 4453
Translationdifferences 32.7 -45.5
Cashandcashequivalentsattheendoftheyear 30 541.6 466.8
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Notes to the Financial statements

Note Nedermangroup

1 Accounting policies

Acquisitions of business operations

Segment reporting

Revenue

Other operating revenue and expenses
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Expenses by nature
Fees and expenses to auditors
Financial income and expenses

Income tax

Intangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets

Right-of-use assets

Inventory

Accounts receivable

Other receivables

Prepaid expenses and accrued income

Equity and number of shares

Interest-bearing liabilities

Other liabilities

Accrued expenses and prepaid income
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Restructuring costs

Other operating revenue and expenses
Employees

Pensions

Leasing

Fees and expenses to auditors

Net financial items

Appropriations

Income tax

Intangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets

Shares and participations

Other receivables

Prepaid expenses and accrued income
Other liabilities

Accrued expenses and prepaid income
Pledged assets and contingent liabilities
Related party transactions

Cash flow

Appropriation of profit or loss

Events after the end of the reporting period




1 Accounting policies

Compliancewithlawsandstandards

The consolidated financial statements for Nederman Holding AB and its sub-
sidiaries were prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS)issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)
asadopted by the European Union (EU). Theannual reportwas preparedinaccor-
dance with IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements, and in accordance with
the Swedish Annual Accounts Act. In addition, RFR 1 Supplementary Account-
ing Rules for groups, issued by the Swedish Financial Reporting Board, has been
applied.

Nedermangroup’saccountingpolicies
Nedermangroupdescribesitsaccountingpoliciesinconjunctionwitheachnoteto
provideincreased understanding of eachreporting area. See the table below for
thereferencetothenoteinwhicheachrespectiveaccountingpolicy canbefound
thatisconsideredtohaveamaterialimpact.

Accountingpolicies Note
Business acquisitions and 4 Acquisition of business
divestments operations

Operating segment 5 Segment reporting
Revenue 6 Revenue

Employee benefits 8 Employees

Incentive programme 8 Employees

Financial income and expenses 11 Financial income and expenses
Income tax 12 Income tax

Research and development 13 Intangible fixed assets
Customer relations 13 Intangible fixed assets
Trademarks 13 Intangible fixed assets
Goodwill 13 Intangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets 14 Tangible fixed assets
Leasing 15 Right-of-use assets
Inventory 16 Inventory

Earnings per share 20 Equity and number of shares
Dividend 20 Equity and number of shares

Pensions and similar obligations 24 Provisions for pensions and
similar obligations

Restructuring costs 25 Other provisions
Warranty commitments 25 Other provisions
28 Pledged assets and contingent

liabilities

Government grants 27 Government grants

Contingent liabilities 28 Pledged assets and contingent
liabilities

Cash flow statement 30 Cash flow

Financial instruments 3 Goal and policy regarding
financial risk

17 Accounts receivable

18 Otherreceivables

21 Interest-bearing liabilities
22 Other liabilities

26 Financial instruments

Consolidationprinciples

The consolidatedfinancial statements comprise the parentcompany, Nederman
Holding AB, with its subsidiaries. Inter-company receivables and liabilities, reve-
nue and expenses, and unrealised gains and losses arising from inter-company
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transactions between group companies are eliminated in their entirety when
preparing the consolidated financialstatements.

RestatementtoSwedishkronauponconsolidationofother

functional currencies

The parentcompany’s functional currency is the Swedish kronawhichisalso the
reporting currency of the parent company and the group. This means that the
financial statements are presented in Swedish kronor. Unless otherwise stated,
allamountsareroundedtothenearestmillion.

Each group company's functional currency is determined based on the primary
financial environment in which it conducts its operations. The primary financial
environmentisusually thatinwhichthecompany primarily generatesandutilises
cashandcashequivalents.Inmost cases, the functional currencyis the currency
inwhichthe companyislocated. Assets and liabilities of foreign entities (none of
whichhasahyperinflationary currency), includinggoodwilland other consolidat-
edsurplus values and deficits, are translated from the foreign entity's functional
currencytothegroup'sreportingcurrency attheexchangerate prevailingonthe
balance sheet date. Revenue and expenses of foreign entities are translated to
Swedishkronoratanaverageexchangerate. Translationdifferencesarisingfrom
currency translation of foreign subsidiaries are recognised in a separate compo-
nent in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity designated as
the translationreserve. On disposal, the hereto attributable accumulated trans-
lation differences, previously recognised in the consolidated statement of total
comprehensiveincome, arerealisedin the consolidated income statementinthe
same periodastheprofitorlossonthesale.

Transactionsandbalancesheetitemsinforeigncurrency

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency for the report-
ing company are restated to the functional currency at the exchange rate that
applies on the transaction date. Assets and liabilities in other currencies are
restated to the functional currency using the rate on the balance sheet date.
Translation differences attributable to operating receivables and liabilities are
recognised as other operating income and other operating expenses, respec
tively, in operating profit/loss, while gains and losses on financial assets and lia-
bilitiesarerecognisedin netfinancialitems.

Classifications

Fixed assets and non-current liabilities essentially consist of amounts expected
toberecoveredorsettledaftermorethan12monthscalculatedfromthebalance
sheet date. Current assets and current liabilities consist essentially of amounts
expected to be recovered or settled within 12 months calculated from the bal-
ancesheetdateandamountswherethegrouphasanunconditionalrighttodefer
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

Newaccountingpoliciesin2021andlater

New and amended standards and interpretations applied to the financial year
beginning 1 January 2021 or later had no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.Nonew oramendedIFRS hasbeenappliedinadvance.

Newaccountingpoliciesin2022andlater

New and amended IFRS that have not yet come into force and have not been
appliedinadvanceinthe preparationof the group's financial statements.None of
these hasanymaterialimpacton thegroup'sfinancial statements.



86 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Important estimations and assessments

Preparation of Nederman Holding AB's consolidated financial statements
requires that a number of estimates and assumptions are made regarding the
future, which could affect the recognised values of assets and liabilities at the
time of the financial statements and revenues and expenses for the periods
presented.Inpreparing the financialstatements, themanagementmadeitsbest
estimates of certain amounts that are included in the financial statements in
respect of their materiality. Actual results may differ from earlier estimates. Esti-
mates and assumptions are reviewed on a regular basis. Changes in estimates
and assessmentsare recognised in the period in which the change is made if the
change affects only that period, orin the period in which the change is made and

future periods if the change affects both current and future periods. In accor-
dance with IAS 1, the company must provide disclosure on the assumptions and
othermajor sources of estimation uncertainty which, if theactual outcome does
notcorrespond, couldhave materialimpactonthe financial statements.

The sources of uncertainty in estimates and critical assessments identified by
Nederman group, and that can be regarded as meeting these criteria, are pre-
sented in connection with the items that they are deemed to affect. The table
showswhere thesedescriptionsappear.

Sources toestimationuncertaintyandcriticaljudgements Note
Conditional earn-out payments 4 Acquisition of business operations
Revenue recognition relating to sales of solutions (project sales) 6 Revenue

Deferred tax and uncertainty in income tax processes

12 Income tax

Examination for impairment of goodwill and other intangible fixed assets

13 Intangible fixed assets

Measurement of right-of-use assets

15 Right-of-use assets

Obsolescence provision inventory

16 Inventory

Provision for expected credit losses

17 Accounts receivable

Assumptions in calculation of pensions and similar obligations

24 Provisions for pensions and similar obligations

Provisions for product guarantees

25 Other provisions

3 Goal and policy regarding financial risk

Nederman is exposed to a number of risks that could significantly impact the
group’s operations, earnings and financial position, in the form of liquidity risk,
interest risk, credit risk and currency risk. Nederman conducts continuous risk
assessments that include identifying the risks thatimpact the group and taking
measures to manage theserisks. Itis the Board of Directors that determines the
policiesforriskmanagement. TheNedermangrouphasacentralfinancefunction
whichis responsible for identifying and effectively limiting the group’s financial
risks. Thefinance functionreportsviathe CFO to the Board of Directors.

Liquidityrisks
LiguidityriskspertaintotheriskthatNedermangroupmaybeunabletofinanceor
refinanceitsassetsormeetitspaymentobligations.

The group has a financing agreement with Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken (SEB)
and Svenska Handelsbanken (SHB) for SEK 1,500m and a financing agreement
with Svenska Handelsbanken (SHB) for SEK 200m. In addition, the group has
a bilateral loan agreement with Svensk Export Kredit (SEK) for SEK 300m. The
agreementshaveathreeyearmaturity withextension options foroneadditional
year. The agreements mature in May 2023 on exercise of the option. At the end
of the year, the scope within the agreement with SEB and SHB had been utilised
in an amount of SEK 1,008m (1,242). Accordingly, at the end of the period, the
group hada credit facility of SEK 432m (258) within Nederman'sloan agreement
with SEBand SHB, as well as SEK 200m within Nederman's loan agreement with
SHB. At the end of the year, the scope within the agreement with SEK had been
fullyutilised.During theyear, borrowingamounted to SEK120m (200) and repay-
mentstoSEK368m (205).[fNederman'scurrentlargestshareholder, Investment
AB Latour, ceases to be the largest shareholder, the banks have the right under
certainconditionstoterminate theagreement prematurely.

The group’s agreement with SEB, SHB and SEK contain net debt covenants by
which the performance measure net debt/EBITDA may amount to a maximum
multipleof 3.5and theinterest-coverageratiomaynotbelessthan3.75. Allcove-
nantswerefulfilledonthebalancesheetdate.

Thegroup's financialliabilities, excluding pension provisions, at year-end totalled
SEK1,507.2m, of which SEK1,304.6minrevolvingcredit facilitiesand SEK202.6m
inleaseliabilities. The overdraftfacilities were not utilised.

Thegrouphad SEK541.6mincashand cashequivalentsand SEK105.7min unuti-
lised overdraft facilities. In addition, there was a further credit facility of SEK
692 1mwithinthe framework of Nederman's loan agreement with SEBand SHB.
Accordingly, there were available funds totalling SEK1,339.4m on 31 December
2021. Theliquidityinthe groupis notexposedtolarge seasonal fluctuations.

According tothegroup’s financial policy, cash and cashequivalents are deposited
onlyinreputablebanks (“first-classbanks").

Interestraterisks

Interestrisk pertains to therisk that changedinterestlevels could impact Neder-
man group’s income and cash flow. The Nederman group is exposed to interest
raterisk throughits net debt. The group’s bankloans have floating interest rates
oramaximum term of six months, according to the funding agreement with the
group’'s lenders. A change in the interest rate of 1 percentage point would have
affectednetfinancialitemsin2021by SEK12.6m(15.1), calculated onaveragenet
debt for the year. The Nederman group has determined that reasonable chang-
esininterest rates do not affect the group’s earnings to such a material extent
that there is a need to secure interest rates through financial instruments. This
assessment is updated on an ongoing basis and may be reviewed in the event of
anincreaseinloanexposure.

Thefollowingtableshowstheeffectiverateofinterestonthebalancesheetdate
and the financial liabilities' maturity structure and interest rate negotiations. As
of 2021, thematuritystructureof thefinancialliabilitiesis presented based onlia-
bilities that mature within sixmonths, betweensixand 12 months, betweenone
andtwoyears, betweentwoandfiveyears,andaftermorethanfiveyears, which
areassessedtobemorerelevantandfairtime periods. Restatement of compara-
tive figures was not possible and the maturity structure for the liabilitiesin 2020
arepresentedinaccordance with thetime periods previously applied.

Theeffectiverateofinterestwas1.53percent(2.17).
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3 Goal and policy regarding financial risk, continued

Nominal
Interest amount Between

extension Interest inoriginal Within 6and12 Between Between Laterthan
2021,SEKm Currency time rate  currency Total 6months months land2yrs 2and5yrs 5yrs
Bank loan (revolving) SEK  2022-03-07 0.700% 110.0 112.2 0.8 08 110.6 - -
Bank loan (revolving) SEK  2022-03-08 0.700% 450.0 459.7 34 34 452.9 - -
Bank loan (revolving) SEK  2022-02-28 0.700% 46.5 47.6 0.4 0.4 46.8 -
Bank loan (revolving) SEK  2022-02-28 0.700% 200.0 204.3 15 15 201.3 - -
Bank loan (revolving) SEK  2022-01-13 0.700% 120.0 122.6 0.9 09 1208 - -
Bank loan (revolving) USD 2022-02-28 0.980% 9.0 831 0.6 06 81.9 -
Bank loan SEK  2022-02-26  0.700% 300.0 306.5 23 23 3019 - -
Lease liabilities 2026 31.1 38.5 45.8 613 259
Accounts payable 4119 378.5 26.4 3.4 36 -
Total 1,950.5 419.5 74.8 1,365.4 64.9 25.9

Nominal
Interest amount Between

extension Interest inoriginal Within 3and12 Between Between Laterthan
2020, SEKm Currency time rate  currency Total 3months months land3yrs 3and5yrs 5yrs
Bank loan (revolving) SEK  2021-02-04 1.750% 110.0 1134 06 1.8 111.0 - -
Bank loan (revolving) SEK  2021-01-07 1.750% 450.0 463.8 2.4 7.3 454.1 - -
Bank loan (revolving) SEK  2021-02-26 1.750% 46.5 48.0 0.3 08 46.9 - -
Bank loan (revolving) SEK  2021-01-25 1.750% 200.0 206.1 11 3.2 201.8 - -
Bank loan (revolving) EUR 2021-02-26 1.750% 14.2 147.0 0.8 2.3 1439 - -
Bank loan (revolving) EUR 2021-01-22 1.750% 7.7 79.7 0.4 13 78.0 - -
Bank loan (revolving) USD 2021-01-29 2.064% 26.3 222.0 1.2 35 2173 - -
Bank loan SEK  2021-02-26 1.750% 300.0 309.2 16 4.9 302.7 - -
Lease liabilities 2295 178 453 1112 25.1 30.1
Accounts payable 334.5 294.7 39.8 - - -
Total 2,153.2 320.9 110.2 1,666.9 25.1 30.1
Creditrisks

The risk that the group’s customers might not pay their accounts receivable and
contractassetsconstitutesacustomercreditrisk. Tolimit thisrisk, the Nederman
group employs credit policies that limit outstandingamounts and the credit peri-
odfordifferentcustomers.Fornewcustomersandnew markets, lettersof credit
or advance payments normally apply. For established customer relationships,
credit limits are carefully monitored to limit the risk. In some cases, credit insur-
ance is used to secure accounts receivable. The group’s largest individual cus-
tomeraccounted for 0.9 percent of sales. The five largest customers accounted
for 4.1 percent of sales. The company's risk spread can thus be regarded as very
good. Ongoing risk assessments are carried out of accounts receivable and con-
tractassets,andgiventhatcustomersoperateinseveraldifferentindustriesand
markets, therisksaredeemedtobelow.

Provisions for bad debts are based on expected credit losses for their remain-
ing time to maturity. Impairmentis carried out on an individual case assessment
basis. The group’s bad debt losses in 2021 amounted to SEK 5.5m (7.0). Of the
group’s total account receivables, net of the credit loss reserve, of SEK 623.0m,
3.5 percent (3.7) comprises accounts receivable overdue by more than S0 days.
At31December 2021, provisions for credit losses amounted to SEK 26.5m (25.7),
equivalent to 4.1 percent (5.1) of the gross total accounts receivable. See also
Notel7 Accountsreceivable.

In major projects recognised as contract assets or contract liabilities, payment
terms with a fixed payment plan are applied, with the payments based on fulfil-
ment of the performance obligation (degree of completion). Expected losses are
expensedassoonastheyareknown.

Foreigncurrencyrisks

Throughitsglobal operations, Nederman groupis exposed to currency risk since
exchange rate fluctuations affect the group’sincome and financial position. The
group’s currency exposure includes transaction exposure, financial exposure
andtranslationexposure. Transactionexposure arises when the group’s compa-

nies buy inone currency and sellin another currency. In order tolimit transaction
exposureintheNedermangroup, thegeneralruleis thatsupply companiessellto
sales companiesin the sales companies'local currencies. In this way, the transac-
tionexposureinsales companiesislow. Thelargest production companyislocat-
edinSwedenand 69 percent of purchases by this company are made in SEK.Oth-
er purchases are mainly in EUR and to a lesser extent in USD. Financial exposure
arises when exchange rate fluctuations impact the value of loans. Translation
exposure arises when exchange rate fluctuations affect the value of assets and
liabilitiesinforeign subsidiaries, which comprisesacurrency exposure of equity.

Invoicinginthegroupin2021

28%

21%

14%

7%

0%
USD EUR CNY NOK SEK CHF GBP DKK CAD INR PLN AUD HKD THB TRL Other

Invoicinginthe groupisbasedonthe group companies'functional currencies.
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3 Goal and policy regarding financial risk, continued

According to the group’s financial policy, 70 percent of the expected currency
flows in foreign currencies can be hedged for a maximum of eight months for-

Translationexposure
Net assets in the group are divided across the following currencies:

ward. In cases where there is currency exposure for tangible projects, the cur- Currency, SEKm 2021 2020
rency exposure is hedged. In 2021, Nederman group used no foreign exchange BRL 13.1 1% 8.1 0%
forwardstohedge currencyexposure. CAD 122 1% 49 0%
CHF -6.0 0% -34.4 -3%
Achangeinexchangeratesof +/-3percenthasanimpactonthe CNY 271 2% 17.8 1%
operatingprofitof: CzZK 176 1% 196 2%
2021 2020 DKK 7.0 0% -61.2 -5%
L b RO Wb =Rk EUR 246.7 14% 1546 12%
ChY 05 05 05 05 GBP 304 2% 25.4 2%
ER 04 04 4l 41 INR 93 1% 185 1%
GBP 05 05  -05 0.5 = e Bl
NOK 14 14 a1 11 NOK 308 2% 1.2 0%
PLN -2.5 2.5 16 1.6 PLN 1330 8% 1258 10%
UsD -2.7 2.7 -35 3.5 SEK 889.4 52% 838.6 64%
. : . . THB -68.8 -4% -67.4 -5%

The above table is based on the group’s net flows in these currencies as 5 5
well as the translation impact on the group's income Statement. TRL -163 -1% -187 -1%
usb 4139 24% 295.5 23%
Other -34 -1% 9.5 1%
Total 1,717.4 100% 1,300.8 100%

4 Acquisition of business operations

Accountingpolicies

Businessacquisitionsanddivestments

Business acquisitions are recognised according to the acquisition meth-
od. The cost of acquiring a business or company consists of the fair value
determined on the acquisition date of the acquired identifiable assets and
assumedliabilitiesand contingent liabilitiesandany non-controllinginterest.
The difference between the consideration transferred and the fair value
of the acquired identifiable assets and assumed liabilities and contingent

Estimationsandassessments

Conditional earn-outpayments

Conditional earn-out payments are disbursed fully or partially depending on
whetherfuture profitability levelsare metwithinadefined time period (max-
imum 24 months). The determination of the conditional earn-out payment

liabilities is recognised as goodwill if the difference is positive. If the differ-
enceisnegative, thisamountisrecognised directly in theincome statement.
Acquisition-related costs, such as fees for legal advice and due diligence, are
expensed. Financial statements from the acquired businesses are included
inthe consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition. Divest-
ed operations are consolidated until the date on which the controlling influ-
enceceases.

thus requires that estimations and assessments are made regarding profit-
abilityintheacquiredsubsidiary.

Nederman Holding AB's holding of shares and participationsin group companies at 31 December 2021 is presentedin the disclosuresin parent company Note 14 Shares

and participations.

EnergySave SystemLtd

0On 16 November 2021, Nederman acquired 100 percent of the shares in the UK
company Energy Save System Ltd. Energy Save System has developed leading
technology for energy savings in industrial air filtration processes and the com-
pany's product DESA is addressed to businesses that want to improve their air
quality and decrease their environmental impact in industrial operations, for
example in the wood, plastic, metalworking, food processing, pharmaceutical,
weldingand castingindustries. Through the acquisition, Nederman gains access
to leading technology and strengthens its market offering in all divisions and
markets. Energy Save Systemis included in the Nederman Monitoring & Control
Technology operating segment. The company is based in Kettering, Northamp-
tonshire. Energy Save System’s sales and profitability for 2021 were not material
forNedermanGroup.

The purchase priceamounted to SEK31.5m, of which SEK17.6m comprisedacon-
ditional earn-out payment based onthe performance of the operationsinthe 24
months dating from the time of acquisition. The conditional earn-out payment
canamounttoamaximumof GBP 1.5m, corresponding to SEK17.6m at the acqui-
sitiondate. At31December2021, themaximumearn-outpaymentwasexpected
tobepaid. Acquired netassetsamounted to SEK8.7mand the transactiongener-
atedgoodwill of SEK22.8m. Theacquisition'simpactonthe Group'scashandcash
equivalentsamounted to SEK13.8m. Theacquisitionanalysisis preliminary.

Intangible fixed assets amounted to SEK 13.7m and are essentially related to
developmentwork. Acquisition-related expenditure amounted to SEK 0.6mand
pertained to fees for consultants in conjunction with the transaction, including
duediligenceandlegaladvice. Thisexpenditure was chargedto operating profit.
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5 Segment reporting

Accountingpolicies

Operatingsegment

Thegroup'soperationsaremanagedandreportedbybusinesssegment. The
organisation of the operating segments is based on technology, customer
structureandbusinesslogic, withitsstartingpointinthegroup'strademarks.
This means that the operating segments are global. The group's internal
reporting system is built up in order to make it possible to follow the oper-
ating segments’ sales and operating profit. The segments are presented
basedonreportssubmittedtothe chief operatingdecision-makerinorderto
assess performanceandallocation of resources tothe segments. Segments
are measured and consolidated in accordance with the same principles as
for the group as a whole. Inter-company transactions within and between
segments take place on market conditions. The operating segments'results
include earnings up to adjusted EBITA. Earnings, assets and liabilities for the
segmentsincludedirectly attributableitems plusitemsthatcanbeallocated
to the segments in an appropriate way. Items that are recognised as “Other
- non-allocated"” pertain mostly to expenses related to the parent compa-
ny Nederman Holding AB, which includes the central main office functions,
such as Group management, Group finance, Group IT and Group HR. The
item “Other - non-allocated” also pertains to acquisition costs, restructur-
ing costs, financial income and expenses, and tax expenses. In 2021, other

operating income of SEK 29m was also included as a result of the discontin-
uation of the Norwegian defined-benefit pension plan and the transition to
a defined-contribution pension plan. See also Note 24 Provisions for pen-
sions and similar obligations. The transactionis of anonrecurring nature and
was thereby reversed in the calculation of adjusted EBITA. Assets included
in working capital are defined as inventory, accounts receivable, contract
assets, otherreceivables and prepaid expenses and accrued income. Liabili-
tiesincludedin working capital are defined as accounts payable, contract lia-
bilities, other operatingliabilities,andaccrued expenses and prepaidincome.
Assetsand liabilitiesthathavenotbeenallocatedbetweenthesegmentsare
fixed assets except for goodwill, cash and cash equivalents, tax receivables
and tax liabilities (current and deferred), financial investments and financial
liabilities, provisions and pension liabilities. The segments’ capital expendi-
tureinfixed assetsincludes all capital expenditurein tangible and intangible
fixed assets, exceptexpendable equipmentand equipmentof minorvalue.

On a secondary level, the operations are monitored based on the following
regions:Americas (Northand South America), EMEA (Europe, Middle Eastand
Africa)and APAC (Asia-Pacific).

Operatingsegment
Nedermangroup'soperatingsegmentsaredescribedonpages52-61and
comprise:

Externalsalesperoperatingsegment, 2021

Nederman Monitoring
& Control Technology, 13%

Nederman Extraction &

-Nederman Extraction &Filtration Technology Filtration Technology, 43%

-Nederman Process Technology
-NedermanDuct &Filter Technology
-Nederman Monitoring & Control Technology

Nederman Duct & Filter
Technology, 12%

Nederman Process
Technology, 32%

Extraction& Duct&  Monitoring Other Total
Filtration Process Filter &Control non- Nederman
2021, SEKm Technology Technology Technology Technology allocated Elimination group
Net sales, external customers 1,750.2 1,282.2 475.6 533.8 - - 4,041.8
Net sales, internal between operating segments 12.7 9.3 65.2 3.5 - -90.7 -
Netsales 1,762.9 1,291.5 540.8 537.3 - -90.7 4,041.8
AdjustedEBITA 308.7 50.9 104.0 120.9 -89.9 - 494.6
Amortisation of intangible assets -63.4
Acquisition costs -1.3
Restructuring costs -
Discontinuation of defined-benefit pension plan 29.0
Operating profit 458.9
Net financial items -41.8
Taxes -111.8
Netprofitfortheyear 305.3
Assets included in working capital 668.4 516.1 134.2 211.7 126.7 -166.4 1,490.7
Goodwiill 467.4 3426 185 780.7 - - 1,609.2
Non-allocated assets - - - 16291 - 16291
Totalassets 1,135.8 858.7 152.7 992.4 1,755.8 -166.4 4,729.0
Liabilities included in working capital 480.4 556.4 87.5 81.2 111.2 -166.4 1,150.3
Non-allocated liabilities - - - 1,861.3 - 1,861.3
Totalliabilities 480.4 556.4 87.5 81.2 1,9725 -166.4 3,011.6
Othersegmentinformation
Capital expenditure 219 4.8 14.9 43.9 235 109.0
Entered lease agreements during the year 40.3 7.0 2.4 9.6 16 - 60.9
Depreciation/Amortisation and impairment -61.7 -27.4 -14.4 -52.7 -18.1 - -174.3
Items not affecting cash flow other than depreciation/ -5.5 -3.2 -0.1 -4.9 -289 - -42.6

amortisation
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5 Segment reporting, continued

Extraction& Duct&  Monitoring Other Total

Filtration Process Filter &Control non- Nederman
2020, SEKm Technology Technology Technology Technology allocated Elimination Group
Net sales, external customers 16454 1,1298 3948 504.8 - - 3,6748
Net sales, internal between operating segments 3.4 7.0 631 2.1 - -75.6 -
Netsales 1,648.8 1,136.8 457.9 506.9 - -75.6 3,674.8
AdjustedEBITA 221.7 58.1 63.9 94.6 -86.0 - 352.3
Amortisation of intangible assets -56.7
Acquisition costs -16
Restructuring costs -75.0
Operatingprofit 219.0
Net financial items -70.5
Taxes -38.1
Netprofitfortheyear 110.4
Assets included in working capital 5188 431.0 96.0 191.3 64.5 -61.0 1,240.6
Goodwill 455.7 320.2 17.8 721.0 - - 1,514.7
Non-allocated assets - - - 1,494.2 - 1,494.2
Totalassets 974.5 751.2 113.8 912.3 1,558.7 -61.0 4,249.5
Liabilities included in working capital 390.2 363.2 56.0 55.4 63.0 -61.0 866.8
Non-allocated liabilities - - 2,081.9 - 2,081.9
Totalliabilities 390.2 363.2 56.0 55.4 2,144.9 -61.0 2,948.7
Othersegmentinformation
Capital expenditure 18.7 7.5 111 338 37.8 - 1089
Entered lease agreements during the year 24.3 8.2 135 18 1.2 - 49.0
Depreciation/Amortisation and impairment -60.9 -27.5 -14.2 -49,5 -135 - -165.6
Items not affecting cash flow other than depreciation/ 2.1 118 0.1 8.8 0.3 - 231
amortisation
Geographicareas Externalsalesperregion,2021
Thegroupisdividedinto ten geographic regions: Sweden, Germany, the UK, oth-
er EMEA, the US, other Americas, China, India and other APAC. As of 2021, rest of
the world does not comprise aseparate reporting area, but is distributed among APAC20%
the EMEA, Americas and APAC regions. The information presented concerning
the revenue for the geographic areas is grouped according to where the cus- EMEAS0%
tomersare located. Information concerning fixed assets, capital expenditure for
the period in tangible and intangible assets, with the exception of goodwill, and
operating assetsis based on the geographic areas where the assets are located. Americas 30%
Fixed assets are defined as total assets less goodwill, non-current receivables
and deferred tax assets. Operating assets are defined as total assets excluding
cash and cash equivalents, tax receivables (current and deferred) and financial
investments.

Restof Restof Restof  Restof
2021,SEKm Sweden Germany UK EMEA USA Americas China India APAC theworld Notallocated Total
External net sales 1255 342.1 2073 1,1631 996.4 2458 3784 142.5 440.7 - 4,041.8
Fixed assets 1145 444 29.5 381.6 1742 6.2 34.7 54.8 25.4 - 97.0 962.3
Capital expenditure 34.8 0.7 16 32.5 7.8 03 08 04 19 28.2 109.0
Operating assets 677.2 566.1 1727 1,8936 1,316.2 992 2715 99.5 87.4 - -1,1176 4,065.8

Restof Restof Restof  Restof
2020,SEKm Sweden Germany UK EMEA USA Americas China India APAC theworld Notallocated Total
External net sales 206.7 355.8 183.9 992.1 883.2 209.3 306.7 78.0 3919 67.2 3,6748
Fixed assets 103.2 49.2 127 386.8 1656 41 36.8 53.4 25.7 94.7 932.2
Capital expenditure 28.9 2.7 11 22.0 8.6 03 03 1.3 04 - 433 108.9
Operating assets 571.7 509.3 1193 1,777.2 928.5 885 2444 785 924 - -719.0 3,690.8
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6 Revenue

Accountingpolicies

Nederman'ssalesmodel

Nederman's customer offering encompasses everything from individual
products, complete solutions, design, installation, and commissioning to
service.Basedonthese customerofferings, Nederman's salesmodelis divid-
ed into three sales types: products, solutions, and service and aftermarket.
Within each operating segment, revenue flows from the three sales types
are monitored, which is why these categories are considered to be the most
relevant basis for classifying revenue. The classification provides a good
understandingof thegroup'srevenuestreams.

Salesofproducts

Nederman offers a broad range of standard products that solve common
problems related to smoke, gas, particles, material recycling, work environ-
ment and efficient production. Product sales are made primarily via distrib-
utors and resellers. Revenue from sales of products is recognised at a given
point in time when the promised good are transferred to the customer and
the customerobtains control overthe product. The customer obtains control
whenthey receive the product, can controlits use and obtain financial bene-
fits from the asset. This normally occurs when the goods are made available
tothe customerattheagreed time andplace. At this time, Nederman has the
right toreceive payment for the goods. The transaction price is the compen-
sation that Nederman is entitled to in exchange for transferring promised
goodstothecustomer.

Salesofsolutions (projectsales)

Solutions consist either of individual products in the Nedermanrange which
are assembled to build small and medium-sized systems, or large system
solutions with a high element of special customisation. The task of both
variants is to solve more complex tasks. Sales are conducted through Ned-
erman’s own sales organisation. In the sale of solutions, which contain a
significant element of customisation, Nederman's promise to customers is
to deliver integrated system solutions, and not individual goods or services
separately. It is the total performance to which the customer has agreed.
When it comes to sales within the solutions segment, this means that sep-
arate performance obligations cannot be identified and sales are therefore
recognised as revenue over time. For sales recognised over time, the prog-
resstowards fullcompletionof the performance obligationismeasured. This
iscarriedoutonthebasis of projectcostsincurredinrelationtototal costs for
goods and services that have been promised according to the agreement.

Estimationsandassessments

Revenuerecognitionrelatingtosalesof solutions

Revenue recognition relating to sales of solutions, which is recognised
over time, is made by measuring the progress towards completion of the
performance obligation. Establishment of the performance obligation, i.e.

Project costs incurred are determined either on the basis of the value of
the goods or services that have been transferred to date or on the basis of
measurements at the customer such as achieved milestones. The choice of
methodis consistentwithinindividual projects.

Solutions are recognised in the statement of financial position as contract
assetsoras contract liabilities when Nederman or the customer has fulfilled
acommitment, depending on the relationship between Nederman's perfor-
mance and the customer's payment. For contract assets, see Note 18, Other
receivables,andforcontractliabilities, see Note 22, Otherliabilities. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the performance obligation is ful-
filled. At the beginning of 2021, contract liabilities amounted to SEK 260.1m
(379.9), of which SEK 248.7m (278.8) was recognised as revenue in the cur-
rentyear.Attheendof 2021, contractliabilitiesamounted to SEK404.2m.

The transaction price is the compensation that Nederman expects to be
entitled toin exchange for transferring the promised goods and services to
the customer in accordance with the contract. Expected credit losses are
expensedimmediately. Most projectsaresoldatafixedprice.

Salesofserviceandaftermarket

By offeringqualified servicewith goodavailability, Nedermanhelpstoensure
continuous operation without expensive interruptions to customers' pro-
duction. In addition to technical service, this area also includes service con-
tracts, spare partsand consumables.

Revenue fromsaleswithinservice and aftermarketis recognised when Ned-
erman meets its performance commitment, whichis ata given pointin time
when the promised goods or service is transferred to the customer and the
customer obtains control over the goods or service. The customer obtains
control when they receive the goods or service, can control their use and
obtainfinancialbenefitsfromtheassetorservice. Thisnormally occurswhen
the goods are made available to the customer at the agreed time and place
or when the service is performed and the customer can benefit from the
service provided. The transaction price is the compensation that Nederman
is entitled to in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to the
customer.

Forwarranty commitmentsseeNote 25, Other provisions.

assessing the extent to which accrual of the projects has occurred, requires
estimates. Sales from solutions accounted for 41 percent (41) of the group's
totalsalesin2021.

Allocationofsalesonsegmentsandsalestypes

Serviceand
2021,SEKm Products Solutions aftermarket Total
Nederman Extraction & Filtration Technology 719.1 717.3 326.5 1,7629
Nederman Process Technology - 949.9 3416 1,2915
Nederman Duct & Filter Technology 502.1 28,6 10.1 540.8
Nederman Monitoring & Control Technology 476.4 7.7 53.2 537.3
Elimination -37.5 -39.1 -14.1 -90.7
TotalNedermangroup 1,660.1 1,664.4 717.3 4,041.8

Serviceand
2020,SEKm Products Solutions aftermarket Total
Nederman Extraction & Filtration Technology 650.8 6933 304.7 1,6488
Nederman Process Technology 0.2 811.6 325.0 1,1368
Nederman Duct & Filter Technology 420.0 278 10.1 457.9
Nederman Monitoring & Control Technology 4545 4.3 48.1 506.9
Elimination -30.3 -30.8 -14.5 -75.6
TotalNedermangroup 1,495.2 1,506.2 673.4 3,674.8
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7 Other operating income and expenses

Otheroperatingincome, SEKm 2021 2020
Profit from sale of fixed assets 54 1.8
Recovered bad debt losses 2.8 3.0
Discontinuation of defined-benefit pension plan 29.0 -
Other 8.6 8.2
Total 45.8 13.0
Otheroperatingexpenses, SEKm 2021 2020
Loss from sales of fixed assets -1.0 -0.2
Bad debt losses -55 -7.0
Exchange losses on operating receivables/liabilities -3.0 -28.1
Other -5.2 -8.5
Total -14.7 -43.8
Totalotheroperatingincomeand expenses, SEKm 31.1 -30.8

For further information about the credit loss reserve, see note 17, Accounts receivable. For further information about the discontinuation of defined-
benefit pension plan, see note 24, Pension provisions and similar obligations.

8 Employees

Accountingpolicies

Employeebenefits

Employeebenefitsarerecognisedas costsonreceiptof therelatedservices.
A provision forexpected bonus payments is recognised when the group has
an obligation to make such payments as a result of corresponding services
beingreceivedorother contractual conditions beingmet.

Remunerationpolicy
The prevailing guidelines for remuneration of senior executives were adopt-
ed by the Annual General Meetingin 2020 and the principles resolved can be
summarisedasfollows.

Typesofremuneration

Aprerequisite for the successfulimplementation of the company's business
strategy and safeguarding of its long-term interests, including its sustain-
ability, is that the company is able to recruit and retain qualified personnel.
Theobjective of Nederman's guidelines forexecutiveremunerationisthere-
fore to offer competitive remuneration on market terms, so that competent
andskillfulpersonnelcanbeattracted, motivatedandretained. Theseguide-
lines enable the company to offer the executive management competitive
total remuneration. The remuneration shall be on market terms and may
consist of the following components: fixed salary, variable remuneration,
pension benefitsand other benefits. Theremunerationis determined by the
Remuneration Committee inaccordance with principles for executive remu-
nerationadopted by the AGM.

Fixedsalary
Fixedsalaryis paid for satisfactory work.

Variableremuneration

The variable remuneration shall be linked to predetermined, well-defined
and measurable financial criteria. The satisfaction of criteria for awarding
variable remuneration shall be measured over a period of one year. The vari-
ableremunerationmayamounttonotmorethan50percentofthetotalfixed
salary under the measurement period for the CEO and not more than 30 per-
centof the total fixed salary under the measurement period for other senior
executives. The criteria for variable remuneration shall mainly relate to the
group’s profitability and working capital development. Variable remunera-
tionmay alsoberelatedtoindividual criteria. The criteriashallbe designedso
astocontributetothecompany'sbusinessstrategyandlong-terminterests,
including its sustainability. Further variable remuneration may be awarded
in extraordinary circumstances, provided that such extraordinary arrange-

ments are limited in time and only made on an individual basis, either for the
purposeofrecruitingorretainingexecutives, orasremunerationforextraor-
dinary performance beyond the individual's ordinary tasks. Such remuner-
ation may not exceed an amount corresponding to 50 percent of the fixed
annual salary and may not be paid more than once each year per individual.
Any resolutiononsuchremuneration shallbemade by the Board of Directors
basedonaproposalfromthe Remuneration Committee.

Share-basedincentive programme

The Annual General Meeting held on 26 April 2021 approved the Board's
proposal that the annual programmes for variable remuneration should
be supplemented with a long-term incentive (LTI) programme. The LTI pro-
gramme comprises the two financial years 2021 and 2022 andis targetedin
away that makes it particularly favourable for the company’s shareholders.
The outcome of the LTI programme for senior executives of the Nederman
group may amount to a maximum of 35 percent of annual salary for the CEO
and 14-20 percent of annual salary for other senior executives. An outcome
requiresthataminimumlevelof accumulatedearnings pershareestablished
for the 2021 and 2022 financial years is achieved or exceeded. The remu-
neration for the senior executive according to the terms and conditions (net
after tax) is to be invested in Nederman shares. The shareholding must be
retained by the senior executive for a minimum of three years. Investment
in shares can be made via the exchange or through the transfer of treasury
shares, with the Board of Directorsintending in the case of the latter to sub-
mit a proposal for resolution on the transfer of treasury shares at the 2022
Annual General Meeting. Inthe event of afull outcome, the cost for LTI 2021-
2022isestimated toamountto SEK5.2m.

Pensionbenefits

For the CEO, pension benefits shall be premium-based. The pension premi-
ums for premium-based pension shall amount to not more than 35 percent
of the pension based salary. For other executives, pension benefits shall be
based on a contractual ITP plan or be premium-based, unless the individual
concernedissubject todefined-benefit pension under mandatory collective
agreement provisions. Variable cash remuneration shall qualify for pension
benefits. Pension premiums that follow from the contractual ITP plan or are
premium-based, shall amount to not more than 35 percent of the pension
based salary, unless other premium levels apply according to applicable ITP
plan. Foremployment governed by rules other than Swedish, pension bene-
fitsand other benefits may be duly adjusted for compliance with mandatory
rulesorestablishedlocalpractice, takingintoaccount, totheextentpossible,
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Accountingpolicies, continued

theoverallpurpose of theseguidelines.

Otherbenefits

Other benefits may include, for example, life insurance, health and medical
insurance and company cars. Such benefitsmay amount tonotmore than 20
percentof thefixedannualsalary.

Terminationof employment
The notice period may not exceed 24 months if notice of termination of
employmentismade by the company forthe CEOandtwelve monthsforoth-

erexecutives.Fixedsalaryduringthe period of noticeand severance pay may
together not exceed an amount equivalent to the CEQ's fixed salary for two
years, and one year for other executives. When termination is made by the
executive, the notice period may notexceedsixmonths, withoutany rightto
severancepay.

Principles forcompensation tothe Board of Directors

Directors' fees are paid to the Chairman of the Board of Directors and other
members according to the decision of the AGM. Employee representativesin
theBoardof Directorsdonotreceivedirector'sfees.

Expensesforremunerationtoemployees, SEKm 2021 2020
Salaries and other remuneration 1,0120 977.1
Pensions expenses, defined-benefit plans (see also note 24) 9.3 119
Pension expenses, defined-contribution plans (see also note 24)* 543 49.9
Social security expenses 147.3 1314
Total 1,222.9 1,170.3

*Of the parentcompany's pension costs SEK1,6m (1,8) concern the Board of Directors and the CEO for the parent company. There are no outstandning pension obligations to the group's
Board of Directors, CEO and senior executives.

Salariesand otherremunerationallocated betweenthe Board of Directorsand otheremployees, SEKm 2021 2020
Board of Directors, CEO and senior executives 96.9 82.3
(of which variable compensation) (13.2) (61)
Other employees 915.1 894.8
Total 1,012.0 977.1

2021 2020
Averagenumberofemplyees Women Men Total Women Men Total
Australia 5 19 24 4 20 24
Belgium 3 12 15 3 14 17
Brazil 7 19 26 7 18 25
Denmark 9 65 74 8 67 75
England 17 88 105 18 87 105
Finland 28 57 85 28 53 81
France 5 7 12 5 5 10
Hong Kong 4 4 8 2 5 7
India 8 220 228 8 182 190
Indonesia 1 11 12 1 11 12
Canada 9 20 29 9 22 31
China 62 211 273 57 180 237
Malaysia 1 5 6 1 5 6
Mexico 4 6 10 3 8 11
The Netherlands 1 21 22 1 23 24
Norway 6 65 71 8 59 67
Poland 34 171 205 28 177 205
Russia 1 3 4 1 3 4
Switzerland 6 36 42 6 39 45
Singapore 3 6 9 3 6 9
Spain 3 14 17 3 14 17
Sweden 69 157 226 60 161 2el
Thailand 14 32 46 17 28 45
Czech Republic 2 17 19 2 17 19
Turkey 4 19 23 4 18 22
Germany 35 142 177 38 153 191
Hungary - 2 2 - 2 2
USA 111 268 379 117 273 390
Austria 1 4 5 1 4 5
Total 453 1,701 2,154 443 1,654 2,097
Of whom, senior executives 26 148 174 27 131 158
Genderbreakdown of seniorexecutives, percentage of women 2021 2020

Other senior executives 15% 17%
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Renumerationtoseniorexecutives

Basesalary Variable Other Pension
2021, SEKt Boardfees remuneration LTI benefits expenses Total
Chairman of the board Johan Hjertonsson 775 - - - - 775
Member of the board Ylva op den Velde Hammargren 390 - - - - 390
Member of the board Gunilla Fransson 290 - - - - 290
Member of the board Johan Menckel 315 - - - - 315
Member of the board Sam Stromerstén 355 - - - - 355
CEO Sven Kristensson 4,844 2,400 - 150 1,616 9,010
Other senior executives (9 individuals) 19,467 5,116 - 1,100 4,743 30,426
Total 26,436 7,516 - 1,250 6,359 41,561
of which subsidiaries (5 individuals) 12,065 3,462 - 760 2,380 18,667

Basesalary Variable Other Pension
2020, SEKt Boardfees remuneration LTI benefits expenses Total
Chairman of the board Johan Hjertonsson 540 - - - - 540
Member of the board Ylva op den Velde Hammargren 335 - - - - 335
Member of the board Gunilla Fransson 260 - - - - 260
Member of the board Johan Menckel 260 - - - - 260
Member of the board Sam Stromerstén 310 - - - - 310
CEO Sven Kristensson 4,632 - - 165 1,762 6,559
Other senior executives (9 individuals) 17,227 - - 967 3,601 21,795
Total 23,564 - - 1,132 5,363 30,059
of which subsidiaries (5 individuals) 10,574 - - 593 1,642 12,809
9 Expenses by nature
Operatingexpensesbynature, SEKm 2021 2020
Cost of material 1,823.7 1,649.2
Cost of remuneration to staff 1,2229 1,1703
Other external costs and other personnel costs 3918 363.3
Acquisition costs 13 16
Restructuring costs - 75.0
Depreciation and amortisation 174.3 165.6
Other operating expenses 14.7 43.8
Total 3,628.7 3,468.8
Restructuringexpensesallocated onfunctions, SEKm
Cost of goods sold - 19.1
Selling expenses - 42,5
Administrative expenses - 8.1
Research and developement expenses - 2.2
Other expenses - 31
Total - 75.0
Restructuringexpensesallocated onexpensesby nature, SEKm
Cost of material - 48
Cost of remuneration to staff - 51.0
Other external costs and other personnel costs - 19.2

Total - 75.0
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SEKm 2021 2020

EY

Audit assignment 6.2 7.3

Audit-related fee 0.7 0.5

Tax advice - 0.1

Other assignments 0.2 0.2

Otherauditors

Audit assignment 14 1.0

Tax advice 0.2 01
0.0 0.2

Other assignments

Audit assignments refer to the statutory audit of annual and consolidated
accounts, the administration of the Board of Directorsand CEO, and auditing and
other verifications as agreed. Audit-related fee involve quality assurance ser-

11 Financial income and expenses

Accountingpolicies

Financialincomeandexpenses

Financial income and expenses consist of interest income on bank deposits
and interest-bearing financial assets, interest expenses on loans, dividend
income, foreign exchange differences on interest-bearing financial assets
and liabilities, and the realised and unrealised profits and losses from deriva-
tivesthathedgefuturecashflows. Thederivativesare measuredatfairvalue
through profit or loss and hedge accounting is not applied to these deriva-
tives. Interest income on interest-bearing financial receivables and interest
expenses on interest-bearing liabilities are calculated using the effective
interest method. This means that interest income and interest expenses

vicestobe conductedinaccordance withlegislation, articles of association, stat-
utes oragreements. The amount primarily pertains to a review of the six-month
report. Taxadviceincludesbothadvice andareview of taxation compliance.

include accrued transaction costs and any discounts, premiums and other
differences between the initial carrying amount of the receivable or liability
and the estimated future receipts and payments during the contract peri-
od. The interest component related to lease payments is recognised in the
income statement through the application of the effective interest method.
Dividend income is recognised when the shareholder's right to receive pay-
mentisestablished.

SEKm 2021 2020
Financialincome

Interest income on bank deposits 1.4 11
Other interest income 0.7 -
Exchange rate changes 13 0.1
Total 3.4 1.2
Financialexpenses

Interest expenses, credit institutions -24.6 -38.5
Interest expenses, leasing liabilities -11.2 -13.3
Interest expenses, other -4.9 -6.8
Exchange rate changes -4.5 -13.1
Total -45.2 -71.7
Netfinancialitems -41.8 -70.5
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12 Income tax

Accountingpolicies

Incometax

Income tax consists of the sum of current tax and deferred tax. Income tax
is recognised in the income statement except when the underlying trans-
action is recognised under other comprehensive income or directly against
equity,inwhich case theassociated tax effectis recognisedin the equivalent
way. Current taxis the tax payable or refundable for the current year, apply-
ingthetaxratesenactedorsubstantively enactedatthebalancesheetdate.
This includes any adjustment of current tax attributable to prior periods. A
current tax liability or asset is recognised for the estimated tax to be paid or
received for the current or prior years. Deferred tax is calculated using the
balance sheet method on the basis of temporary differences between the
taxvaluesofassetsandliabilitiesand the carryingamountsrecognisedinthe
group. Temporary differences that arise on initial recognition of an asset or
liabilitydonotgiverisetoanydeferredtaxassetorliability, apartfromwhenit
pertainstoabusinesscombinationorotheracquisition,andwhereitdoesnot
impact recognised or taxable profit, and in cases in which the transactions
resultinanassetandaliability. Deferredtaxis calculatedatanominalamount
applyingthetaxratesandtaxlawsthatareenactedorsubstantivelyenacted
onthebalancesheetdate. Temporary differencesin participationsin subsid-

Estimationsandassessments

Deferredtaxanduncertaintyinincometaxprocesses

Wherever uncertainty occurs in the treatment of income tax, an assess-
ment is made of the probability that the tax agency or court will accept the
tax treatmentin the declaration of income, and the effect of the uncertain-
tyis estimated and recognised in the financial statements as a tax liability in
accordancewithIFRIC23,

Reportedintheconsolidatedincomestatement

jariesare not takenintoaccountas the group can control the time of reversal
of theseanditislikely thattheywillnotbereversedintheforeseeablefuture.
Nor are temporary differences in goodwill taken into account. Deferred tax
assetsinregard todeductible temporary differencesandloss carryforwards
areonly recognised to the extentitis probable they will be able to be utilised
against future profits. The value of deferred tax assets is reduced whenitis
no longer considered likely that they can be utilised. Deferred tax on tempo-
rary differencesattributable toleasesisrecognisednetof right-of-useasset
and the lease liability. However, gross recognition is made in the disclosures
on leases below, which means that deferred tax attributable to right-of-use
assetsanddeferredtaxattributable tothe leaseliability arerecognised sep-
arately. This is a modified application from 2020 and the comparative data
wasthusadjusted. Deferred taxassetsand liabilitiesare offsetwhenthereis
alegalrighttooffsetcurrent taxassetsandliabilities and when the deferred
income taxesrelate tothe same taxationauthority.

When calculating the deferred tax asset or liability, assumptions are made
regardingthe probability of deferred taxassetsbeingusedfor settlement of
futuretaxablegains. Thefairvalue of these future taxable gainsmay deviate
interms of the future business climate and earnings capacity or changed tax
rules.

SEKm 2021 2020
Currenttaxexpense(-)

Tax expense for the period -102.6 -56.7
Adjustment of tax relating to previous years -7.7 3.2
Total -110.3 -53.5
Deferredtaxexpense(-)/taxincome (+)

Deferred tax concerning temporary differences 2.7 -0.8
Utilisation of previously activated loss carryforwards -09 -09
Revaluation of loss carryforwards -4.8 -09
Deferred tax income in tax loss carryforwards capitalised during the year 15 18.0
Total -1.5 15.4
Totalconsolidated taxexpenses -111.8 -38.1

Reconciliation of effective tax

The Swedish corporate income tax rate is 20.6 percent. The primary reasons for the difference in tax rate between Swedish income tax and the group's tax

rate based on the earnings after financial items are indicated in the table below.

Effective tax 2021 2021,SEKm 2020 2020,SEKm
Profit before tax 417.1 148.5
Tax according to the applicable tax rate for the Parent company 20.6% -85.9 21.4% -31.8
Effect of other tax rates for foreign subsidiaries 1.4% -59 0.9% -1.3
Non-taxable income -1.3% 55 -2.3% 35
Non-tax deductible expenses 2.2% -9.2 3.5% -5.2
Revaluation of temporary differences -0.4% 16 -0.5% 0.7
Increase of tax loss carryforwards without corresponding capitalisation of deferred tax 2.6% -11.0 6.3% -9.5
Utilisation or revaluation of previously non-capitalised tax loss carryforwards -0.5% 2.1 -2.4% 36
Tax relating to previous years 1.9% -7.7 -2.1% 3.2
Effect of changes in tax rates and tax rules 0.0% -0.1 0.9% -1.3
Other 0.3% -1.2 - -
Reportedeffectivetax 26.8% -111.8 25.7% -38.1

Current tax assets amount to SEK 51.1m (61.3) and represent the recoverable amount of current tax on the result for the year.
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Reportedinconsolidated statementof financial position

2021 2020
Deferredtaxassetsand liabilities, SEKm Assets Liabilities Net Assets Liabilities Net
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to:
Intangible fixed assets 0.5 689 -68.4 0.2 66.0 -65.8
Tangible fixed assets 6.2 18.0 -11.8 18.4 294 -11.0
Right-of-use asset - 42.6 -42.6 - 47.4 -47.4
Financial assets 0.1 06 -0.5 0.0 1.0 -1.0
Inventories 324 0.1 32.3 48.0 0.1 479
Accounts receivable 12.6 2.6 10.0 15 7.7 -6.2
Provision for pensions 11.7 0.2 115 18.8 0.1 18.7
Provisions 199 - 199 189 - 189
Long term liabilities 293 - 293 36.9 - 369
Short term liabilities 25.3 35.7 -10.4 25.0 411 -16.1
Loss carryforwards 28.2 0.5 27.7 32.5 0.5 32.0
Taxassets/liabilities 166.2 169.2 -3.0 200.2 193.3 6.9
Netting -97.7 -97.7 - -171.9 -171.9 -
Deferredtaxassets/liabilities according to statementof financial position 68.5 71.5 -3.0 28.3 21.4 6.9

Recognised loss carryforwards are not time limited.

Unrecognisedtaxlosscarryforwards

Deductible temporary differences and loss carryforwards for which deferred tax assets have not been reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position:

SEKm 2021 2020
Unrecognised tax loss carryforwards 247.5 2115

Unrecognised tax loss carryforwards would correspond to a deferred tax asset of SEK 59.7m. Unrecognized tax loss carryforwards are mainly related to
losses in France, China, the Netherlands, Thailand, Germany and the US which will probably not be used for settlement of future taxable gains. The majority
of the unrecognised tax loss carryforwards are not time limited and the remaining portion are mainly time limited to 2024-2026.

Changeindeferred taxontemporarydifferencesandlosses carried forward

Balanceasof Recordedover Recordedinother Balanceasof

1january income comprehensive Translation Acquisitions 31December

SEKm 2021 statement income difference ofbusiness 2021
Intangible fixed assets -65.8 0.3 - -03 -26 -68.4
Tangible fixed assets -11.0 -0.8 - 0.0 - -118
Right-of-use asset -47.4 53 - -0.5 - -42.6
Financial assets -1.0 0.5 - -0.0 - -0.5
Inventories 479 -15.4 - -0.2 - 32.3
Accounts receivable -6.2 16.2 - -0.0 - 10.0
Provision for pensions 18.7 -3.3 -38 -0.1 - 115
Provisions 18.9 11 - -01 - 19.9
Long term liabilities 36.9 -7.2 - -04 - 293
Short term liabilities -16.1 6.0 - -03 - -10.4
Loss carryforwards 32.0 -4.2 - -0.1 - 27.7
Total 6.9 -1.5 -3.8 -2.0 -2.6 -3.0
Balanceasof Recorded Recordedinother Balanceasof

1january overincome comprehensive Translation Acquisitions 31December

SEKm 2020 statement income difference ofbusiness 2020
Intangible fixed assets -74.7 8.3 - 0.0 06 -65.8
Tangible fixed assets -14.7 3.7 - 0.0 - -11.0
Right-of-use asset -58.3 109 - 0.0 - -47.4
Financial assets -1.7 0.7 - 0.0 - -1.0
Inventories 15.5 32.0 - 0.4 - 47.9
Accounts receivable 2.4 -85 - -0.1 - -6.2
Provision for pensions 17.4 -03 15 0.1 - 18.7
Provisions 15.2 36 - 01 - 189
Long term liabilities 46.7 -9.8 - 0.0 - 36.9
Short term liabilities 25.7 -41.4 - -04 - -16.1
Loss carryforwards 156 16.2 - 0.2 - 32.0

Total -10.9 15.4 15 0.3 0.6 6.9
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Accountingpolicies

Researchanddevelopment

Costsfordevelopment, whereresearchresultsorotherknowledgeisapplied
toachieveneworimprovedproductsorprocesses,arerecognisedasanasset
inthe balance sheet if the product or process is technically and commercially
feasibleand the company has sufficientresources tocomplete development
andthereafteruseorselltheintangibleasset. The carryingamountincludes
the cost of materials and other direct expenses that can be attributed to
the asset in a reasonable and consistent manner. Development costs are
recognised in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any impairment losses. Expenditure on research aimed at obtaining new
scientific or technical knowledge is recognised as an expense in the income
statementwhenincurred.

Customerrelations

Customer relationships acquired through business acquisitions are rec
ognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Customer relationships with
a finite life are measured at cost less amortisation and any accumulated
impairmentlosses.

Trademarks

Trademarks acquired through business acquisitions are recognised at fair
value at the acquisition date. Trademarks with an indefinite life are allocat-
ed to the cash-generating units or groups of cash generating units that are
expected to benefit from the trademark. The cash-generating units com-
prisethegroup’soperatingsegments. The usefullifeisdeemedindefiniteifit
isaquestion of awell-established trademarksinits market, which the group
intendstomaintainand develop further. The trademarksare testedannually
andinthe eventof anindication of value decline, forimpairment. Any impair-
mentlossesarechargedtooperatingincome.

The trademarks that have been identified and valued were established
in connection with the 2012 acquisition of EFT, the 2018 acquisition of
AuburnFilterSense and Luwa, and the 2019 acquisition of Gasmet. The cost
of the trademarks were established at the time of the acquisition under
the so-called relief from royalty method. The impairment test includes an
assessment of theroyalty rate on the acquisition date and estimated future
sales performance for five years. Sustained growth of 2 percent has been
used. Cash flow for the period beyond five years has been calculated using
amultiple applied to estimated sustainable cash flow. When calculating the
present value of expected future cash flows, the current weighted aver-
age capital cost (WACC) for the market is used. For 2021, the discount rate
amountsto9.75percent(9.51).Impairmenttestingisdoneinthefourthquar-
ter, or whenever the need arises, and with the assumptions used showed
there wasnoneed forany impairment of trademarks with anindefinite use-
fullife. The book value of trademarks with anindefinite useful life amounted
toSEK113.1m(105.0).

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the difference between the consideration transferred
for the business and the fair value of acquired identifiable assets, assumed
liabilities and any contingent liabilities. Goodwill represents the future

Estimationsandassessments

Examination forimpairmentof goodwilland otherintangiblefixedassets

The book value of goodwill is reviewed at least once a year with respect to
the possible need forimpairment. The review requires anassessment of the
value in use of the cash-generating unit, or group of cash-generating units,
to which the goodwill value relates. This requires that several assumptions
about the future situation and estimates of parameters have been made.

economic benefits arising from the business acquisitions that are not indi-
vidually identified and separately recognised, and comprise strategic busi-
ness values. Goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units or groups of
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from synergies from
the acquisition. The cash-generating units comprise the group’s operating
segments. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment, or more frequently
if there are indications of a reduction in value. If the carrying amount of the
tested cash-generating unit exceeds the estimated recoverable amount,
the difference is recognised as an impairment. The recoverable amount
for a cash-generating unit is determined based on value in use. Nederman
group’s model for measurement is based on a discounted cash-flow model,
withaforecast period of five years. The measurement s based on afinancial
plan, whichis partof Nederman group’s financial planning processand corre-
sponds to the management's best assessment of the operations' develop-
ment. The growth is based on historical growth, estimated market growth
and expected price development. The forecasts reflect previous experience
andexternal sources of information. Assumed growthisbased onacautious
assumption and does not exceed the long-term growth of the industry as a
whole. Any impairment losses are charged to operating income and not sub-
sequentlyreversed.

Additionalexpenses

Additional expenses for capitalised intangible assets are recognised as an
asset in the balance sheet only when they increase the future economic
benefits of the specific asset to which they relate. All other expenses are
expensedwhentheyarise.

Amortisationandimpairmentlosseswithfiniteusefullife

Intangible assets except goodwill and trademarks are amortised over their
estimated useful life. Amortisation is recognised in the income statement
on astraight-line basis over the intangible assets’ estimated useful life. The
followingestimated usefullivesareapplied:

-Capitaliseddevelopmentexpenditure 5years
-Computerprogrammes 3-5years
-Customerrelationships10years

Impairmenttestingiscarriedoutifanyeventoccursorcircumstanceschange
that indicate that the carrying amount may have decreased. Annual impair-
ment testing is also conducted of capitalised development expenditure for
productsandsoftwarenotyetinuse. Animpairmentlossisrecognised when
an asset's or cash-generating unit's carrying amount exceeds its recover-
able amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less selling
expenses and value in use. When calculating the value in use, future cash
flows are discounted using a discount rate that reflects a risk-free interest
rate and the risk associated with the specific asset. Previously recognised
impairment losses are reversed if the reasons for the earlier impairment no
longer exist. However, reversal will not be foran amount thatis greater than
that which the carrying amount would have been if the impairment had not
beenrecognisedin previous periods. Impairmentlosses are charged to oper-
atingincome.

Changed conditions for these assumptions and estimations might have an
effect on the value of the goodwill. The senior executives are of the opinion
thatnoreasonablechangesinimportantassumptionsattheimpairmenttest
of the cash-generating units will result in a recoverable amount lower than
thecarryingamount.
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2021
Capitalised Current
development Computer Customer Trade- investmentsand
SEKm expenditure programs relations marks Goodwill prepayments Total
Accumulatedcost
Opening balance 4079 153.0 106.4 162.6 1,514.7 294 2,374.0
Business acquisition 136 0.2 - - 22.8 - 36.6
Internally developed assets 41.0 - - - - - 41.0
Other capital expenditure - 19.8 - - 9.0 28.8
Sold and scrapped -50.6 -7.4 - - - -58.0
Reclassifications - 29.5 - - - -29.5 -
Translation differences 8.0 2.2 51 119 717 0.2 99.1
Closingbalance 419.9 197.3 111.5 174.5 1,609.2 9.1 2,521.5
Accumulatedamortisationandimpairment
Opening balance -231.6 -119.2 -32.3 -57.6 - -440.7
Business acquisition - -0.1 - - - -0.1
Sold and scrapped 49.8 7.4 - - - 57.2
Amortisation -34.6 -18.1 -10.7 - - -63.4
Translation differences -4.2 2.1 -2.0 -38 - -12.1
Closingbalance -220.6 -132.1 -45.0 -61.4 - - -459.1
Carryingamount
Opening balance 1763 33.8 74.1 105.0 1,514.7 29.4 19333
Closingbalance 199.3 65.2 66.5 113.1 1,609.2 9.1 2,062.4
2020
Capitalised Current
development Computer Customer Trade- investmentsand
SEKm expenditure programs relations marks Goodwill prepayments Total
Accumulatedcost
Opening balance 384.7 149.7 1173 1740 16122 - 2,437.9
Business acquisition - - -3.1 - 2.5 - -0.6
Internally developed assets 37.6 - - - 37.6
Other capital expenditure - 6.9 - - 294 36.3
Sold and scrapped -3.0 -0.3 - - - - -33
Translation differences -11.4 -3.3 -7.8 -11.4 -100.0 - -1339
Closingbalance 407.9 153.0 106.4 162.6 1,514.7 29.4 2,374.0
Accumulatedamortisationandimpairment
Opening balance -207.6 -109.6 -23.7 -59.6 - -400.5
Sold and scrapped 3.0 0.3 - - - 3.3
Amortisation -32.3 -129 -11.5 - -56.7
Translation differences 5.3 3.0 2.9 2.0 - 13.2
Closingbalance -231.6 -119.2 -32.3 -57.6 - - -440.7
Carryingamount
Opening balance 177.1 40.1 936 1144 16122 - 2,037.4
Closingbalance 176.3 33.8 74.1 105.0 1,514.7 29.4 1,933.3

Current investments and prepayments was added as a category in 2021 and the comparative figures were thus adjusted. This meant that SEK 29.4m of
investments in 2020 were reclassified from computer programmes to current investments and prepayments.

The group'’s expenses for development of the existing product range and new products amounted to SEK 57.0m (69.3). SEK 41.0m (37.6) was capitalised in

the consolidated statement of financial position.
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13 Intangible fixed assets, continued

Amortisationandimpairment, SEKm 2021 2020
Amortisation is included in the following rows in the income statement:

Cost of sold goods -40.7 -37.7
Selling expenses -54 -6.0
Administrative expenses -17.3 -13.0
Total -63.4 -56.7
Goodwill peroperatingsegment, SEKm 2021 2020
Nederman Extraction & Filtration Technology 467.4 455.7
Nederman Process Technology 342.6 320.2
Nederman Duct & Filter Technology 185 178
Nederman Monitoring & Control Technology 780.7 721.0
Total 1,609.2 1,514.7

Annualgrowth
duringtheforecast

Annualgrowth

afterforecast Discountrate

Goodwill period period beforetax
Nederman Extraction & Filtration Technology 3.0%(3.0) 2.0% (2.0) 10.65% (10.65)
Nederman Process Technology 3.0% (3.0) 3.0% (3.0) 9.96% (9.04)
Nederman Duct & Filter Technology 3.0% (3.0) 1.0% (1.0) 10.67% (10.44)
Nederman Monitoring & Control Technology 10.0% (12.0) 8.0% (8.0) 8.85% (8.76)
Trademarks 2.0% (2.0) 2.0% (2.0) 9.75% (9.51)

Sensitivity analysis Goodwill

Sensitivity in all calculations means that the goodwill value will be justified even if the discount rate is raised by one percentage point or if long-term growth
would fall by a percentage point. The annual test of goodwill did not reveal an impairment requirement. Upon a sensitivity analysis, all operating segments
show that no reasonable changes in important assumptions lead to a impairment requirement. The senior executives are of the opinion that no reasonable
changes in important assumptions at the impairment test of the cash-generating units will result in a recoverable value lower than the carrying amount.

14 Tangible fixed assets

Accountingpolicies

Assetsowned

Tangible assets are recognised within the group at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment. The cost includes the purchase price
and expenses directly attributable to the asset to bring it on site and in the
condition to be used in accordance with its intended purpose. The cost of
assets produced by the company includes the cost of materials, cost of
employee benefits and, if applicable, other manufacturing costs considered
directly attributable to the asset. The carrying amount of a tangible asset
is derecognised in the balance sheet on disposal or retirement, or when no
future economic benefit is expected to derive from the use or sale/disposal
of the asset. Gains or losses arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset
comprise the difference between the sales price and the asset’s carrying
amountlessdirectsellingexpenses.Gainsandlossesarerecognisedasother
operatingincome/expense.

Additionalexpenses

Additional expenses are only added to the cost if it is probable that the
future economic benefits associated with the asset will accrue to the com-
panyandthe costcanbe measuredreliably. Allother additional expensesare
recognised as costs in the period in which they arise. The decisive factor for
assessmentofwhetheranadditionalexpenseisaddedtocostiswhetherthe
expense refers to the replacement of components or parts thereof, where-
by such costs will be capitalised. Even in cases where new components are
added to the asset, the expense will be added to cost. Any non-depreciated
carryingamounts of replaced components, or parts of components, are dis-
posedofandexpensedinconnectionwithreplacement.Repairsand mainte-
nanceareexpensedonanongoingbasis.

Depreciation

Depreciation takes place on a straight-line basis over the useful life of the
asset. The group applies component depreciation, which means that the
components' estimated useful life forms the basis for depreciation. The fol-
lowingestimatedusefullivesareapplied:

-buildings, property usedinbusiness operations15-30years
-plantandmachinery 3-8years
-equipment, tools, fixturesand fittings 3-10years
-landisnotdepreciated

Depreciation of components is based on each component's estimated use-
ful life. The amortisation methods, residual values and useful life used are
reviewedateachyear-end.

Impairment
Impairmenttestingiscarriedoutifanyeventoccursorcircumstanceschange
thatindicate that the carrying amount may have decreased. Animpairment
lossisrecognisedwhenanasset's or cash-generatingunit'scarryingamount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value less selling expenses and value in use. When calculating the value
inuse, future cash flows are discounted using a discount rate that reflects a
risk-freeinterestrateandtheriskassociated with the specificasset.

Impairment of tangible fixed assets is charged to operating profit. Previous-
ly recognised impairment losses are reversed if the reasons for the earlier
impairment no longer exist. However, reversal willnot be foranamount that
isgreaterthanthatwhichthecarryingamountwouldhave beenif theimpair-
menthadnotbeenrecognisedinprevious periods.
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14 Tangible fixed assets, continued

2021
Land Plant Equipment, Constructions
and and toolsand inprogressand
SEKm buildings machinery fixtures prepayments Total
Accumulatedcost
Opening balance 431.6 2236 352.6 108 1,0186
Business acquisition - - 0.3 - 0.3
Capital expenditure 0.7 179 121 8.5 39.2
Sold and scrapped -3.0 -38 -92.8 - -99.6
Reclassification - 80.0 -65.8 -9.0 5.2
Translation differences 21.8 14.6 101 0.6 47.1
Closingbalance 451.1 332.3 216.5 109 1,010.8
Accumulateddepreciationandimpairment
Opening balance -250.1 -167.2 -302.1 - -7194
Business acquisition - - -0.1 - -0.1
Depreciation for the year -10.0 -13.2 -14.7 - -37.9
Sold and scrapped 3.0 3.3 92.1 - 98.4
Reclassification - -63.0 57.8 - -5.2
Translation differences -10.9 -10.5 -8.4 - -29.8
Closingbalance -268.0 -250.6 -175.4 - -694.0
Carryingamounts
Opening balance 181.5 56.4 50.5 108 299.2
Closingbalance 183.1 81.7 41.1 109 316.8
2020
Land Plant Equipment, Constructions
and and toolsand inprogressand
SEKm buildings machinery fixtures prepayments Total
Accumulatedcost
Opening balance 464.8 248.6 360.7 38 1,0779
Capital expenditure 4.6 7.6 149 79 35.0
Sold and scrapped -0.5 -7.8 -99 - -18.2
Reclassification - -04 1.0 - 06
Translation differences -37.3 -24.4 -14.1 -09 -76.7
Closingbalance 431.6 223.6 352.6 10.8 1,018.6
Accumulateddepreciationandimpairment
Opening balance -2559 -1796 -307.1 - -742.6
Depreciation for the year -10.8 -12.3 -15.1 - -38.2
Sold and scrapped 0.5 7.6 9.8 - 179
Reclassification - - -0.9 - -09
Translation differences 16.1 17.1 11.2 - 44.4
Closingbalance -250.1 -167.2 -302.1 - -719.4
Carryingamounts
Opening balance 2089 69.0 536 38 335.3
Closingbalance 181.5 56.4 50.5 10.8 299.2

Constructions in progress and prepayments were added as a category in 2021 and comparative figures were thus adjusted. This meant that SEK 7.9m of
investments and SEK 3.8m of opening balance in 2020 were reclassified from plant and machinery and land and buildings respectively to constructions in
progress and prepayments.

Depreciationandimpairment, SEKm 2021 2020
Depreciation is included in the following rows in the income statement:

Cost of goods sold -24.6 -25.7
Selling expenses -4.8 -5.0
Administrative expenses -85 -7.5

Total -37.9 -38.2




102 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 Right-of-use assets

Accountingpolicies

Leasing

PursuanttolFRS16, leasesarerecognisedin the statement of financial posi-
tion. This recognition model is based on the view that the lessee has aright
to use anasset fora specific period of time and at the same time has an obli-
gation to pay for thatright. This means that at the initial date, a right-of-use
asset that represents the right to use the underlying asset during the lease
term and a lease liability that represents the present value of future lease
payments are to be recognised. Depreciation for the right-of-use assets
andinterest expenses for the lease liability are recognisedin the consolidat-
ed income statement and in other comprehensive income. After the initial
date, the leaseliability is remeasured so that it reflects changes in the lease
payments, suchasachangeinthelease termorachangeinfuturelease pay-
mentsresulting fromindexation. Theremeasurementamountisrecognised
asanadjustmentof theright-of-useasset.

The definitions according to IFRS 16 are applied when assessing whether a
contract contains a leased asset. A right-of-use asset is defined as an iden-
tified asset for which Nederman essentially is entitled to the economic ben-
efits arising from the use of the asset and where Nederman has theright to
controltheuse of theasset. Thelease termisdetermined on the basis of the
non-cancellable period according to the lease. If the lease containsanexten-
sion option and there is reasonable certainty that this will be utilised, the
lease term applied consists of the non-cancellable period plus the assessed
period of extension. Inassessing the period of extension, circumstances are
taken into consideration such as financial incentives in such a manner that
existing lease terms are compared with estimated market rents, whether
materialimprovements have been made to the property and whether costs
wouldariseinrelationtoany movetonew premises.

The discount rate primarily consists of the rate implicit in the lease if it is
available according to the lease. For other leases, the discount rate is the
incremental borrowing rate. The incremental borrowing rate consists of an
interestmarginbasedonthelessee’s (subsidiary withinthe group) creditrat-
ingandaninterestrate benchmark for the specific currency and the term of
theleaseasset.

Leases forwhich the underlyingasset s sublet to a third party, and the main
lease betweenNedermanandthe principallessor continuestoapply, arerec
ognised as afinancial asset, which comprises a receivable from a third party,
andaleaseliability, which comprisesaliability tothe principallessor.

Estimationsandassessments

Measurementofright-of-useassets

Atthestartof thelease, assessmentsare made relative to the lease’s scope,
term and the interest rate used to discount future lease expenses, which
impact the measurement of the right-of-use asset and lease liability. An
assessment is also required when establishing the term of the lease. The
lease termincludesthenon-cancellable period. If Nederman groupisreason-
ably certain thatit willexercise an option to extend the lease or not exercise
analternative to terminate thelease prematurely, thisis takeninto consider-
ation when establishing the lease term. The contract contains a large num-
ber of different terms and conditions. Extension options and the possibility
to terminate the contract prematurely pertain mainly to property contracts.

The standard contains two exceptions for reporting in the statement of
financial position, which Nederman applies: short-term leases (lease term of
12 months orless) and leases for which the underlying asset has a low value
(USD 5,000). These lease payments are recognised as operating expenses
in the income statement and are therefore not included in the right-of-use
asset or the lease liability. If the lease contains variable lease expenses that
are not dependent on an index or interest rate, this is also recognised as an
operating expense in the income statement. Any service components in a
lease are separated from the leased asset and recognised as an operating
expenseintheincomestatement.

Leasesare presentedin the categories of Land and buildings, Carsand other
vehicles,and Machinery and equipment. These categories are deemed to be
thefairestinreflectingNederman'sprimaryassetclasses. Thecategoriesare
anew application from 2021 and the comparative data was thus adjusted.
Alarge proportion of leases pertain to cars and other vehicles and thus the
assessment has been made that a fairer view is provided by separating this
categoryinthenotes.

Non-recurring effects comprise an adjustment in the timing of depreciation
during 2021, whereby depreciation commences in the month that the con-
tractisentered, ratherthanthefollowingmonth. Thismeantthat,in2021,an
accrual difference of a month arose regarding depreciation and terminated
contracts, which was recognised as a non-recurring effect. The adjustment
hasnoimpactonthegroup'snetresult.

Impairmenttestingofrright-of-useassets

Inaccordance with IAS 36, impairment testing is carried out for right-of-use
assets, and any identified impairment losses are recognised in operating
profit. Impairment testingis carried out if any event occurs or circumstances
change that indicate that the carrying amount of the underlying asset may
havedecreased. Animpairmentlossisrecognisedwhenthecarryingamount
of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds the present value of future
lease payments or of the fair value of the underlying asset less divestment
expenses. In the calculation of the present value of future lease payments,
future cash flows are discounted, primarily on the basis of the implicitinter-
estrate and, otherwise, by the incremental borrowing rate. An impairment
lossis reversed if a positive change has occurredin the present value of the
lease paymentsorthefairvalue of theunderlyingasset.

Accordingly, allrelevant factsand circumstances are evaluated that create a
financialincentive toinclude optional periods. The importance of the under-
lyingassetintheoperationsanditsplace, availability of suitablealternatives,
material improvements in the asset, rent level during voluntary periods
compared with the market price, as well as earlier practice, are examples of
factorsincluded in the analysis. The lease term is determined on an individ-
ual basis. The assessments are also required to determine the interest rate
applied to discount future lease fees, if the implicit rate in the lease can be
easily established orif theincremental borrowingrateistobe used.
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15 Rights-of-use assets, continued

2021
Carsand Machinery
Land & other and
SEKm buildings vehicles equipment Total
Accumulatedcost
Opening balance 3309 64.0 210 415.9
Business acquisition 0.5 - - 0.5
New lease contracts 38.3 2l.2 1.4 609
Terminated lease contracts -99.6 -20.7 -4.5 -1248
Revaluated lease contracts 4.0 0.2 - 4.2
Reclassification 1.1 -1.1 - -
Translation differences 154 19 0.4 17.7
Closingbalance 290.6 65.5 18.3 374.4
Accumulateddepreciationandimpairment
Opening balance -160.4 -32.0 -9.1 -201.5
Depreciation -50.0 -19.2 -3.8 -73.0
Terminated lease contracts 82.4 19.0 5.5 106.9
One-time effect -3.9 -1.3 -0.7 -5.9
Reclassification -0.9 09 -
Translation differences -7.4 -1.0 -0.2 -8.6
Closingbalance -140.2 -33.6 -8.3 -182.1
Carryingamounts
Opening balance 170.5 32.0 119 2144
Closingbalance 150.4 31.9 10.0 192.3
2020
Carsand Machinery
Land& other and
SEKm buildings vehicles equipment Total
Accumulatedcost
Opening balance 373.6 74.4 183 466.3
New lease contracts 229 18.0 8.1 49.0
Terminated lease contracts -47.8 -24.4 -4.1 -76.3
Revaluated lease contracts 1.4 -0.5 -0.2 0.7
Translation differences -19.2 -3.5 -1.1 -23.8
Closingbalance 330.9 64.0 21.0 415.9
Accumulateddepreciationandimpairment
Opening balance -162.5 -37.5 -8.6 -208.6
Depreciation -46.2 -19.8 -4.7 -70.7
Terminated lease contracts 41.0 23.2 36 67.8
Revaluated lease contracts 01 0.4 0.1 0.6
Translation differences 7.2 1.7 0.5 9.4
Closingbalance -160.4 -32.0 -9.1 -201.5
Carryingamounts
Opening balance 2111 36.9 9.7 257.7
Closingbalance 170.5 32.0 11.9 214.4
The leased assets are pledged for the leasing liabilities. See also note 28.
Depreciationandimpairment, SEKm 2021 2020
Depreciation is included in the following rows in the income statement:
Cost of goods sold -34.0 -26.4
Selling expenses -29.8 -29.6
Administrative expenses -7.5 -133
Research and developement expenses -1.7 -1.4
Total -73.0 -70.7
Leaseexpenses, SEKm 2021 2020
Depreciation of right-of-use assets -73.0 -70.7
Interest expense on lease liabilities -11.2 -133
Short term leases -1.7 -29
Lease assets of low value -2l -16
Total -88.0 -88.5
Revenuefromsubleases, SEKm 2021 2020

Revenue from subleases - 19
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16 Inventory

Accountingpolicies

Inventory

Inventory is posted at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is calculated using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method and includes
expensesdirectly attributable to the acquisition of the inventory and to
bring goods to their present location and condition. For finished goods
and work in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of indirect
expenses based on normal capacity. Net realisable value comprises the
estimatedsales price of goodsininventory, excludingestimated costs of

Estimationsandassessments

Obsolescenceprovision

The calculation of the net realisable value is based on an estimate of
future sales prices, which is impacted by several parameters, such as
marketdemand, productchangesandpricetrends.Since theactualsales
prices and selling expenses are not known at the time of assessment,
theadjustment to net realisable value is conducted based on estimated
technical and commercial obsolescence. In assessing commercial obso-
lescence, rate of turnoverisariskfactor.

completionandsales.

Inventoryincludingobsolescence provision, SEKm 2021 2020
Raw materials and consumables 338.0 253.7
Work in progress 799 726
Finished goods and tradable goods 195.2 157.6
Total 613.1 483.9
Changeof obsolescence provision, SEKm 2021 2020
Opening balance 1109 123.0
Change in obsolencence reported in the income statement 24.6 -4.4
Disposals -34 -11
Reclassifications -0.7 -
Effect of changes in currency exchange rates 5.5 -6.6
Obsolencenceprovisionat31December 136.9 110.9

17 Accounts receivable

Accountingpolicies

Estimationsandassessments

Accountsreceivable

Accounts receivable comprise financial instruments and are financial
assets that have defined or definable payments. Afinancial assetsisrec-
ognisedinthebalancesheetwhenthecompanybecomesapartyaccord-
ing to the instrument's contract terms. When Nederman is entitled to
unconditional compensation from the customer, this is recognised as a
receivable. An account receivable arises when control has been trans-
ferred to the customer and the invoice has been sent. A financial liability
is derecognised in the balance sheet when the contractual obligation
is fulfilled, expires or the company loses control over it. Financial assets
and liabilities are offset and recognised at the net amount presented in
the balance sheet when there isalegally enforceable right to offset the
amountandwhentheintentionistosettleitemsonanetbasis,ortoreal-
isetheassetandsettle theliability simultaneously.

Accounts receivable have a short anticipated term and are measured
without discount at the nominal amount and are recognised at the
amount that is expected to be received, meaning after deductions for
expected credit losses for the remaining term. Impairment losses on
accountsreceivablearerecognisedinotheroperatingexpenses.

Provisionforexpectedcreditlosses

Theprovisionforexpected creditlossesisbased onhistorical creditloss-
esand on the estimates made inrespect of currentand future-oriented
information on the customers’ payment capacity. The establishment of
provisions for expected credit losses is based on the estimates made of
all receivables outstanding, including receivables not yet due. An indi-
vidual assessment of the impairment requirement is made based on
the customers'financial situation. Actual credit losses may deviate from
expected credit losses and may thus have a material impact on other
operatingincome and expenses in profit or loss. Estimates and assump-
tionsarereviewedonaregularbasis.

2021 2020

Overdueaccountsreceivable, Overdueaccountsreceivable,

Accountsreceivable numberofdays Not numberofdays
maturity structure, SEKm 1-30 31-90 >90 Total  yetdue 1-30 31-90 >90 Total
Accounts receivable, gross 112.7 57.3 44.4 649.5 348.2 778 34.6 421 502.7
Expected credit losses -1.5 -0.7 -22.6 -26.5 -1.0 -0.2 -0.2 -24.3 -25.7
Accountsreceivable, net 111.2 56.6 21.8 623.0 347.2 77.6 34.4 17.8 477.0
Credit loss level 1.3% 1.2% 50.9% 4.1% 0.3% 0.3% 0.6% 57.7% 5.1%

Changeincreditlossprovision 2021 2020
Opening balance -25.7 -28.2
Provisions for uncertain receivables -2.4 -8.3
Receivables written off and not recoverable 15 3.1
Reversed provisions 1.4 56
Translation differences -1.3 2.1
Closingbalance -26.5 -25.7
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18 Other receivables

Accountingpolicies

Otherreceivables Otherreceivableswhichare currentassets, SEKm 2021 2020
Other receivables are financial assets that have defined or definable VAT receivables 34.0 329
payments and that are not listed on an active market. These assets are Contract assets 1268 1529
measured atamortised cost. Amortised costis determined according to Other receivables 48.4 529
theeffectiveinterestrateandcalculatedas of theacquisitiondate. Total 209.2 238.7
Contractassets Information about the group's financial assets recognised as carrying

Whenitcomestosalesof solutions (projectsales), Nedermanrecognises
acontractassetorcontractliability inthe statement of financial position
when Nederman or the customer has fulfilled an obligation, depending
on the relationship between Nederman’s performance and the cus-
tomer's payment. Contract assets include recognised revenue for work
performed that has not yet been invoiced. For information on sales of
solutions, see Note 6 Revenue,andforinformationon contractliabilities,
seeNote220therliabilities.

amounts or as fair value, see note 26, Financial instruments.

19 Prepaid expenses and accrued income

SEKm 2021 2020
Rent/leasing 6.3 6.2
Computer/license costs 15.9 10.9
Insurance 2.7 4.1
Bank costs 0.5 0.7
Other 20.0 19.1
Total 45.4 41.0

20 Equity and number of shares

Accountingpolicies

Earningspershare theaverage number of shares thatwould beissued as an effect of the ongo-
Earnings per share before dilution are calculated based on the earnings for ingshare-related remuneration programme.

the period in the group attributable to the parent company's shareholders

inrelation to the average number of shares outstanding during the financial Dividends

year. Earnings per share after dilution are calculated based on the earnings Dividends are recognised as a liability after the Annual General Meeting has
fortheperiodinthegroupattributabletothe parentcompany'sshareholders approved thedividend payment.

inrelation tothe average number of shares outstanding with the addition of

Numberof shares 2021 2020
Issued number of shares as of 31 December 35,146,020 35,146,020
Weighted average number of shares prior to dilution 35,093,096 35,093,096
Weighted average number of shares after dilution 35,093,096 35,093,096

Registered share capital is SEK 1,171,534 (1,171,534). The par value of the shares is SEK 0.03.

Numberoftreasurysharesheld 2021 2020
Opening number of treasury shares held 52,924 52,924
Closingnumber of treasurysharesheld 52,924 52,924

Information about the group's share-related incentive plan, see note 8, Employees.

Earnings pershare, SEK 2021 2020
Year's earnings attributable to the parent company's shareholders 305.3 1104
Earnings per share before dilution 8.70 3.15

Earnings per share after dilution 8.70 3.15
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20 Equity and number of shares, continued

Dividend

TheBoardofDirectorsproposesadividendof SEK3.50(-) pershare, atotalof SEK122.8m* (-). Thedividend willbe adopted by the Annual General Meetingon 25 April 2022.

AtanExtraordinary GeneralMeetingof Shareholderson 25August 2021, itwasresolved thatadividend of SEK1.00 per share would be paid, corresponding to SEK35.1m.
Based on the group'’s financial stability and healthy capital structure, the Board's assessment was that a dividend was motivated. The dividend corresponded to 31.8
percentof netprofitforthe 2020financial year, meaning that the dividend wasinline with the company'sdividend policy.

Thegroup seeks to pay anordinary dividend each yearamounting to 30-50 percent of net profit for the year. The Board of Directors has proposed a dividend of SEK3.50
persharetothe 2022 Annual GeneralMeeting, correspondingto 7.2 percentof equity. During the pastfive years, the ordinary dividendhasamountedtoan average of 4.6
percentof equity. Thismeans that 30 percentof earnings per share hasbeendistributedinthe formof ordinary dividends.

*Basedonthe numberof sharesoutstandingat 31 December, 2021. The dividend amount could be changed as treasury shares could be converted by the record date of

13 April2022.

Hedgingreserve, SEKm 2021 2020
Cashflowhedging

Value at the beginning of the year - 1.2
Adjusted hedging reserve - -1.2

Valueattheendoftheperiod

The value of the hedging reserve at the start of 2020 was reduced by the corresponding amount and transferred to retained earnings in equity. The
transfer pertains to an adjustment of prior years' cash-flow hedging. No hedge accounting was applied, and thus the value at the end of the period was 0.

Capitalmanageent

According to the Board's policy, the group’s financial objective is to achieve a good capital structure and financial stability in order to maintain the trust
of investors, creditors and the market, and to form a good base for continued development of the business, while the long-term return generated for

shareholders remains satisfactory.

Capitaldefinedastotal equity, SEKm 2021 2020
Total equity 1,717.4 1,300.8
Netdebt/equityratio 2021 2020
Interest-bearing liabilities and pension provisions 1,6094 19173
Cash and cash equivalents -541.6 -466.8
Netdebt 1,067.8 1,450.5
Netdebt/equityratio 62.2% 111.5%

Thelowernetdebt/equityratioisaresultofastrengtheningofequityandalower
levelof netdebt. Due totherestructuringprogrammeimplementedduring 2020,
the group made significant cost savings, which led to improved profitability and,
accordingly, equity was strengthened. In addition, equity was impacted by the
weakened SEK, which led to the translation reserve, attributable to the transla-
tionof foreign subsidiaries,amounting to SEK131m. The lower level of netdebtis
bothattributabletoastrongercashbalanceandlowerinterest-bearingliabilities.
The foremost reason for the stronger cash balance is continued healthy orders
received for projects withresultingadvanced paymentsreceived. Interest-bear-
ing liabilities decreased by SEK 232m compared with the preceding year, which
was primarily attributable to repayments on the group’s loans. In comparison

21 Interest-bearing liabilities

Accountingpolicies

Drawn down loans comprise a financial liability and are measured
at amortised cost. Loans are initially recognised at the loan amount
received after deductions for transaction costs. After the acquisition
date, loans are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

For more information about the company's exposure to interest rate risks and
currencyrisks, see Note 3, Goaland policy regarding financial risk.

with the preceding year, the pension liability decreased by SEK 49m, which was
primarily aresult of the transition of the Norwegian defined-benefit pension lia-
bility to adefined-contribution pension plan. The lease liability also declined as a
resultof terminatedandrenegotiated contractsforpremises.

Afavourablenetdebt/equityratioandampleaccesstocashandcashequivalents
provides an opportunity to take advantage of the growth prospects anticipated
in the coming years, while the dividend policy is expected to be maintained. For
the samereason, issues of new shares will probably not be neededin the coming
years, exceptintheeventof majoracquisitions.

Long-termliabilities, SEKm 2021 2020
Bank loans 13046 1,536.7
Lease liabilities 1331 166.4
Total 1,437.7 1,703.1
Currentliabilities, SEKm 2021 2020
Current part of lease liabilities 69.5 631
Total 69.5 63.1

Totalinterest-bearingliabilities 1,507.2 1,766.2




CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 107

21 Interest-bearing liabilities, continued

Termsandrepaymentduedates
For terms and due dates for repayment, see the table below. No security for the bank loans has been provided.

Nominalamount

Nominal inoriginal Recorded
2021,SEKm Currency Duedate interest currency amount
Bank loan (revolving) SEK 2023-05-24 0.700% 110.0 109.7
Bank loan (revolving) SEK 2023-05-24 0.700% 450.0 448.9
Bank loan (revolving) SEK 2023-05-24 0.700% 46.5 46.4
Bank loan (revolving) SEK 2023-05-24 0.700% 200.0 199.5
Bank loan (revolving) SEK 2023-05-24 0.700% 120.0 119.7
Bank loan (revolving) UsD 2023-05-24 0.980% 9.0 81.2
Bank loan SEK 2023-05-24 0.700% 300.0 299.2
Lease liabilities 202.6
Totalinterestbearingliabilities 1,507.2

Nominalamount

Nominal inoriginal Recorded
2020, SEKm Currency Duedate interest currency amount
Bank loan (revolving) SEK 2022-05-24 1.750% 110.0 109.6
Bank loan (revolving) SEK 2022-05-24 1.750% 450.0 448.6
Bank loan (revolving) SEK 2022-05-24 1.750% 46.5 46.3
Bank loan (revolving) SEK 2022-05-24 1.750% 200.0 199.3
Bank loan (revolving) EUR 2022-05-24 1.750% 14.2 142.1
Bank loan (revolving) EUR 2022-05-24 1.750% 7.7 77.1
Bank loan (revolving) usD 2022-05-24 2.064% 26.3 214.7
Bank loan SEK 2022-05-24 1.750% 300.0 299.0
Lease liabilities 229.5
Totalinterestbearingliabilities 1,766.2
22 Other liabilities
Accountingpolicies

Contractliabilities

When it comes to sales of solutions (project sales), Nederman recognises a Contractliabilities include advance payments from customers for which rev-

contractassetorcontractliabilityinthe statementof financial positionwhen enueisrecognised when the performance obligationis completed. Forinfor-

Nederman or the customer has fulfilled an obligation, depending on therela- mationonsalesofsolutions, see Note6Revenueandforcontractassets, see

tionship between Nederman's performance and the customer's payment. Note180therreceivables.
Otherlong-termliabilities, SEKm 2021 2020
Deferred payment of acquisition price upon business acquisition (see note 4) 183 -
Other liabilities 5.3 2.1
Total 23.6 2.1
Othershort-termliabilities, SEKm 2021 2020
Personnel-related liabilities 57.4 451
VAT payable 438 30.1
Contract liabilities 404.2 260.1
Other liabilities 14.0 199
Total 519.4 355.2

Thegroup'sincreased ordersreceived, primarilyin Nederman Process Technology, with advance payments received asaresult, led toahigher closing contract liability at
31December2021. Theassessmentis thatseveral of these projects willnot commence until 2023, which means that the time from the advance payments untilthe start
of the projectsislongerthanisgenerally the rule forprojectsinthe Nedermangroup.

Forinformationaboutthegroup's financial liabilities recognisedas carryingamountsoras fairvalue, see note 26, Financialinstruments.
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23 Accrued Expenses and Prepaid Income

SEKm 2021 2020
Personnel-related expenses 162.0 127.1
Interest expenses 0.2 39
Audit expenses 59 4.7
Sales expenses 6.8 6.8
Freight and customs expenses 1.3 06
Other 44.7 36.6
Total 220.9 179.7

24 Provisions for pensions and similar obligations

Accountingpolicies

Defined-contribution pensionplans

Defined-contribution pension plans are plans where the company’s obli-
gation is limited to the contributions the company has undertaken to pay.
The size of the employee's pension depends on the contributions paid by
the company and the return on capital that the contributions provide. The
group’sobligationsfordefined-contribution plansarerecognisedasexpens-
esintheincomestatementastheyareearned.

In Sweden, the group has defined-contribution pension plans paid in full by
the companies. Outside of Sweden, there are defined-contribution plans,
which are paid for partly by the subsidiaries, and partly by payment from the
employees. Payments into these plans are continual in accordance with the
rulesforeachplan.

Obligations for old-age pensions and family pensions for employees in
Sweden are safeguarded via insurance in Alecta. According to a statement
from the Swedish Financial Accounting Standards Council, UFR 10, thisis a
defined-benefit plan that covers multiple employers. For the financial year
2021, the company has not had access to such information which makes
it possible to report this plan as a defined-benefit plan. The pension plan
according to ITP which is safeguarded via insurance in Alecta is therefore
reported as a defined-contribution pension plan. The annual charges for
retirementannuities whichare covered by Alectaamountsto SEK6.8m (6.2).
Alecta's surplus can be distributed to the holders of the insurance policies
and/or the ensured parties. The group's share of total savings premiums for
ITPinAlectaamountedto0.027 percent (0.039) and the group's share of the
totalnumber of active insuredindividuals amounts to 0.025 percent (0.026).
At the end of 2021, Alecta’s surpluses, in the form of the collective consoli-
dation level, amounted to 172 percent (148). The collective consolidation
level consists of the market value of Alecta’s assets as a percentage of the
insuranceobligationscalculatedaccordingtoAlecta’sactuarialassumptions,
whicharenotinaccordancewithIAS19.

Defined-benefitpensionplans

Defined-benefit plans are plans for post-employment benefits other
than defined-contribution plans. The group’s net liability in respect of
defined-benefitplansiscalculatedseparately foreachplanbyestimatingthe
future benefits that employees have earned through their employment in
both currentand prior periods; this benefitis discountedtoits present value.
Thediscountrateis theinterestrate at the balance sheet date on first-class
corporate bonds, including mortgage bonds, with a maturity corresponding
tothegroup's pensionobligations. When thereis not aviable market for such
corporate bonds, the market rate of interest for government bonds with a
similar maturity is used instead. The calculation is performed by a qualified

Estimationsandassessments

Assumptionsincalculationof pensionsandsimilarobligations

Provisionsand costsforpost-employmentremuneration, primarily pensions,
dependon the actuarial assumptions. Special assumptions and actuarial cal-
culations are conducted for each defined-benefit plan. The most significant
assumptionspertaintothediscountrateandinflation.Inflationassumptions
are based on analyses of external market indicators. A sensitivity analysis
thatis presented in the relevant note shows the effect of the defined-ben-

actuaryusingthe projected unitcreditmethod. The group's netliability is the
presentvalue of theliability less the fairvalue of the planassets, adjustedfor
anyassetrestrictions. Thenetinterestexpense/income of thedefined-ben-
efit liability/asset is recognised in the income statement under net financial
items. The netinterestincome/expense is based on the interest generated
by discounting the net liability, meaning the interest on the liability, the plan
assetsandtheinterestonthe effect of any assetrestrictions. Other compo-
nentsarerecognisedinoperatingincome. Revaluationsare made of changes
in the obligations' present value due to changed actuarial assumptions and
experience-based adjustments. The revaluations are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Changes to or curtailment of a defined-benefit plan
are recognised on the earliest of the following dates: a) when the change in
the plan or reduction occurs, or b) when the company recognises related
restructuring costs and redundancy payments. The changes/reductions
are recognised immediately in net profit for the year. This special employer’s
contribution is part of the actuarial assumptions and is recognised as part of
the netliability/asset. The part of the special employer's contribution that is
calculatedbased on the Swedish Pension Obligations VestingActin thelegal
entityisrecognisedforreasonsof simplificationasanaccrued expenserath-
erthanaspartof the netliability/asset. Taxon the return on pension fundsis
recognised in profit for the period to which the tax relates, and is therefore
not included in the debt calculation. For funded plans, the tax is charged to
the return on plan assets and is recognised in other comprehensive income.
Forunfunded or partially unfunded plans, the tax is charged to net profit for
the year. When there is a difference between how pension costs are deter-
minedinalegal entity and agroup, a provision or receivable is recognised for
the specialemployer’s contributionbasedon thisdifference. The provisionor
receivableisnotdiscounted.

The group has defined-benefit plans that pay remuneration in the form of
old-age pensionsandremunerationforhealthcare coststoemployeeswhen
they retire in Sweden, Germany, the USA, Poland, Thailand and Switzerland.
Costs for service during the current period are posted directly to the income
statement. However, most are closed obligations where no additional bene-
fitsareearned.

Discontinuationof defined-benefitpensionplan.

In 2021, the Group's defined-benefit pension planin Norway was discontin-
ued and has transitioned in its entirety to a defined-contribution pension
plan. At the time of the transition, net debt amounted to SEK 29.0m. Accord-
ingly, this discontinuation means that the Group's pension liability has been
reducedby SEK29.0mand theearningsimpactfromthediscontinuationwas
recognisedinacorrespondingamountasotheroperatingincome. The trans-
actiondid notentailanyimpactoncashflow.

efit obligations if material assumptions are changed. There are also other
assumptions, such as pace of salary increases, termination intensity, mor-
tality, cost trends for healthcare, and other factors. Actuarial assumptions
arereviewed annually or more frequently if there are indications of material
changes. Thecalculationsare performedby qualifiedactuaries.
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24 Provisions for pensions and similar obligations, continued

Defined-contributionplans

SEKm 2021 2020
Costs for defined-contribution pension plans -54.3 -499

Defined-benefitpensionplans

Defined-benefitnetliability, reportedinstatement of financial position, SEKm 2021 2020
Defined benefit obligation 374.7 4355
Fair value of plan asset 2725 284.4
Deficit(+)/Surplus(-) 102.2 151.1
Present value of entirely or partially funded obligations 272.7 329.2
Present value of unfunded obligations 102.0 106.3
Total presentvalue of defined-benefitobligations 374.7 435.5
Fair value of plan assets -272.5 -284.4
Netliability 102.2 151.1
Changeinpresentvalue of defined-benefitobligations, SEKm 2021 2020
Obligations for defined benefit plans, 1 January 4355 510.6
Discontinuation of defined-benefit obligations -67.2 -
Payment of pension benefits -29.3 -549
Cost of service in current period 9.3 119
Contribution and payments from plan participants 3.2 3.5
Interest cost 19 29
Revaluations

- Actuarial gains and losses for the revised demographic assumptions -13.4 0.0
- Actuarial gains and losses for changes in financial assumptions -1.3 9.5
- Experience-based gains/losses 15.3 -32.5
Translation differences 20.7 -15.5
Obligationsfordefinedbenefitplans, 31 December 374.7 435.5
Changesinfairvalue of defined-benefitplanassets, SEKm 2021 2020
Fair value of plan assets, 1 January 284.4 357.5
Discontinuation of defined-benefit plan -38.2 -
Payments to plans 8.2 9.8
Fees from participants included in the plan 3.0 33
Benefit payments from plan -23.1 -47.7
Interest income on plan assets 0.7 13
Return on plan assets, excluding interest income 196 -29.4
Translation differences 179 -10.4
Fairvalueof planassets, 31 December 272.5 284.4
Incomeand costsreportedinprofitfortheyear, SEKm 2021 2020
Costs for service in current period -93 -119
Net interest -1.2 -1.6
Effect of discontinuation of defined-benefit pension plan 29.0 -
Totalnetincome/costsintheincome statement 18.5 -13.5
of which, amounts affecting operating profit 19.7 -119
of which, amounts affecting financial costs -1.2 -16
Totalnetincome/costsintheincomestatement 18.5 -13.5
Incomeand costsrecognisedinothercomprehensiveincome, SEKm 2021 2020
Revaluations of pension commitments -0.6 23.0
Return on plan assets 19.6 -29.4
Revaluationof defined-benefitnetliabilitiesin othercomprehensiveincome 19.0 -6.4
Translation differences on foreign plans -3.5 2.7
Assumptionsfordefined-benefitobligations Switzerland Sweden Germany
Discount rate at 31 December 0.3%(0.2) 1.4%(1.0) 1.1%(0.9)
Future pension increases 0.3%(0.3) 2.2%(1.5) 1.5%(1.5)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table presents possible changes in actuarial assumptions on the closing date, with the other assumptions unchanged, and how these would
impact on the defined- benefit obligation.

SEKm +0,50% -0,50%
Increase/decrease in discount rate -27.7 314
Futurecashflow

As of 31/12/2021 the weighted average duration of commitments was 15.3 years (14.8). Expected payments in 2022 for defined-benefit pension plans
amount to SEK 25.3m.
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25 Other provisions

Accountingpolicies

Provisions

Provisions are recognised in the balance sheet when the group has alegal or
informal obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an out-
flow of financial resources will be required to settle the obligation, and when
theamount canbeestimatedreliably. If these criteria cannotbe met, contin-
gent liabilities may be recognised. Provisions are reviewed at each balance
sheetdate. Provisionsaredividedintolong-termandshort-term provisions.

Costsforrestructuringandredundancy payments

A provision for adopted restructuring measures is recognised when the
group has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the
restructuring has either begun or been publicly announced. Provisions for
restructuring often include termination benefits, which can be either vol-
untary orinvoluntary. Termination benefits are recognised according to the
same principles as provisions for restructuring, except in cases where there
are requirements to work during the notice period. The cost of this work is
allocated overthe periodinwhich the services were performed.No provision
is made for future operating expenses. Restructuring costs are recognised

Estimationsandassessments

Provisionsforproductguarantees

Provisions for product guarantees are based on estimations based on his-
torical experience and assumptions deemed reasonable under the prevail-
ing circumstances for the individual case. The actual outcome of product

asaseparateitemin theincome statement whenthese are attributable toa
significantchangeinthe groupstructure. Restructuring costs are otherwise
recognisedasanelementof otheroperatingexpenses.

Warranty commitments

Warranties are provided for sales depending on the nature and use of the
product. Warranty conditions provided ensure that the product or solution
concerned will function as the parties intended and that it meets agreed
specifications. No warranties are sold separately and no warranties are pro-
videdtothe customerasaseparateservice.Onthebasisof whatthe warran-
ty covers and with requirements as to how the product is to be used/main-
tained, none of the warranties given are regarded as separate performance
obligationsinaccordance with IFRS 15 Revenue, and are instead recognised
in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions. A provision for product warranties is
recognisedasanexpensewhen the underlyingproductsorservicesaresold.

guarantees may deviate from the anticipated outcome and have a material
impact on recognised guarantee costs and provisions during future periods
of time. Estimatesand assumptionsarereviewedonaregularbasis.

Restructuring/severance pay, SEKm 2021 2020 Losscontracts, SEKm 2021 2020
Reported value, opening balance 22.8 0.3 Reported value, opening balance 2.9 2.8
Provisions during the period 0.3 75.0 Provisions during the period - 31
Amount used during the period -12.4 -52.4 Utilised during the period - -24
Translation differences -0.1 -0.1 Translation differences -0.2 -0.6
Total 10.6 22.8 Total 2.7 2.9
Warranty commitments, SEKm 2021 2020 Other, SEKm 2021 2020
Reported value, opening balance 299 359 Reported value, opening balance 128 8.2
Provisions during the period 99 10.8 Provisions during the period 8.8 6.6
Utilised during the period -59 -11.1 Utilised during the period -36 -1.0
Reclassification 0.8 - Reclassification -1.1 -
Unutilised amount reversed during the period -3.1 -3.7 Unutilised amount reversed during the period -2.8 -0.2
Translation differences 2.2 -2.0 Translation differences -1.0 -0.8
Total 33.8 29.9 Total 13.1 12.8
Provisionsincludedinlong-termliabilities, SEKm 2021 2020 Provisionsincludedincurrentliabilities, SEKm 2021 2020
Restructuring /severance pay 0.1 01 Restructuring /severance pay 10.5 22.7
Warranty commitments 14.1 11.2 Warranty commitments 19.7 18.7
Other 5.0 5.2 Loss contracts 2.7 29
Total 19.2 16.5 Other 8.1 7.6
Total 41.0 51.9
Total provisions, SEKm 2021 2020
Reported value, opening balance 68.4 47.2
Provisions during the period 19.0 955
Utilised during the period -219 -66.9
Reclassification -0.3 -
Unutilised amount reversed during the period -59 -39
Translation differences 09 -3.5
Total 60.2 68.4
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26 Financial instruments

Accountingpolicies

Financialinstruments

Financial instruments recognised in the balance sheet include, on the asset
side, cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, derivative assets and
other receivables. The liability side includes borrowings, lease liabilities,
accountspayable, derivative liabilitiesand otherliabilities. Financialassets or
liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet when the company becomes a
party according to theinstrument's contract terms. Accounts receivable are
recognised in the balance sheet when control has been transferred to the
customer and the invoice has been sent. Liabilities are recognised when the
counterparty has performedand a contractual obligation to pay exists, even
if the invoice has not yet been received. Accounts payable are recognised
when the invoice has been received. A financial asset is derecognised in the
balance sheet when the contractual obligation is fulfilled, expires or the
company loses control over it. The same applies to part of a financial asset.
Afinancial liability is derecognised in the balance sheet when the obligation
specifiedinthe contractisdischargedorotherwise expires. Thesameapplies
to part of a financial liability. Financial assets and liabilities are offset and
recognised at the netamount presented in the balance sheet when there is
alegally enforceable right to offset the amount and when the intention is to
settleitemsonanetbasis, ortorealise the assetand settle the liability simul-
taneously. Acquisitions and divestments of financial assets are recognised
on the transaction date, which is the date that the company undertakes to
acquireordivesttheasset.

A financial instrument is classified based on the purpose of the acquisition.
A financial asset's classification determines how it is measured after initial
recognition. Financial instruments that are not derivatives are initially rec
ognised at cost, corresponding to the instrument's fair value plus transac
tion costs. Accountsreceivable and accounts payable have ashortexpected
maturity andaremeasuredatanominalamount.

Financial assetsandliabilitiesmeasured

atamortisedcost

The majority of the group's financial instruments consist of accounts receiv-
able, cash and cash equivalents, other receivables, interest-bearing loans,
leaseliabilities, accounts payable and other liabilities, which are measured at
amortised cost in accordance with the effective interest method. For these
categories of financial instrument, amortised cost is consistent with fair
value.

Accounts receivable and other receivables are financial assets that have
defined or definable payments and that are not listed on an active mar-
ket. Accounts receivable are recognised at the amount that is expected to
be received, meaning after deductions for expected credit losses for the
remaining term. See Note 17, Accounts receivable. Loans and other financial
liabilities are initially recognised at the loan amount received after deduc-
tions for transaction costs. After the acquisition date, loans are measured at
amortised costusingtheeffectiveinterestmethod.

Financialassetsandliabilitiesare measured
atfairvalueviatheincomestatement

Financial assets and liabilities in this category are measured on an ongoing
basis at fair value, with changesin fair value recognised in the income state-
ment. Derivatives thatare not used for hedge accounting are also measured
onanongoingbasis at fair value, with changesin fair value recognisedin the
income statement. Derivative tradingis carried out to hedge the group’s cur-
rencyrisks.Derivativeswithpositive values (unrealisedgains)arerecognised
asothernon-currentorcurrentreceivables. Changesinfairvalueinregardto
derivatives where the underlying transactions relate to operations are rec
ognised as other operatingincome/other operating expensesin the income
statement. Changes in the fair value of derivatives where the underlying
transactions are financial are recognised in net financial items. During 2021,
SEK 0.0m (-1.2) was recognised in net financial items in relation to earnings
effectsfromthehedgingof currencyrisks.

The carryingamount and fair value of these instruments can be foundin the
following tables. The measurement at fair value for such assets has been
based on market terms using observable market data which are not quoted
inanactivemarket (level2).

Cashandcashequivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and immediately available balanc
eswithbanksandsimilarinstitutions.

Hedgeaccounting

If the criteria for hedge accounting, in respect of cash flow hedging, are
met, the effective part of the change in the fair value of the derivative is
recognisedin other comprehensive income and accumulated in the hedging
reserve in equity. The cumulative gains or losses recognised in the hedging
reserve are reversed to earningsin the same period as the hedged cash flow
affectsearnings.Anyineffective portion of the changeinvalueis recognised
directlyinearnings.If the hedging relationshipisinterrupted and cash flowis
still expected to occur, the accumulated change in value is recognisedin the
hedging reserve until the cash flow attributable to the hedged item affects
earnings. In cases where the forecast cash flow underlying the hedging
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative change in value
recognisedinthehedgingreserveistransferreddirectlytotheincomestate-
ment.During 2021, nohedge accountingwasapplied.

Nettingagreementsandsimilaragreements

The group s included in derivative contracts under the International Swaps
and Derivatives Association (ISDA) master netting agreements. The agree-
ments mean that when a counterparty is unable to settle its obligations
underalltransactions, theagreementis brokenandall outstandingbalances
are to be settled in a net amount. ISDA agreements do not meet the criteria
for offsetting in the statement of financial position. This is because off-set-
ting under ISDA agreements is only permitted if the other party or group
cannot settle their obligations. Moreover, it is not the counterparty’s or the
group’s intention to settle transactions on a net basis, or at the same time.
The group’s currency derivatives are covered by legally enforceable frame-
workagreements fornettingorasimilaragreement.
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26 Financial instruments, continued

2021 2020
Fairvalue Fairvalue Fairvalue Fairvalue
via viaother via viaother
Carryingamountsandfairvalues theincome comprehensive Amortised theincome comprehensive  Amortised
forfinancialinstruments, SEKm Note st 1t income cost Total statement income cost Total
Financialassets
Accounts receivable 17 - - 623.0 623.0 - - 477.0 477.0
Other current receivables 18 - - 209.2 209.2 - - 238.7 238.7
Cash and cash equivalents 30 - - 541.6 5416 - - 466.8 466.8
Total - - 1,373.8 1,373.8 - - 1,182.5 1,182.5
Financialliabilities
Lease liabilities 21 - - 202.6 202.6 - - 229.5 229.5
Bank loans 21 - - 1,3046 1,3046 - - 1,536.7 1,536.7
Accounts payable - - 4119 411.9 - - 334.5 334.5
Foreign exchange forwards level 2 0.0 - - 0.0 - - - -
Other long-term liabilities 22 - - 236 236 - - 2.1 2.1
Other current liabilities 22,23 - - 740.3 740.3 - - 5349 5349
Total 0.0 - 2,683.0 2,683.0 - - 2,637.7 2,637.7

27 Government grants

Accountingpolicies

In 2021, government grants amounting to SEK 5.7m (27.3) were received and
were recognised in the income statement. Government grants were mainly
received from European government bodies and primarily pertain to assistance
forshort-timeworkrelatingtocovid-19.

Government grants are financial contributions from government and
supranational bodies and are received in exchange for the Nederman
group meeting certain established conditions. Contributions attrib-
utable to assets are recognised in the balance sheet, either as prepaid
income or as a reduction in the attributable assets’ carrying amounts.
Contributions that are attributable to earnings are recognised as pre-
paidincome inthe balance sheetand reduce costsin the period to which
the grant pertains. If costs arise before the contributions have been
received,butanagreementhasbeenfinalisedforreceiptof thecontribu-
tions, the contributionsarerecognisedin theincome statement to meet
thecoststowhichthegrantpertains.

28 Pledged assets and contingent liabilities

Accountingpolicies

Pledgedassets, SEKm 2021 2020

Contingentliabilities

A contingent liability is recognised when there is a possible liability that
arises from past events, that is not recognised as a liability or provision
because itis not probable that an outflow of resources will be required
orthatanadequatelyreliable estimate of theamountcannotbe made.

Warranty commitments

Warranty commitments pertain to bank guarantees and mean that the
company has an obligation to compensate the owner of a debt instru-
mentforlossesthattheownermayincurbecauseaspecifieddebtorfails
tomake paymentwhen due under the contract terms. Financial guaran-
teeagreementsarerecognisedasaprovisionin the balance sheetwhen
the company has a commitment for which payment will probably be
requiredinordertosettle theobligation.

Pledged assets for debts and provisions:

Assets with ownership restrictions

(right-of-use assets, see note 15) 374.4 4159
Total 374.4 415.9
Contingentliabilities, SEKm 2021 2020
FPG/PRI 0.7 0.7
Warranty commitments 61.7 52.4
Total 62.4 53.1
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29 Related party transactions

Transactions with the Board of Directors or Group management comprise remu-
nerationandare presentedinNote 8, Employees.

No member of the Board of Directors or senior executives have or have had any
directorindirect participationinany business transaction with group companies
whichis or was of an exceptional character with regard to terms and conditions
thatoccurred during the year orinany previous financial year. Nor has any group
company providedanyloan, givenanyguaranteesorenteredintoanysuretyrela-
tionships for any of the members of the Board of Directors or senior executives.

Transactions between Nederman Holding ABand its subsidiaries were eliminat-
edinthegroupandarenotreportedinthisnote.

30 Cash flow

Accountingpolicies

Cashflowstatement
The cash-flow statement was prepared according to with the indirect
method. Foreign group companies'cash flows arerestated ataverage rates.

Changes in group structure, acquisitions and divestments are recognised
net, excluding cashand cash equivalents, and are included in cash flow from
investingactivitiesunderacquisition of subsidiaries/businesses.

Liquidfunds, SEKm 2021 2020
Subcomponents of cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents 5416 466.8
Totalaccordingtostatementoffinancial position 541.6 466.8
Adjustmentsforitemsnotincludedin cashflow, SEKm 2021 2020
Capital gain on sale of tangible assets 0.2 -0.4
Capital gain/loss on terminated lease contracts before the end date -4.6 -1.3
Provisions -9.2 248
Discontinuation of defined-benefit pension plan (see note 24) -29.0 -
Total -42.6 23.1
Unusedcredits, SEKm 2021 2020
Disposable funds 1,3394 1,130.1
Financial activities
The below table shows changes in liabilities included in financial activities.
Itemsnotaffectingcashflow
Amountat Changes Exchange Changein
beginningof impacting Business Interest& rategains/ lease Amountat
2021, SEKm theyear cashflow  acquisition fees losses liabilities yearend
Long-term interest-bearing liabilities - bank loans 1,536.7 -247.7 - 18 138 - 1,304.6
Lease liabilities 229.5 -74.0 0.5 - 9.5 37.1 202.6
Total -321.7
Itemsnotaffectingcashflow
Amountat Changes Exchange Changein
beginningof impacting Business Interest& rategains/ lease Amountat
2020, SEKm theyear cashflow acquisition fees losses liabilities yearend
Long-term interest-bearing liabilities - bank loans 1,5756 -26 - 2.0 -38.3 - 1,536.7
Short-term interest-bearing liabilities - bank loans 5.0 -5.2 - - 0.2 - -
Lease liabilities 275.7 -70.4 - - -14.7 389 229.5
Other -0.8
Total -79.0
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31 Alternative performance measures

In addition to information on our reported IFRS results, we provide of the discontinuation of the Norwegian defined-benefit pension plan.
certain information on an underlying business performance basis. We For further information see note 24, Provisions for pensions and similar
believe that our underlying business performance measures provide obligations. The transaction is of a non-recurring nature and was thereby
meaningful supplemental information to both management, investors reversed in the calculation of the performance measures Adjusted
and other stakeholders. These underlying business performance operating profit, Adjusted EBIT, Adjusted EBITDA and the Interest cover
measures should not be viewed in isolation or as substitutes to the ratio to create comparability between the periods and to understand
equivalent IFRS measures, but should be used in conjunction with the the profitability of the business. Other performance measures were
most directly comparable IFRS measures in the reported results. In consistently applied compared with previous year. See page 132 for
2021, other operating income of SEK 29.0m was recognised as a result definitions.
SEKm 2021 2020 SEKm 2021 2020
Operating profit 458.9 219.0 Equity - opening balance 1,3008 1,382.0
Acquisition costs 13 16 Equity - closing balance 1,717.4 1,300.8
Restructuring costs - 75.0 Equity - average 1,509.1 1,341.4
Discontinuation of defined-benefit pension plan -29.0 - Net profit/loss for the period 305.3 1104
Adjusted operatingprofit 431.2 295.6 Returnonequity 20.2% 8.2%
Adjusted operating profit 431.2 2956 Equity - average 1,509.1 11,3414
Net sales 4,041.8 3,6748 Net Debt - opening balance 1,4505 1,564.1
Adjustedoperatingmargin 10.7% 8.0% Net Debt - closing balance 10678 1,450.5
Net debt - average 1,259.2 1,507.3
Operating profit 458.9 219.0 Operating capital - average 2,7683 2,8487
Amortisation intangible assets 634 56.7 Adjusted operating profit 431.2 295.6
EBITA 522.3 275.7 Returnoncapital 15.6% 10.4%
EBITA 5223 275.7 Net sales 4,0418 36748
Acquisition costs 13 16 Operating capital - average 2,768.3 2,8487
Restructuring costs - 75.0 Capital turnoverrate, multiple 1.5 1.3
Discontinuation of defined-benefit pension plan -29.0 -
AdjustedEBITA 494.6 352.3 Net debt 1,067.8 1,4505
Adjusted EBITDA 605.5 461.2
Adjusted EBITA 494.6 352.3 Netdebt/Adjusted EBITDA, multiple 1.8 3.1
Net sales 4,0418 3,6748
Adjusted EBITAmargin 12.2% 9.6% Adjusted EBITDA 605.5 461.2
Net financial items -41.8 -70.5
Operating profit 4589 219.0 Adjusted EBITDA/netfinancialitems, multiple 14.5 6.5
Depreciation 1743 1656
EBITDA 633.2 384.6 Profit before tax 417.1 1485
Financial expenses 45.2 71.7
EBITDA 633.2 384.6 Acquisition costs 13 16
Acquisition costs 13 16 Restructuring costs - 75.0
Restructuring costs - 75.0 Discontinuation of defined-benefit pension plan -29.0 -
Discontinuation of defined-benefit pension plan -29.0 - Adjusted profit before tax
AdjustedEBITDA 605.5 461.2 excluding financial expenses 434.6 296.8
Financial expenses 45.2 717
Adjusted EBITDA 605.5 461.2 Interestcoverratio, multiple 9.6 4.1
Net sales 4,041.8 3,6748
Adjusted EBITDAmargin 15.0% 12.6% Incoming orders, same period in previous year 3,480.2 4,1684
Change in incoming orders, organic 1,352.8 -831.6
Equity - closing balance 1,717.4 1,300.8 Change in incoming orders, currency effects -211.2 -116.2
Balance sheet total 4,729.0 4,2495 Change inincoming orders, acquisitions 11 259.6
Equity/assetratio 36.3% 30.6% Incomingorders 4,622.9 3,480.2
Cash and cash equivalents 5416 466.8 Order growth, organic 389% -19.9%
Long-term interest-bearing liabilities 1,3046 1,536.7 Order growth, currency effects -6.1% -2.8%
Long-term lease liabilities 1331 166.4 Order growth, acquisitions 0.0% 6.2%
Pension liabilities 102.2 1511 Ordergrowth 32.8% -16.5%
Current lease liabilites 69.5 63.1
Netdebt 1,067.8 1,450.5 Net sales, comperative period previous year 36748 4,307.7
Change in net sales, organic 547.5 -755.4
Net debt 10678 14505 Change in net sales, currency effects -181.5 -122.6
Equity - closing balance 1,717.4 1,300.8 Change in net sales, acquisitions 1.0 245.1
Netdebt/equityratio 62.2% 111.5% Netsales 4,041.8 3,674.8
Net debt 1,0678 14505 Sales growth, organic 149% -17.5%
Equity - closing balance 1,7174 1,300.8 Sales growth, currency effects -4.9% -2.9%
Operatingcapital 2,785.2 2,751.3 Sales growth, acquisitions 0.0% 5.7%
Salesgrowth 10.0% -14.7%

32 Events after the end of the reporting period

Nosignificanteventsoccurredafterthebalancesheetdate.
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Income statement for the Parent company

1January-31December

SEKm Note 2021 2020
Netsales 2,20 264 26.8
Administrative expenses 5.6,7.8 -140.7 -1123
Reseachanddevelopementexpenses -0.4 -0.5
Restructuringcosts 3 - -116
Otheroperatingrevenueandexpenses 4 -0.3 -53
Operatingprofit -115.0 -102.9
Earnings from particiationsingroup companies 9,20 2128 31
Interestincomeandsimilaritems 9,20 0.7 39
Interestexpensesandsimilaritems 9,20 -138 -149
Profitafterfinancialitems 84.7 -110.8
Group contribution 10,20 127.5 39.0
Profitbeforetax 212.2 -71.8
Taxes 11 -1.7 14.3
Netprofitfortheyear 210.5 -57.5

Statement of comprehensive income for the Parent company

1January-31December
SEKm 2021 2020

Netprofitfortheyear 210.5 -57.5
Othercomprehensiveincome - -
Itemsthatcannotbereclassifiedtotheincomestatement - -

Itemsthathavebeenorcanbereclassified tonet profit - -

Othercompehensiveincomefortheyear, netaftertax - -
Totalcomprehensiveincomefortheyear 210.5 -57.5
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Balance sheet for the Parent company

31December

SEKm Note 2021 2020
Assets
Intangible fixedassets 12 141.3 129.1
Tangiblefixedassets 13 4.3 49
Financial fixed assets

Participationsingroup companies 14 2,155.1 2,122.9

Otherlong-termreceivables 09 0.7

Deferredtaxassets 11 129 14.3
Totalfinancialfixedassets 2,168.9 2,137.9
Totalfixedassets 2,314.5 2,271.9
Currentassets
Receivables fromgroup companies 20 225.7 1230
Taxassets 11 0.6 -
Otherreceivables 15 6.8 1.7
Prepaidexpensesandaccruedincome 16 14.7 125
Cashandcashequivalents 21 0.5 0.4
Totalcurrentassets 248.3 137.6
Totalassets 2,562.8 2,409.5
Equity
Restricted equity
Share capital 1.2 1.2
Reserves 292.5 292.5
Fundfordevelopmentexpenditure 84.6 319
Totalrestricted equity 378.3 325.6
Unrestrictedequity 22
Share premiumreserve 59 59
Retainedearnings 441.1 586.4
Netprofitfortheyear 2105 -57.5
Totalunrestricted equity 657.5 534.8
Totalequity 1,035.8 860.4
Liabilities
Liabilities togroup companies 20 1,102.7 1,167.5
Otherlong-termliabilities 17 183 -
Provisions 1.0 10
Totallong-termliabilities 1,122.0 1,168.5
Accountspayable 20.8 20.6
Taxliabilties 11 - 31
Liabilities togroup companies 20 360.7 342.8
Otherliabilities 17 2.0 15
Accruedexpensesand prepaidincome 18 215 12.6
Totalcurrentliabilities 405.0 380.6
Totalequityandliabilities 2,562.8 2,409.5
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Statement of changesin equity for the Parent company

Restrictedequity Unrestrictedequity Totalequity
Fundfor Share Retainedearnings,
development premium includingnet
Sharecapital Reserves expenditure reserve profitfortheyear
Openingequity 2020-01-01 1.2 292.5 27.1 59 591.2 917.9
Netprofitfortheyear - - - - -57.5 -57.5
Transfertodevelopmentfund - - 4.8 - -4.8 -
Othercomprehensiveincome
Total othercomprehensiveincomefortheyear - - - - - -
Total comprehensiveincome - - 4.8 - -62.3 -57.5
Closingequity 2020-12-31 1.2 292.5 31.9 5.9 528.9 860.4
Openingequity 2021-01-01 1.2 292.5 319 59 528.9 860.4
Netprofitfortheyear - - - - 210.5 2105
Transfertodevelopmentfund - - 52.7 - -52.7 -
Othercomprehensiveincome
Totalothercomprehensiveincomefortheyear - - - - - -
Total comprehensiveincome - - 52.7 - 157.8 210.5
Transactionswith Group’sowners
Dividend - - -35.1 -35.1

Closingequity2021-12-31 1.2 292.5 84.6 5.9 651.6 1,035.8
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Cash flow statement for the Parent company

1january-31December

SEKm Note 2021 2020
Operatingactivities
Operatingprofit/loss -115.0 -1029
Adjustmentforitemsnotincludedincashflow 21 38.6 35.0
Dividendsreceived 20 2128 31
Interestreceivedand otherfinancialitems 0.7 19
Interestpaidand otherfinancialitems -7.8 -7.0
Incometaxpaid -4.1 -5.2
Cashflowfromoperatingactivitiesbefore changesinworking capital 125.2 -75.1
Cashflowfromchangesinworkingcapital
Increase (-)/Decrease(+) of operatingreceivables -7.3 8.2
Increase (+)/Decrease (-) of operatingliabilities 4.8 76.1
-2.5 84.3
Cashflowfromoperatingactivities 122.7 9.2
Investmentactivities
Capitalexpenditure fortangible fixedassets -19 -34
Capitalexpenditureforintangible fixed assets -49.2 -61.9
Acquisition/capital contribution, subsidiaries -14.7 -150.8
Cashflowfrominvestmentactivities -65.8 -216.1
Financialactivities
Group contributions received/paid -53.6 109.5
Changeininterest-bearingreceivables/liabilitiesingroup companies 319 97.4
Dividend paid -35.1 -
Cashflowfromfinancingactivities -56.8 206.9
Cashflowfortheyear 0.1 0.0
Cashandcashequivalentsatthebeginningof theyear 0.4 0.4
Cashandcashequivalentsattheendoftheyear 21 0.5 0.4
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1 Accounting policies 5 Employees
The parent company has prepared its annual accounts in accordance with the 2021 2020
Swedish Annual Accounts Act (1995:1554) and RFR 2 Accounting for Legal Enti- Averagenumber of Women = Men| = Total SWomen iMen" STotal
tiesissued by the Swedish Financial Reporting Board. This means thatthe parent employees
company appliesinits financial reporting, as faras possible, all EU-approved IFRS Sweden 12 16 8 11 17 28
under the Swedish Annual Accounts Act and that it takes into account the con- Total 12 16 28 11 17 28
nectionbetweenaccountingandtaxation.
Distributionaccordingtogenderinsenior
Nederman group’s accounting policies appear in each note in the consolidated management, percentageof women 2021 2020
section of the Annual Report. The principle differences between the accounting Boardof Directors, proportion of women 33% 33%
policies applied in Nederman group and in the parent company are described in Otherseniorexecutives 20% 20%
therespectivenotesintheparentcompany sectionof the AnnualReport.
Salaries, otherremunerationandsocial security
Accountingpolicies Note expenses, SEKm 2021 2020
Sales 2 Revenue Salariesandotherremuneration 36.0 29.1
Leasing 7 Leasing Socialsecurity expenses 136 106
Dividend 9 Netfinancialitems Pensionexpenses* 7.3 6.1
Shareholders’contributions 10 Appropriations *Of the company's pension costs SEK 1.6m (1.8) concerns the CEOfor the parent
Capitaliseddevelopmentexpenditure 12 Intangiblefixedassets company. Thereare nooutstanding pension obligations to the Group's Board of
. o P Directors, CEOandsenior executives.
Financial fixed assets 14 Sharesand participations
Financialguarantees 19 Pledgedassetsandcontingent
liabilities Salariesandotherremunerationallocatedbetween
theBoard of Directorsand otheremployees, SEKm 2021 2020
Boardof Directors, CEOand seniorexecutives 184 14.1
(of whichvariable compensation) (4.3) (11)
2 Revenue Otheremployees 176 15.0
Total 36.0 29.1
Accountingpolicies
6 Pensions
Revenue
The parentcompany'srevenue consists of inter-company management
fees, whichareinvoiced to the subsidiaries. Revenue frommanagement SEKm 2021 2020
fees is recognised at a point in time, which is when the service is per- Costsfordefined-contribution pensionplans 7.3 6.1
formedandthe subsidiaries canbenefitfromthe service provided. Total 7.3 6.1

SEKm 2021 2020
Managementcharges 26.4 26.8
Total 26.4 26.8

3 Restructuring costs

SEKm 2021 2020
Restructuringexpensesallocatedonfunctions

Administrativeexpenses - 11.6
Total - 11.6

Restructuringexpensesallocated onexpensesby nature
Otherexternal costs - 116
Total - 11.6

4 Other operating income and expenses

SEKm 2021 2020
Exchangegainsandlossesonoperatingreceivables/ -03 -5.3
liabilities

Total -0.3 -5.3

Formoreinformationabouthandlingof pensions, see groupnote 24, Pension

provisionsandsimilarobligations.

7 Leasing

Accountingpolicies

Leasing

Inaccordance with RFR 2, the parent company applies the exemptionin
IFRS 16, which means that the parent company recognises lease pay-
mentsasoperatingexpensesintheincome statementonastraight-line

basisovertheleasetermforallleases.

Leasingfeeswerethecompanyisthelessee, SEKm 2021 2020
Futureleasingfeesfornon-cancellableleasing contract

amountto:

Withinoneyear 0.4 06
Betweenoneandfiveyears 0.1 0.5
Total 0.5 1.1
Expensedleasingcosts, SEKm 2021 2020
Leasingexpenses 0.6 0.6
Total 0.6 0.6




8 Fees and expenses to auditors

SEKm 2021 2020
EY

Auditassignment 0.9 0.7
Audit-relatedfee 0.7 0.5
Total 1.6 1.2

9 Net financial items

Accountingpolicies

Revenuefromdividends

Revenue from dividends is recognised when the right to receive divi-
dends has been established. Dividends received are recognised as rev-
enue regardless of whether or not the dividends relate to profit earned

beforetheacquisitiondate.

SEKm 2021 2020
Earningsfrom participationsingroup companies

Dividend 212.8 3.1
Total 212.8 3.1
Interestincomeandsimilaritems

Otherfinancialincome, group companies 0.7 3.0
Exchangeratechanges - 0.9
Total 0.7 3.9
Interestexpensesandsimilaritems

Interestexpenses, creditinstitutions -0.1 -
Otherfinancialexpenses, group companies -11.2 -14.3
Exchangeratechanges -2.5 -0.6
Total -13.8 -14.9

12 Intangible fixed assets

Accountingpolicies

Capitaliseddevelopmentexpenditure

Developmentexpenditure capitalisedduring theyear, fordevelopmentwork
performed within the Nederman group on intangible assets, the amount is

10 Appropriations

Accountingpolicies

Groupcontribution
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Recognition of group contributions was made in accordance with the
alternative rule in RFR 2, meaning that group contributions are rec

ognisedasappropriations.

SEKm 2021 2020
Groupcontribution 127.5 39.0
Total 127.5 39.0
11 Income tax

Reportedinincomestatement

Currenttaxexpense (-)/taxincome (+), SEKm 2021 2,020
Taxexpensefortheperiod -03
Adjustmentof taxrelating topreviousyears - 03
Total -0.3 0.3
Deferredtaxexpense(-)/taxincome (+)

Deferredtaxincome concerningtaxloss

carryforwards -14 14.0
Totalreportedtaxexpense -1.7 14.3
Reconciliation of effective tax, SEKm 2021 2020
Profitbeforetax 212.2 -718
Taxaccordingtotheapplicabletaxrate -43.7 154
Non-taxdeductibleexpenses -1.8 -1.5
Non-taxableincome 43.8 0.7
Taxrelatingtopreviousyears 03
Effectof changesintaxratesandtaxrules - -0.6
Reportedeffectivetax -1.7 14.3
Postedinthestatementof financial position

Deferredtaxassets, SEKm 2021 2020
Deferredtaxassetsrelatetothefollowing:

Intangible fixedassets 0.2 0.2
Provisions 0.2 0.1
Losscarryforwards 125 14.0
Deferredtaxassets/liabilitiesaccordingto 12.9 14.3

statementoffinancial position

transferred fromunrestricted equity toareserve for development expendi-

turepertainingtorestrictedequity.

2021
Capitalised Current
development Computer investmentsand
SEKm expenditure programmes prepayments Total
Accumulatedcost
Openingbalance 136.6 82.4 294 2484
Internally developedassets 30.0 - - 30.0
Capitalexpenditure - 11.7 7.5 19.2
Soldandscrapped -08 -4.6 - -5.4
Reclassifications - 294 -29.4 -
Closingbalance 165.8 118.9 7.5 292.2
Accumulatedamortisationandimpairment
Openingbalance -59.8 -59.5 -119.3
Soldandscrapped - 4.6 4.6
Amortisation -21.1 -15.1 -36.2
Closingbalance -80.9 -70.0 - -150.9
Carryingamount
Openingbalance 76.8 229 294 129.1
Closingbalance 84.9 48.9 7.5 141.3
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12 Intangible fixed assets, continued

2020
Capitalised Current
development Computer investmentsand

SEKm expenditure programmes prepayments Total
Accumulatedcost
Openingbalance 104.6 819 186.5
Internally developedassets 32.0 - 32.0
Capitalexpenditure - 0.5 294 299
Closingbalance 136.6 82.4 29.4 248.4
Accumulatedamortisationandimpairment
Openingbalance -41.9 -48.8 -90.7
Amortisation -17.9 -10.7 -28.6
Closingbalance -59.8 -59.5 - -119.3
Carryingamount
Openingbalance 62.7 331 95.8
Closingbalance 76.8 22.9 29.4 129.1
Amortisationandimpairments, SEKm 2021 2020
Amortisationisincludedinthefollowingrowsintheincomestatement:
Administrativeexpenses -36.2 -28.6
Total -36.2 -28.6

Currentinvestmentsand prepaymentswasaddedasacategoryin 2021 and the comparative figureswere thusadjusted. Thismeantthat SEK29.4mofinvestmentsin
2020werereclassified fromcomputer programmestocurrentinvestmentsand prepayments.

13 Tangible fixed assets
2021 2020
Equipment Current Equipment Current
toolsand investmentsand toolsand investmentsand
SEKm fixtures prepayments  Total fixtures prepayments  Total
Accumulatedcost
Openingbalance 135 - 135 10.1 - 101
Capitalexpenditure 0.2 1.7 19 3.4 - 34
Soldandscrapped -1.0 - -1.0 - -
Closingbalance 12.7 1.7 14.4 13.5 - 135
Accumulateddepreciationandimpairment
Openingbalance -8.6 - -8.6 -6.6 - -6.6
Depreciation -2.5 - -2.5 -2.0 - -2.0
Soldandscrapped 1.0 - 1.0 - -
Closingbalance -10.1 - -101 -8.6 - -8.6

Carryingamount

Openingbalance 4.9 - 4.9 3.5 - 3.5

Closingbalance 2.6 1.7 4.3 4.9 - 4.9
Depreciationandimpairments, SEKm 2021 2020
Depreciationisincludedinthefollowingrowsintheincomestatement:

Administrative expenses -2.5 -2.0
Total -2.5 -2.0

14 Shares and participations

Accountingpolicies

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are the companies over which Nederman Holding AB has a con-
trollinginfluence. Controllinginfluence exists if Nederman Holding ABhasan
influence over the investment object, is exposed to or has rights to variable
returns from its involvement and can use its influence over the investment
to affect these returns. When determining whether a controlling influence
exists, potential voting shares are taken into consideration. Participations
in subsidiaries are recognised in the parent company in accordance with the
cost method. All expenses incurred in connection with business combina-
tions, including acquisition-related expenses, are capitalised in the parent

company’s financial statements as part of the cost of subsidiaries’ shares.
Sharesinsubsidiariesandreceivables from subsidiaries are tested forimpair-
ment annually and in the event of an indication of impairment. Impairment
testing is carried out by comparing the parent company's recognised cost
with the subsidiaries’ net asset value, including their long-term earning
capacity. Anyimpairmentlossesarenotreversed.

Shareholders’contributionsforlegalentities
Shareholders’ contributions are added to the value of shares and participa-
tionsinthebalance sheet, afterwhichimpairmenttestingis carriedout.
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2021 2020

Corporate Carrying Carrying
Theparentcompany'sholdingsof shares identification Number Ownership amount  amount
and participationsingroup companies number Domicile/Country ofshares share SEKm SEKm
ABPh.Nederman&Co 556089-2951 Helsingborg, Sweden 550,000 100% 329.2 329.2
AuburnFilterSenseLLC 6543811 Wilmington, DEUSA - -* - -
EFTFranceHolding 429043276 Pontcharra, France - -* - -
Energy Save SystemLtd 09308305 Kettering, UK 100 100% 32.1 -
FiltacAB 556652-2750 Kinna, Sweden - 100% 122 12.2
Gasmet Technologies (Asia) Ltd 950990 HongKong - -* - -
Gasmet Technologies (UK) Ltd 2301809 Naseby, UK -*
Gasmet Technologies GmbH HRB105091 Karlsruhe, Germany - -* - -
Gasmet TechnologiesInc. 707771-8 Toronto, Canada - -* - -
Gasmet Technologies Oy 2681803-8 Helsinki, Finland 31,403 100% 515.7 515.7
LCICorporationInternational 56-0732889 Charlotte, NCUSA - -* - -
Lebon &GimbrairBeheerN.V. 31033906 Amersfoort, the Netherlands - 100% 26.7 26.7
LuwaAirEngineering(Pte.)Ltd. 197400205K Singapore, Singapore -* - -
LuwaAirEngineering(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. 913100006073822526 Shanghai,China - -* - -
LuwaAirEngineering AG CHE-112.154.099 Zurich, Switzerland 950,000 100% 203.2 203.2
LuwaAmerica, Inc (201412600738 Greensboro,NCUSA - -* - -
LuwaHavalandirmaTeknikleriSanayive Ticaret 826319
LimitedSirketi Istanbul, Turkey - -* - -
LuwalndiaPrivate Limited UO1711KA1993FTC014292 Bangalore, India -* -
MenardiFiltersEuropeA/S 38209205 Mariager, Denmark - 100% 0.7 0.7
MenardiLLC 56-2173466 Wilmington, DEUSA - -* - -
MicroPul AustraliaHoldings PtyLtd 75000932374 Bayswater, Victoria, Australien -* -
MicroPul AustraliaPty Ltd 303573307 Bayswater, Victoria, Australien - -* - -
MikroPulFrance SAS 303573307 Pontcharra, France - -* - -
MikropulHoldingBV 17119906 Amersfoort, theNetherlands 100% -
Monitoring Systems GmbH FN211207z Mauerbach, Austria - -* - -
National ConveyorsCompany Inc. 22-1547550 New York, NY USA -* -
Nederman (Malaysia) SdnBhd. 892768T Selangor, Malaysia -* -
Nederman (Shanghai)ColLtd 9131000067113929XX Shanghai,China - -* - -
NedermanCanadaltd 105836613 Mississauga, Canada 1 100% 32.1 32.1
Nederman Corporation 56-0488262 Wilmington, DEUSA -* - -
NedermanCRs.r.o. 25634364 Prague, Czech Republic 1 100% 0,0 0,0
NedermanDanmark, Filialaf NedermanNordicAB 36414642 Mariager, Denmark -* -
Nederman Distribution Sales AB 556272-9854 Helsingborg, Sweden - -* - -
NedermandoBrasil Comérciode Produtosde 05.880.850/0001-45 SaoPaulo, Brazil
Exaustaoltda 3,365 100% 6.1 6.1
NedermanFiltration AB 556609-6177 Malmo, Sweden - -* - -
NedermanFiltration GmbH** HRB391382 Freiburg, Germany - -* - -
NedermanFiltrationLtd 562216 Preston, UK - -* -
NedermanFinance AB 559160-6081 Helsingborg, Sweden 1,000 100% 0.5 0.5
NedermanGmbH (Austria) FN2315530k Vienna, Austria - -* - -
Nederman GmbH** HRB225315 Stuttgart, Germany - 100% 19.2 19.2
NedermanHoldingDanmarkA/S 28301650 Mariager, Denmark 60,500 100% 231.3 2313
NedermanHolding Germany GmbH HRB701805 Freiburg, Germany - -* - -
NedermanHoldingUSAInc 80-0699546 Wilmington, DEUSA 100% 106.5 106.5
NedermanlbéricaS.A. A79441762 Madrid, Spain - -* - -
NedermanIndiaPrivate Limited U74900PN2008FTC144278 Pune,India 100,000 100% 106 106
NedermanInsightAB 559175-9468 Helsingborg, Sweden 1,000 100% 0.2 0.1
NedermanInsight NUF 926115898 Skedsmo, Norway - -* - -
NedermanlInternational TradingShanghaiCo.Ltd ~ 91310115688759399Y Shanghai,China - -* - -
Nederman Logistics North AmericaLtd 426065-1 Mississauga, Canada - -* - -
NedermanLtd 1393492 Preston, UK 10,000 100% 49.3 493
NedermanMagyarorszagKft 01-09-874950 Budapest, Hungary - 100% 0.2 0.2
NedermanMakine SanayiVe TicaretLimitedSirketi 647743 Istanbul, Turkey 53%* 7.6 7.6
NedermanManufacturing&LogisticsLLC 90-0676051 Wilmington, DEUSA - -* - -
NedermanManufacturing (Suzhou)CoLtd 913205057820624593 Suzhou, China - -* - -
NedermanManufacturingPoland Sp.zo.o. 0000050307 Marki, Poland -*
NedermanMikropul Canadalnc. 56-2172876 Wilmington, DEUSA - -* - -
NedermanMikroPul GmbH** HRB33261 Cologne, Germany - -* - -
NedermanMikroPulHoldingInc 04-3833071 Wilmington, DEUSA -*
NedermanMikropul LLC 46-4352369 Wilmington, DEUSA - -* - -
Nederman MikroPulPoland Sp.zo.o. 0000617869 Marki, Poland - -* - -
NedermanMikroPul Pty Ltd 75002459672 Bayswater, Victoria, Australia 100% 14.4 144
NedermanN.\V./S.A. 428727 Brussels, Belgium 4,000 100% 30.4 30.4
NedermanNederland BV 58655360 Amersfoort, theNetherlands - -* - -
NedermanNordicAB 556426-7358 Helsingborg, Sweden 2,000 100% 1106 110.6
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14 Shares and participations, continued

2021 2020
Corporate Carrying Carrying
Theparentcompany'sholdingsof shares identification Number Ownership amount amount
and participationsingroup companies number Domicile/Country ofshares share SEKm SEKm
NedermanNorge, Filial til Nederman Nordic 914149762 Skedsmo, Norway - - -
Nederman000 1082468018511 Moscow, Russia - -* -
Nederman PolskaSp.zo.o. 0000109291 Marki, Poland - -* -
NedermanS.deR.L.deCV MIKO001128K6 Coljuarez, Mexico - - -
NedermanS.AS. 434134615 Paris, France - -* -
NedermanSEACoLtd 105534081588 Chonburi, Thailand - - -
NedermanShared ServicesLLC 46-4172135 Wilmington, DEUSA - - - -
NEOMonitorsAS 986076832 Skedsmo, Norway 147,076 100% 4159 4159
NEOMonitors Corporation 85-1153790 Wilmington, DEUSA - Bl - -
NordfabDuctingColtd 125549002956 Chonburi, Thailand - 51%* 0.2 0.2
NordfabEurope AS 17011405 Mariager, Denmark - -* -
NordfabLLC 56-1230979 Wilmington, DEUSA - - - -
PTNedermanIndonesia - Jakarta, Indonesia - 10%* 0.2 0.2
Total 2,155.1 2,122.9

*100% owned by the group

**The company applies the exemptioninsection 264 (3) HGBfor the financial year 2021. Thismeans that the company is exempt fromissuingalocalannual reportinits

home country.

Accumulatedcost, SEKm 2021 2020
Openingbalance 2,1229 2,027.3
Acquisitionof group companies 32.1 29
Capital contribution 0.1 92.7

ClosingbalanceatDecember31

2,155.1 2,122.9

15 Other receivables

Otherreceivableswhicharecurrentassets, SEKm 2021 2020
VAT receivable 56 1.7
Otherreceivable 12 -
Total 6.8 1.7

16 Prepaid expenses and accrued income

19 Pledged assets and contingent liabilities

Accountingpolicies

Financialguarantees

Theparentcompany'sfinancialguaranteesconsistmainly of guarantees
on behalf of subsidiaries. Financial guarantees mean that the company
hasanobligationtocompensate theownerofadebtinstrumentforloss-
esthattheownermayincurbecauseaspecified debtorfailstomake pay-
ment when due under the contract terms. The parent company recog-
nisesfinancialguarantee agreementsasaprovisioninthebalance sheet
when the company has a commitment for which payment will probably

berequiredinordertosettletheobligation.

SEKm 2021 2020
Computer/licensecosts 114 9.8
Insurance 0.8 2.4
Other 2.5 0.3 Pledgedassets, SEKm 2021 2020
Total 14.7 125 Intheformof pledgedassetsforownliabilitiesand provisions:
Sharesinsubsidiaries None None
None None
17 Other liabilities
Contingentliabilities, SEKm 2021 2020
FPG/PRI 0.7 0.7
Otherlong-termliabilities, SEKm 202 T e070 Guaranteesonbehalf of subsidiaries 3660 4158
Deferredpaymentofacquisition price 183 - Total 366.7 416.5
(seemoreingroupnote4).
Total 18.3
20 Related party transactions
Othershort-termliabilities, SEKm 2021 2020
Personnel-related|iabilities 2.0 1.5 ) o L
Total 2.0 15 Theparentcomparllylhaslrelated partyrelationshipswithitssubsidiaries,seenote
14 Sharesand participations.
No member of the Board of Directors or senior executives have or have had any
18 Accrued expenses and prepaid income directorindirect participationinany business transaction with group companies
which is or was of an exceptional character with regard to terms and conditions
thatoccurred during the year orinany previous financial year. Nor has any group
SEKm 2021 2020 company providedanyloan, givenanyguaranteesorenteredintoanysuretyrela-
Personnel-relatedexpenses 200 lel tionships for any of the members of the Board of Directors or senior executives.
Auditexpenses 03 03 Loanstosubsidiariesare made onmarket terms.
Other 1.2 0.2
Total 21.5 12.6
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20 Related party transactions, continued

Related party transactions, subsidiaries, SEKm 2021 2020 Transactionswithkeypersonsinleadingpositions

Netsales -Managementcharges 26.4 268 Regarding thesalariesand otherremuneration, costsand commitmentsforpen-
Dividendsreceived 2128 3.1 sions and similar benefits, and severance payment agreements for Board mem-
Group contributionreceived 127.5 39.0 bers, the CEO and other senior executives, see group Note 8 Personnel and note
Financialincome 0.7 3.0 24 Provisionforpensionsandsimilarobligations.

Financialexpenses -11.1 -14.3

Receivables, 31 December 225.7 123.0

Liabilities, 31 December 1,4634 1,510.3

21 Cash flow

Liquidfunds, SEKm 2021 2020
Subcomponentsincashandcashequivalents:

Cashandcashequivalents 0.5 0.4
Total 0.5 0.4
Adjustmentsforitemsnotincludedincashflow, SEKm 2021 2020
Depreciation 38.7 30.6
(Capitalgains/losses fixedassets 0.8 -
Unrealisedtranslationdifferences -09 34
Provisions 0.0 1.0
Total 38.6 35.0
Unused credits, SEKm 2021 2020
Disposablefunds 0.5 04

Financial activities
Thefollowingtableshowsthechangesinreceivablesandliabilitiesincludedinfinancial activities.

Itemsnot

Amountat Cashflow affectingcash flow

beginning Interests Exchangerate Amountat
2021,SEKm of theyear andfees gains/losses yearend
Long-terminterest-bearing liabilities group companies 1,167.5 -65.8 - 1.0 1,102.7
Short-terminterest-bearingassets (-) &liabilites (+) group companies 180.9 97.7 53 -1.0 2829
Total 31.9

Itemsnot

Amountat Cashflow affectingcash flow

beginning Interests Exchangerate Amountat
2020,SEKm oftheyear andfees gains/losses yearend
Long-terminterest-bearing liabilities group companies 1,1709 - - -34 1,167.5
Short-terminterest-bearingassets (-) &liabilites (+) group companies 74.8 97.4 53 34 180.9
Total 97.4
22 Appropriation of profit or loss
Thefollowingisatthedisposalof the Annual GeneralMeeting of NedermanHolding AB (publ):
SEK 2021 2020
Share premiumreserve 5,866,700 5,866,700
Retainedearnings 441,226,753 586,402,571
Netprofitfortheyear 210,455,783 -57,499,101
Total 657,549,236 534,770,170
TheBoardof Directors propose
adividendtoshareholdersof SEK3.50(-) pershare* 122,825,836 -
tobetransferredtotheshare premiumreserve 5,866,700 5,866,700
tobetransferredtoretainedearnings 528,856,700 528,903,470
Total 657,549,236 534,770,170

* Based onthe number of shares outstanding at 31 December. The dividend amount could be changed as treasury shares could be converted by the record date of 13 April
2022.

23 Events after the end of the reporting period

Nosignificanteventsoccurredafterthe balancesheetdate.
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Signatures

The consolidated accounts and the annual report have been pre-
pared in accordance with international accounting standards as
prescribed in Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European Par-
liamentand of the Councildated 19 July 2002 concerning the appli-
cationofinternational accounting standards and good accounting
practice in Sweden, and give a fair picture of the Group's and par-
entcompany’s positionand results.

The Directors’ Report for the Group and parent company pro-
vides a fair overview of the Group's and parent company's
activities, position and results and describe the main risks
and uncertainties facing the parent company and Group com-
panies. The annual report and consolidated accounts will
be subject to adoption by the Annual General Meeting on
25April2022.

Helsingborg, 15March 2022

JohanHjertonsson
Chairman

GunillaFransson
Board member

Johan Menckel
Board member

Sam Stromerstén
Board member

YlvaopdenVelde Hammargren
Board member

SvenKristensson
Board memberand CEO

Ourauditreportwasissuedon17March 2022
Ernst& Young AB

StaffanLandén
Authorised Public Accountant



Auditor'sreport

AUDIT REPORT

TOTHE GENERALMEETING OF THESHAREHOLDERS OF ABCAB,

CORPORATEIDENTITY NUMBER 556576-4205

REPORT ONTHE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS AND CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS

Opinions

We have audited the annual accounts and consolidated accounts
of Nederman Holding AB (publ) except for the corporate gover-
nance statementand the statutory sustainability report on pages
72-75,78-79and 35-51respectively for the year 2021. The annual
accounts and consolidated accounts of the company are included
onpages 35-125in thisdocument.

In our opinion, the annual accounts have been prepared in accor-
dance withthe Annual Accounts Actand presentfairly, inallmate-
rial respects, the financial position of the parent company as of
31 December 2021 and its financial performance and cash flow
for the year then ended in accordance with the Annual Accounts
Act. The consolidated accounts have been preparedinaccordance
withthe Annual Accounts Actand presentfairly, inallmaterial res-
pects, the financial position of the group as of 31 December 2021
and their financial performance and cash flow for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards (IFRS), as adopted by the EU, and the Annual Accounts Act.
Our opinions do not cover the corporate governance statement
and the statutory sustainability report on pages 72-75, 78-79 and
35-51 respectively. The statutory administration report is consis-
tentwith the other parts of theannual accountsand consolidated
accounts.

Key Audit Matters

We therefore recommend that the general meeting of share-
holders adopts the income statement and balance sheet for the
parentcompany andthe group.

Our opinions in this report on the annual accounts and consoli-
dated accounts are consistent with the content of the additional
report that has been submitted to the parent company’s audit
committee in accordance with the Audit Reqgulation (537/2014)
Article1l.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Stan-
dardson Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted auditing standards
in Sweden. Our responsibilities under those standards are fur-
ther described in the Auditor's Responsibilities section. We are
independent of the parent company and the group in accordan-
ce with professional ethics for accountants in Sweden and have
otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in accordance with
these requirements. This includes that, based on the best of our
knowledge and belief, no prohibited services referred to in the
Audit Regulation (537/2014) Article 5.1 have been provided to the
audited company or, where applicable, its parent company or its
controlled companies withinthe EU.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide abasis for our opinions.

Key audit matters of the audit are those matters that, in our pro-
fessional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
annual accounts and consolidated accounts of the current period.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of, and
in forming our opinion thereon, the annual accounts and consoli-
dated accounts as a whole, but we do not provide a separate opi-
nion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of
how our audit addressed the matteris providedin that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section

of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to
respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the financial statements. The results of our audit procedu-
res, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis forouraudit opinionontheaccompanying
financial statements.
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Valuation of Goodwill

Description
How ouraudit addressed this key audit matter

The carrying value of goodwill at 31 December 2021 was SEK
1 609,2 million which corresponds to 34 % of the company's
total assets in the group. The company conducts an annual
review andinthe eventofanindication of impairment, toassu-
re that the carrying value does not exceed the estimated reco-
verable value. The recoverable amount is determined for each
cash generating unit by calculating the present value of futu-
re cash flows. Future cash flows are based on management's
businessplansandforecasts, andinclude anumberof assump-
tions, including on earnings performance, growth, investment
requirementsandthediscountrate.

Changesinassumptions have agreatimpacton the calculation
of the recoverable value and the assumptions that the compa-
ny makeswillbe of greatimportance whendeterminingif there
is a need for impairment. We have therefore considered that
the valuation of goodwillis akey audit matterin the audit.

Revenuerelating to Solutions (project sales)

A description of the impairment test is presented in Note 13
“Intangible assets".

How our auditaddressed this key audit matter

In our audit, we have evaluated and tested the company's pro-
cess to establish the impairment test, including by evaluating
past accuracy of forecasts and assumptions. We also made
comparisons with other companies in order to evaluate the
reasonableness of future cash flows and growth assump-
tions, and with the help from our valuation specialists exami-
ned the selected discount rate and assumptions about long
term growth. We have also reviewed the company’s model and
method for carrying outimpairment testingand evaluated the
company'’s sensitivity analyses. We have also reviewed the
disclosuresinthe financial statements.

Description
How our audit addressed this key audit matter

Net sales for the group 2021 amounts to total SEK 4 041,8 mil-
lionand of this SEK 1 664,4 million relates to solutions (project
sales), representing 41 % of total net sales. The accounting
policies that the company applies for revenue recognition
attributable to solutions is described on page 91 of the annual
report, in Note 6 “Sales”. The revenue of solutions is accoun-
ted for over time by measuring the current fulfillment of the
performance obligation and comparing it to the complete ful-
fillment of the performance obligation. This is done by putting
the accrued expenses inrelation to the total projected expen-
sesof goodsor services that have been agreed upon. Revenue
recognition of solutions requires estimates in measuring the
current fulfillment of the performance obligation and compa-
ring it to the complete fulfillment of the performance obliga-
tion. Changes in these estimations can have a material impact
on the result of the company, and we have therefore conside-

red revenue recognition related to solutions to be a key audit
matterinthe audit.

How ourauditaddressed this key audit matter

We have reviewed the company's process for
revenue recognition of the segment solutions and assessed
the company’s estimation of the grade of fulfillment of the
performance obligation. We have by testing samples reviewed
the company’s assessments of expected profit or loss of the
projectby comparisonswithagreements, historical resultsand
budget. The assessments made by the company regarding the
risk of losshave alsobeenreviewed. We have alsoreviewed the
disclosuresinthe financial statements.

OtherInformation than the annual accounts and consolidated accounts

This document also contains other information than the annual
accounts and consolidated accounts and is found on pages 1-34
and132-136.TheBoardof Directorsandthe ManagingDirectorare
responsible forthis otherinformation.

Our opinion on the annual accounts and consolidated accounts
does not cover this other information and we do not express any
formofassurance conclusion regarding this otherinformation.

In connection with our audit of the annual accounts and consoli-
dated accounts, our responsibility is to read the informationiden-
tified above and consider whether the information is materially
inconsistentwith theannual accountsand consolidated accounts.
In this procedure we also take into account our knowledge other-
wise obtained in the audit and assess whether the information
otherwise appears tobe materially misstated.



If we, based on the work performed concerning this information,
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this otherinfor-
mation, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
reportinthisregard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors

and the Managing Director

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are respon-
sible for the preparation of the annual accounts and consolida-
ted accounts and that they give a fair presentation in accordance
with the Annual Accounts Act and, concerning the consolidated
accounts,inaccordance withIFRS asadoptedby the EU. The Board
of Directors and the Managing Director are also responsible for
such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of annual accounts and consolidated accounts
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the annual accounts and consolidated accounts, The
Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for
the assessment of the company’s and the group's ability to conti-
nue as agoing concern. They disclose, as applicable, matters rela-
ted to going concern and using the going concern basis of accoun-
ting. The going concern basis of accounting is however not applied
if the Board of Directors and the Managing Director intends to
liquidate the company, to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative buttodoso.

The Audit Committee shall, without prejudice to the Board of
Director’s responsibilities and tasks in general, among other
things oversee the company’'s financial reporting process.

Auditor'sresponsibility

Ourobjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the annual accounts and consolidated accounts as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and toissue an auditor's report that includes our opinions. Reaso-
nable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guaran-
teethatanauditconductedinaccordance with ISAs and generally
acceptedauditing standards in Sweden will always detect a mate-
rial misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual
accountsand consolidated accounts.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professi-
onal judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout
theaudit. Wealso:

m |dentifyandassess therisks of material misstatement of the
annualaccountsand consolidated accounts, whetherdue to
fraud orerror, designand performaudit proceduresresponsive
tothoserisks, and obtain audit evidence thatis sufficientand
appropriate toprovide a basis forouropinions. Therisk of not
detectingamaterial misstatementresulting from fraudis
higherthanforoneresultingfromerror, as fraud may involve
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collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
ortheoverride of internal control.

m Obtainanunderstanding of the company’sinternal control
relevanttoourauditinordertodesignaudit procedures that
areappropriatein the circumstances, but not forthe purpose
of expressingan opiniononthe effectiveness of the compa-
ny'sinternal control.

= Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
andthereasonableness of accounting estimatesand related
disclosures made by the Board of Directors and the Managing
Director.

= Concludeontheappropriateness of the Board of Directors'
andthe Managing Director’s use of the going concern basis of
accountingin preparing the annual accountsand consolidated
accounts. Wealsodraw a conclusion, based onthe auditevi-
dence obtained, as to whetherany material uncertainty exists
related toeventsorconditions that may castsignificant doubt
onthe company’s and the group’s ability to continue asagoing
concern. If we conclude thatamaterial uncertainty exists, we
arerequiredtodraw attentioninourauditor'sreporttothe
related disclosuresintheannualaccountsand consolidated
accountsor,if suchdisclosures areinadequate, to modify our
opinionabout the annualaccounts and consolidated accounts.
Ourconclusions are based on the auditevidence obtained up
tothedate of ourauditor'sreport. However, future events
or conditions may cause acompany andagroup tocease to
continue asagoingconcern.

m Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
theannualaccountsand consolidated accounts, including the
disclosures, and whether the annual accountsand consoli-
dated accountsrepresent the underlying transactions and
eventsinamannerthatachievesfairpresentation.

= Obtainsufficientand appropriate auditevidenceregarding
the financialinformation of the entities or business activities
within the group to expressanopinion onthe consolidated
accounts. Weareresponsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
forouropinions.

We must inform the Board of Directors of, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit. We must also inform of
significant audit findings during our audit, including any signifi-
cantdeficienciesininternal control that we identified.

We mustalso provide the Board of Directors withastatement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threatsorrelated safequards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of theannual accounts and consolidated accounts, including
themostimportantassessedrisks formaterial misstatement, and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these mattersin
the auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes disclosure
aboutthe matter.
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REPORTONOTHERLEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Reportontheaudit of the administration and the proposed appropriations of the company’s profitorloss

Opinions

Inaddition to our audit of the annual accounts and consolidated

accounts, we have alsoaudited the administration of the Board

of Directors and the Managing Director of Nederman Holding AB
(publ)fortheyear2021 and the proposed appropriations of the

company's profitorloss.

Werecommend tothe general meeting of shareholders that the
profitbeappropriated (loss be dealt with)inaccordance with
the proposalinthe statutory administrationreportandthatthe
members of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director be
discharged from liability for the financial year.

Basis foropinions

We conducted the auditinaccordance with generally accepted
auditing standardsin Sweden. Ourresponsibilities under those
standardsare furtherdescribed inthe Auditor's Responsibilities
section. We areindependent of the parent company and the
groupinaccordance with professional ethics foraccountantsin
Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibilitiesin
accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the auditevidence we have obtainedis sufficient
and appropriate to provide abasis for our opinions.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing
Director

TheBoard of Directorsisresponsible for the proposal forapp-
ropriations of the company's profitorloss. At the proposal of a
dividend, thisincludes anassessment of whetherthe dividend
isjustifiable considering the requirements which the company's
andthegroup'stype of operations, size and risks place on the size
of the parent company’'s and the group’s equity, consolidation
requirements, liquidity and positionin general.

TheBoard of Directorsisresponsible for the company's organiza-
tionand the administration of the company’s affairs. Thisincludes
among other things continuous assessment of the company'sand
the group's financial situation and ensuring that the company’s
organizationis designed so that the accounting, management of
assetsandthe company's financial affairs otherwise are control-
ledinareassuringmanner. The Managing Director shallmanage
the ongoing administration according to the Board of Directors’
guidelinesandinstructionsand amongother matters take

The auditor'sexamination of the ESEF report

measuresthatare necessary to fulfill the company’s accounting
inaccordance withlaw and handle the management of assetsina
reassuring manner.

Auditor'sresponsibility

Our objective concerning the audit of the administration, and
thereby ouropinionaboutdischarge from liability, is to obtain
auditevidence toassesswithareasonable degree of assurance
whetherany member of the Board of Directors or the Managing
Directorinany materialrespect:

m hasundertakenanyactionorbeen guilty of any omission
which can giverise toliability to the company, or

m inanyotherway hasactedin contravention of the Companies
Act, the Annual Accounts Act or the Articles of Association.

Ourobjective concerning the audit of the proposed appropri-

ations of the company's profit or loss, and thereby our opinion

aboutthis, is toassess withreasonable degree of assurance

whetherthe proposalisinaccordance with the Companies Act.

Reasonable assuranceisahighlevel of assurance, butisnota
guaranteethatanauditconductedinaccordance with generally
acceptedauditingstandards in Sweden willalways detectactions
oromissions thatcan giverise toliability to the company, or that
the proposedappropriations of the company’s profit orloss are
notinaccordance with the Companies Act.

Aspartofanauditinaccordance with generally accepted auditing
standardsin Sweden, we exercise professionaljudgmentand
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. The
examination of the administration and the proposed appropri-
ations of the company's profitorlossis based primarily on the
audit of theaccounts. Additional audit procedures performed are
basedonourprofessionaljudgmentwith starting pointinriskand
materiality. Thismeans that we focus the examination onsuch
actions, areasandrelationships thatare material for the opera-
tionsand where deviations andviolations would have particular
importance forthe company's situation. We examine and test
decisionsundertaken, support for decisions, actions takenand
othercircumstances thatarerelevanttoouropinion concerning
discharge fromliability. As abasis for our opinion on the Board

of Directors'proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or
loss we examined whetherthe proposalisinaccordance with the
CompaniesAct.

Opinion

Inaddition to our audit of the annual accountsand consolidated
accounts, we have also examined that the Board of Directors and
the Managing Directorhave prepared the annual accountsand
consolidatedaccountsinaformat thatenables uniformelectronic
reporting (the Esefreport) pursuantto Chapter 16, Section 4(a)
of the Swedish Securities Market Act (2007:528) for Nederman
Holding AB (publ) for the financial year 2021.

Ourexaminationand ouropinionrelate only to the statutory
requirements.

Inouropinion, the ESEF report #70edbd2eal2bb4ef-
0d962b52b213b077313fcf2e394b40331e66d6913629b7c9b
hasbeenpreparedinaformatthat, inallmaterial respects,
enablesuniformelectronicreporting.

Basis foropinion

We have performed the examinationinaccordance with FAR's
recommendation RevR 18 Examination of the ESEF report. Our
responsibility under thisrecommendationis describedin more
detailinthe Auditors'responsibility section. We are independent
of Nederman Holding AB (publ)inaccordance with professional



ethicsforaccountantsin Swedenandhave otherwise fulfilled our
ethicalresponsibilitiesinaccordance with these requirements.

We believe that the evidence we have obtainedis sufficientand
appropriate toprovide a basis forouropinion.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the
ManagingDirector

TheBoard of Directorsand the Managing Director are responsible
forthe preparation of the Esef reportinaccordance with Chapter
16, Section 4(a) of the Swedish Securities Market Act (2007:528),
andforsuchinternal control that the Board of Directorsand the
Managing Director determineis necessary to prepare the Esef
reportwithout material misstatements, whether due tofraudor
error.

Auditor'sresponsibility

Ourresponsibilityis to obtainreasonable assurance whether

the Esefreportisinall material respects preparedinaformat
thatmeets the requirements of Chapter 16, Section 4(a) of the
Swedish Securities Market Act (2007:528), based on the procedu-
resperformed.

RevR 18 requiresustoplanand execute procedurestoachieve
reasonable assurance thatthe Esefreportis preparedinaformat
thatmeets these requirements.

Reasonable assuranceisahighlevel of assurance, butitisnota
guarantee thatanengagementcarried outaccordingtoRevR 18
and generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden willalways
detectamaterial misstatementwhen it exists. Misstatements
canarise fromfraud orerrorand are considered material if,
individually orinaggregate, they could reasonably be expected
toinfluence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
the Esefreport.

TheauditfirmappliesISQC1 Quality Control for Firms that
Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Statements, and other
Assurance and Related Services Engagements andaccordingly
maintains acomprehensive system of quality control, including
documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with
professional ethical requirements, professional standards and
legalandregulatory requirements.

The examinationinvolves obtaining evidence, through various
procedures, thatthe Esef reporthasbeenpreparedinaformat
thatenables uniformelectronicreporting of the annual and
consolidatedaccounts. The procedures selected depend on
the auditor'sjudgment, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatementinthereport, whetherdue tofraud or
error.Incarryingoutthisriskassessment, andinorder to design
audit procedures thatare appropriate in the circumstances, the
auditor considers those elements of internal control thatare
relevanttothe preparationof the Esef report by the Board of
Directorsand the Managing Director, but not for the purpose of
expressinganopinion on the effectiveness of thoseinternal
controls. The examination alsoincludes an evaluation of the
appropriatenessandreasonableness of assumptions made by
the Board of Directors and the Managing Director.

The procedures mainly include a technical validation of the Esef
report, i.e.if the file containing the Esef report meets the techni-
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calspecificationset outinthe Commission’s Delegated Regula-
tion (EU) 2019/815and areconciliation of the Esef report with the
audited annualaccounts and consolidated accounts.

Furthermore, the proceduresalsoinclude anassessment of
whetherthe Esef reporthasbeen marked with iXBRL which
enablesafairand complete machine-readable version of the
consolidated statement of financial performance, financial posi-
tion, changesinequity and cash flow.

The auditor’'sexamination of the corporate

governance statement

TheBoard of Directorsisresponsible for that the corporate
governance statementonpages72-75and 78-79 has been pre-
paredinaccordance with the Annual Accounts Act.

Ourexamination of the corporate governance statementis con-
ductedinaccordance with FAR s standard RevR 16

Theauditor’sexamination of the corporate governance state-
ment. Thismeans that our examination of the corporate gover-
nance statementisdifferentand substantially lessin scope than
anaudit conductedinaccordance with International Standards on
Auditingand generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden.
We believe that the examination has provided us with sufficient
basis for our opinions.

Acorporate governance statementhasbeen prepared. Disclosu-
resinaccordance with chapter6section6 the second paragraph
points 2-6 of the Annual Accounts Actand chapter 7 section 31
the second paragraph the same law are consistent with the other
parts of theannualaccountsand consolidated accountsandarein
accordance with the Annual Accounts Act.

The auditor’s opinionregarding the statutory
sustainability report

TheBoard of Directorsis responsible for the statutory sustaina-
bility reportonpages 35-51, and thatitis preparedinaccordance
with the Annual Accounts Act.

Ourexamination hasbeen conductedinaccordance with FAR's
auditingstandard RevR 12 The auditor s opinionregarding the
statutory sustainability report. This means that our examination
of the statutory sustainability reportis differentand substan-
tially lessin scope thananaudit conductedinaccordance with
International Standards on Auditingand generally accepted
auditing standardsin Sweden. We believe that the examination
has provided us with sufficient basis for our opinion.

Astatutory sustainability reporthas been prepared.

Ernst& Young AB, Box 7850103 99 Stockholm, was appointed
auditor of Nederman Holding ABs by the general meeting of the
shareholdersonthe 26 April 2021 and has been the company's
auditorsince the 22 April 2015.

Helsingborg17 March 2022
Ernst&Young AB

StaffanlLandén
Authorized Public Accountant
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Definitions

Returnonequity
Net profit for the year after tax divided by average equity.

Returnonoperating capital
Adjusted operating profitasapercentage of average operating
capital.

EBITA
Operating profitbefore amortisation and impairment of
intangible assets.

EBITAmargin
EBITAasapercentage of sales.

EBITDA
Operating profitbefore depreciation, amortisationand
impairment.

EBITDA margin
EBITDA asapercentageof netsales.

Equity pershare
Equity divided by the average number of shares outstanding.

Adjusted EBITA

Operating profitbefore amortisationand impairment loss of
intangible assets, excludingacquisition andrestructuring costs
anddiscontinuation of the Norwegian defined-benefit pension
plan.

Adjusted EBITA margin
Adjusted EBITA as apercentage of sales.

Adjusted EBITDA

Operating profitbefore depreciation/amortisationand
impairmentloss, excludingacquisitionand restructuring costs
anddiscontinuation of the Norwegian defined-benefit pension
plan.

Adjusted EBITDA margin
Adjusted EBITDA as percentage of sales.

Adjusted operating profit

Operating profit excluding acquisition and restructuring costs
anddiscontinuation of the Norwegian defined-benefit pension
plan.

Adjusted operating margin
Adjusted operating profitasapercentage of netsales.

Capital turnoverrate
Netsalesdivided by average operating capital.

Netdebt
Interest-bearing liabilities (including pensions) less cash and cash
equivalents.

Netdebt/equityratio
Netdebtdivided by equity.

Operating capital
Equity plus netdebt.

Organicgrowth

Growthrate thatdoesnot come fromacquisitions or currency
effects, compared with the corresponding periodin the preceding
year.

Earnings pershare (before dilution)

Netprofitforthe yearattributable to parentcompany
shareholdersinrelationtothe average number of shares
outstanding.

Earnings pershare (afterdilution)

Netprofitforthe yearattributable to parentcompany
shareholdersinrelationtothe average number of shares
outstanding plus the average number of convertibles and
warrants, as calculatedinaccordance with IAS 33.

Interestcoverratio
Profitbefore tax with areversal of financial expensesinrelation
tofinancial expenses.

Operating profit
Operating profit afterdepreciation, amortisation and impairment.

Operatingmargin
Operatingprofitasapercentage of netsales.

Equity/assetsratio
Equity divided by total assets (balance sheet total).

Currency-neutral growth

Currency-neutralgrowthisthe growthrate thatdoesnot come
fromcurrency effects, compared with the corresponding periodin
the precedingyear.

Annualaverage
Average of balance at the beginningand end of the year.



Articles of Association

Nederman Holding AB (publ.)
Corp.Reg. No.556576-4205

1§COMPANY NAME
Thename of the company is Nederman Holding Aktiebolag. The
company isapubliccompany (publ).

2 §REGISTERED OFFICE.
Theregistered office of the Board of Directorsisin Helsingborg
municipality.

3§COMPANY’'S OPERATIONS.

Theobject of the company’s operationsis todirectly or through
subsidiaries produce and market products toimprove the
industrialworkplace environmentand toownand manage
enterprisesaswell asreal estate and personal property, and to
engagein compatible operations.

4§SHARECAPITAL.

The company's share capital shallnot be lower thanseven
hundred and fifty thousand (SEK 750,000) and shall not exceed
three million (SEK'3,000,000).

5§ NUMBER OF SHARES.
Thenumber of shares shallbe nolower than ten million
(10,000,000) and shallnot exceed forty million (40,000,000).

6§ VPC-REGISTERED COMPANY.
Thecompany'ssharesshallberegisteredinaCSDregisterin
accordance with the Swedish Central Securities Depositories and
Financial Instruments (Accounts) Act (1998:1479).

7SFINANCIALYEAR.
The company's financial year willcomprise 1 January - 31
December.

8 §BOARD OF DIRECTORS.

TheBoardof Directors shall consist of atleast three (3) and
notmore than eight (8) memberswithamaximum of three (3)
deputies.Board members willbe elected annually at the Annual
GeneralMeeting for the period extendinguntil the close of the
nextAnnual General Meeting.

9§AUDITOR.

The firmshallhave atleastone (1) and no more than two (2)
auditors, without orwithnomore thanone (1) deputy auditor. An
authorized publicaccountantoraregisteredauditing firm shall be
appointed auditorand, where appropriate, deputy auditor.

10§ NOTICEOF ANNUAL GENERALMEETING.

Notice of Annual General Meeting shallbe givenin the Swedish
Official Gazette (Post- ochInrikes Tidningar) aswellasonthe
company'swebsite. Itshallbe advertisedin Svenska Dagbladetor,
if publicationis cancelled, inDagens Industriinstead, that notice
of the meetinghasbeengiven.
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11§RIGHTTOPARTICIPATEIN ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING.

Shareholderswhowish to participatein proceedings atthe
Annual General Meeting must be included inthe transcript of the
entire shareregisterontherecorddate for the annual general
meeting, whichis determinedinaccordance with the Swedish
Annual Accounts Act, and they mustregister with the company
notlaterthanthe day specifiedin the notice of the Annual General
Meeting. Thisday may not be a Sunday, other general holiday,
Saturday, Midsummer Eve, Christmas Eve, or New Year's Eve,

nor may itfallearlierthan the fifth weekday before the Annual
General Meeting. Shareholders orrepresentatives may be
accompanied by amaximum of two assistantsataannual general
meeting, butonlyif the shareholder has notified the company

of the number of assistantsinaccordance with the preceding
paragraph.

12§ LOCATION OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING.
The Annual General Meetingmay be heldin Helsingborg or
Stockholm.

13§ ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING.
The Annual General Meeting shalladdress the following matters:

. Election of the chairperson of the meeting;

. Preparationand approval of the voting list;

. Approval of theagenda;

. Election of one ortwo personsto verify the minutes;

. Determination of whetherthe meeting has been duly con-

vened;

6. Presentationof theannual reportand the auditors'report
andreportonthe consolidatedaccounts;

7. Resolutiontoadopt theincome statementand balance
sheetaswellas the consolidatedincome statementand
consolidatedbalance sheet;

8. Resolutions onappropriation of the company's profit orloss
according tothe adoptedbalance sheet;

9. Resolutiontodischarge members of the Board of Directors
andthe Chief Executive Officer fromliability;

10. Determination of the number of board membersand dep-
uties, aswell as, where appropriate, auditors and deputy
auditors;

11. Establishmentof remuneration to the Board of Directorsand
the auditors;

12. Election of members of the board and any deputy board

membersaswellas, where appropriate, auditorsand any

deputy auditors; Otheritems brought before the general
meetingaccordingto the Swedish Companies Actor the

Articles of Association.

u b~ W N

Thesearticles of association were adopted by the Annual General
Meetingon 27 April 2020.
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Annual General Meeting

The annual general meeting of Nederman Holding AB (publ) will
take place on Monday, 25 April 2022 at17.00 at Clarion Hotel Sea U,
Kungsgatanl, Helsingborg.

Registrationand participation
Shareholders whowish to attend this Meetingmust:

m beregisteredinEuroclear Sweden'sshareregisternolater
than Wednesday, 13 April 2022.

m andnotifytheir participationinthe Meetingon Tuesday, 19
April2022.

Registrationmustbe madeinone of the followingways:

m byemail:stamma@nedermangroup.com

m byphone:042-188700

m bypost:NedermanHolding AB (publ), "Annual General
Meeting”,Box 602, SE-251 06 Helsingborg.

Registration should include name, personal/corporate identity
number, address, telephone number and any advisers. This infor-
mation will only be used for registering and preparing the voting
list. Shareholders who wish to be represented by proxy must

Dividend

TheBoard of Directors proposes adividend of SEK
3.50 pershareforthe 2021 financial year (-).

Distribution policy

Theprintedversionof Nederman’s AnnualReportwillbedistribut-
ed to those shareholders who have specifically requested a copy.
The Annual Report is also available in its entirety on the group's
website www.nedermangroup.com

Financial calendar

m Quarterlreport, 22 April 2022

B Quarter2report,15July 2022

B Quarter3report, 24 October202
® Quarter4report, 16 February 2023

submit a power of attorney in original form with their registra-
tion. Representatives of alegal entity must present a copy of the
authenticatedregistration certificate or equivalentauthorisation
documents showing the authorised signatory of the entity.

The Company will provide proxy forms to shareholders who so
wish. The form is also available for downloading on Nederman's
website www.nedermangroup.com.

Inordertobeentitledtoparticipateintheannual generalmeeting,
ashareholder whose shares are registered in the name of a nomi-
neemust,inadditiontogivingnotice of participationto theannual
general meeting, register its shares in its own name so that the
shareholderis recorded in the share register as of Wednesday, 13
April 2022. Such registration may be temporary (so-called voting
rightsregistration), andrequest forsuchvotingrightsregistration
shall be made to the nominee in accordance with the nominee's
routines at such a time in advance as prescribed by the nominee.
Voting rights registrations that have been made by the nominee
no later than Tuesday, 19 April 2022 will be taken into account in
the presentationof the shareregister.



Nederman in motion

As a globally leading environmental technology company,

we create value for our customers, the world and our owners.
We are constantly on the move and our task is clear: to protect
people, planet and production. Take a deep breath, sit back and
watch how we do it.

Strategy
- The Clean Air Company Green Awakening

PSEE:  Breathing clean air
EEd  isaprerequisite

e Withaclearagenda
Faffia.  wecreategrowthandshape
h - the futureforClean Air.

Webinar by Dagensindustri
and Nederman.

Interview, » Toseethefilms,scanthe QR-code with
Sven Kristensson your mobile or visit our YouTube channel.

- Q4 and full-year 2021

%> Astrongfinish
. toanexcellentyear.

VA

FSC
www.fsc.org

MIX

Paper from
responsible sources

FSC® C023277
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Nederman

NedermanHolding AB (publ)

P.0.Box 602, SE-252 28, Helsingborg, Sweden
Visitingaddress: Sydhamnsgatan 2, Helsingborg, Sweden
Phone: +4642188700

www.nedermangroup.com



